CITY OF MEDINA
AGENDA FOR COUNCIL MEETING

May 28, 2024 (TUESDAY)
Medina City Hall — Council Rotunda
7:30 p.m.
Call to Order.
Roll Call.

Reading of minutes. (May 13, 2024)

Reports of standing committees.

Requests for council action.

Reports of municipal officers.

Notices, communications and petitions.

Unfinished business.

Introduction of visitors.
(speakers limited to 5 min.)

Introduction and consideration of ordinances and resolutions.

Motion to suspend the Rules requiring three readings on the following ordinances and resolutions: Ord.
98-24, Ord. 99-24, Ord. 100-24, Ord. 101-24, Ord. 102-24, Res. 103-24, Res. 104-24, Ord. 105-24, Ord.
106-24, Ord. 107-24

Ord. 98-24

An Ordinance authorizing the Mayor to execute a Quit-Claim Deed providing for the conveyance of
City owned property, PPN’s 028-19A-21-265, 028-19A-266 and 028-19A-21-267, part of City Lots #20,
#22, and #23, to the Medina City Development Corporation.

Ord. 99-24

An Ordinance amending Sections 31.02(B)(1), 31.05 and 31.07 of the Salaries and Benefits Code of the
City of Medina, Ohio relative to the Parks Department, and accepting the job description of
Maintenance Technician.

Ord. 100-24

An Ordinance amending Section 31.14 (L) of the Salaries and Benefits Code of the City of Medina,
Ohio relative to Sick Time Payout.

(emergency clause requested)



Medina City Council
May 28, 2024 (TUESDAY)

Ord. 101-24
An Ordinance authorizing the Mayor to accept the Ohio Law Enforcement Body Armor Program Award
of $4,121.25 for the purchase of body armor and carriers from Galls for the Medina Municipal Court.

Ord. 102-24
An Ordinance adopting a New Section 943.11 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Medina, Ohio

relative to the Schedule of Charges and Fees for Spring Grove Cemetery and repealing Ordinance No.
97-24, passed May 13, 2024.

Res. 103-24

A Resolution authorizing Kleinfelder, Inc, on the behalf of the City of Medina, Ohio to file an
application for grant assistance from the Ohio Department of Development for funding under the PY24
Community Housing Impact and Preservation (CHIP) Grant Program.

(emergency clause requested)

Res. 104-24

A Resolution authorizing the Mayor to enter into a Partnership Agreement with the City of Brunswick
and to file an application for grant assistance with the Ohio Development Services Agency for a PY24
Community Housing Impact and Preservation Program (CHIP) Grant.

(emergency clause requested)

Ord. 105-24
An Ordinance authorizing the Mayor to enter into a Maintenance Agreement with the County of Medina
for the maintenance of boundary roads.

Ord. 106-24

An Ordinance approving a petition for special assessments for a Special Energy Improvement Project
and a Supplemental Plan for the Medina County Energy Improvement District under Chapter 170 of the
Ohio Revised Code; authorizing the Mayor and /or Director of Finance to enter into any and all
documents necessary in connection with the Petition and Supplemental Plan; to authorize and levy
special assessments for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, and improving certain public
improvements in the City of Medina in cooperation with the City of Medina Energy Special
Improvement District; and to approve a Cooperative Agreement and a Special Assessment Agreement in
Connection with such improvements and special assessments.

Ord. 107-24

An Ordinance amending Ordinance No. 190-23, passed November 28, 2023. (Amendments to 2024
Budget)

Council comments.

Adjournment.



MEDINA CITY COUNCIL
Monday, May 13, 2024

Call to Order:

Medina City Council met in regular session on Monday, May 13, 2024 at Medina City Hall. The
meeting was called to order at 7:30 p.m. by President of Council John M. Coyne III, who also led
in the Pledge of Allegiance.

Roll Call:
The roll was called with the following members of Council present: J. Hazeltine, P. Rose, J.
Shields, D. Simpson, J. Coyne, N. DiSalvo, and R. Haire.

Also present were the following members of the Administration: Mayor Hanwell, Greg Huber,
Keith Dirham, Nino Piccoli, Patrick Patton, Chief Kinney, Dan Gladish, Chief Walters, Kimberly
Marshall, and Andrew Dutton.

Minutes:

Mr. Shields moved that the minutes from the regular meeting on Tuesday, April 22, 2024, as
prepared and submitted by the Clerk be approved, seconded by P. Rose, J. Shields, D. Simpson, J.
Coyne, N. DiSalvo, R. Haire, and J. Hazeltine.

Reports of Standing Committees:

Finance Committee: Mr. Coyne stated they will meet again in two weeks.

Public Properties Committee: Mr. Shields had no report.

Health, Safety & Sanitation Committee: Mr. Simpson stated prior to Finance he held a meeting
for an update with the Police Department, Sanitation Department and Fire Departments.

Special Legislation Committee: Mr. Rose had no report.

Streets & Sidewalks Committee: Ms. Haire had no report.

Water & Utilities Committee: Ms. Hazeltine was absent.

Emerging Technologies Committee: Ms. DiSalvo had no report.

Requests for Council Action:

Finance Committee

24-101-5/13 — Medina Municipal Court Renovation: Design Submittal Review
24-102-5/13 — RITA Compliance Program

24-103-5/13 — Vacation Policy for Experienced New Hires

24-104-5/13 — Amend S&B Code - Sick Time Payout

24-105-5/13 — Ohio Law Enforcement Body Armor Program
24-106-5/13 — PY24 CHIP Grant Application Authorization

24-107-5/13 — PY24 CHIP Partnership Agreement

24-108-5/13 ~ ESID-Adopt Levying Special Assessments — Legacy Hotel
24-109-5/13 — Maintenance Agreement with Medina County

24-110-5/13 — Amend 31.02(B)(1), 31.05, 31.07 — Parks Dept.
24-111-5/13 — Municipal Court Paycode Updates




Medina City Council
May 13, 2024

Reports of Municipal Officers:
Dennis Hanwell, Mayor:

A. Police Chief Ed Kinney was elected Second Vice President of the Ohio Police Chief’s
Association, 2025 — First Vice President, 2026 OACP President, and then in 2027 Past
President of OACP. Congratulations Ed Kinney!

B. National Day of Prayer was May 2™, service was held at St. Francis. Thank you to Paul
Rose Council at Large for attending. There were prayer stations at Medina Hospital and
North Court Laundry.

C. Love Medina was Saturday and Sunday May 4"" and 5%. Five churches were involved: First
Baptist, Grace Church Medina East Campus, Grace Church Westfield, The Chapel Medina
and Cornerstone Chapel.

D. May 10" there was a dedication ceremony at Spring Grove Cemetery for National
Underground Railroad Network to Freedom for signs placed to recognize Herman and
Sarah Canfield, Harrison G. Blake, and Elizabeth for their efforts with the underground
railroad in our community. Thanks to and appreciation to the Friends of the Cemetery for
their efforts in achieving this recognition. Thank you to council persons Regi Haire, Paul
Rose and Dennie Simpson for attending and presenting the Council resolution.

E. Gospel Fest on the Medina Square May 18" from 3 p.m. to 8 p.m. No reservations or cost
to the public and all are welcome.

Keith Dirham, Finance Director, Keith stated there is an item on the agenda and he will talk
about it when they get there.

Kimberly Marshall, Economic Development Director, had no report.
Greg Huber, Law Department, had no report.

Chief Kinney, Police Department, acknowledged recognitions for School Resource Officer Nick
MacLarren was awarded “Going the Extra Mile Award” he serves at MHS and has for several
years.

Dispatcher Patrick Villanuevo will receive the EMS Star Life Award in Columbus for an animal
attack call that he took that was occurring in Medina Township.

Chief Walters, Fire Department, had no report.
Jansen Wehrley, Parks and Recreation Director, was absent.

Dan Gladish, Building Official, Dan updated everyone on two of the larger projects taking place.
The Acme sitework and underground utility work is taking place now, they have the building
permit and plan approval for the building.

The Meijer project is ahead of schedule. Parking lot has been ground up and asphalt is gone and
will be recycled on the site for backfill for trenches and compaction. Working on building the
building pad now. Goal is to start to reinstall the parking lot by the end of July, and all landscaping

2



Medina City Council
May 13, 2024

will be in place first week in October.
Cindy Lastuka, Municipal Court, had no report.
Nino Piccoli, Service Director, had no report.

Patrick Patton, City Engineer, reported that ODOT one more major phase of the State Route 18
project and that is placing the surface course of asphalt starting the week of Memorial Day and
will be done at night.

Andrew Dutton, Planning and Community Development Director, reported updates that were
approved by the Boards and Commissions last Thursday. Medina Metropolitan Housing Authority
was approved for an eleven-unit multifamily development. The second is the hotel and convention
center project both received approval and will be moving on to building permit and engineering
review.

Notices, communications and petitions:
There were none.

Unfinished Business:
There was none.

Introduction of Visitors:

Darin Stout — Director of Medina County Drug Task Force

Only Drug Enforcement Agency body within Medina County and serve as the drug agency for
each of the 14 law enforcement agencies throughout the county and are 100% grant funded.
There were 200 felony investigations that occurred last year. Participated in 495 calls for service.
They have been in the process of beefing up their outreach and harm reduction strategies as a
collaborative approach with the Drug Task Force to start with their DUMP Program (Dispose
Unused Medications Properly) and the National Drug Take Back. They have collected more than
20,000 Ibs. of unwanted prescriptions this year alone.

Since 2020, The Drug Task Force along with the collaborative partners in law enforcement,
treatment, and service providers have reduced the fatal overdose rate by 48.71%.

Introduction and consideration of ordinances and resolutions

Mr. Shields moved to suspend the rules requiring three readings on the following ordinances and
resolutions, seconded by Mr. Simpson. Ord. 91-24, Ord. 92-24, Res. 93-24, Res. 94-24, Res. 95-
24, Ord. 96-24, Ord. 97-24. The roll was called and the motion passed by the yea votes of J.
Shields, D. Simpson, J. Coyne, N. DiSalvo, R. Haire, J. Hazeltine, and P. Rose

Ord. 91-24

An Ordinance amending Section 31.13 of the Salaries and Benefits Code of the City of
Medina, Ohio relative to Vacation. Mr. Shields moved to amend Ordinance 91-24 before voting
that anybody who leaves within one year of their initial employment would not be paid out vacation
which is not currently in this ordinance. Mr. Shields moved for the amended adoption of

3



Medina City Council
May 13, 2024

Ordinance/Resolution No. 091-24, seconded by Mr. Simpson. The roll was called on the
amendment and passed by the yea votes of J. Coyne, N. DiSalvo, R. Haire, J. Hazeltine, P. Rose,
J. Shields, and D. Simpson. Keith Dirham stated this ordinance as it currently is set up, employees
of the City of Medina do not receive any vacation until their one-year anniversary date, it is not
calendar year it is their anniversary hire date. The purpose of this amendment is to be able to give
people that are starting their vacation time a little sooner and this will make it so they begin
accruing vacation on day one but if they leave within a year they won’t be paid for it. The roll was
called and Ordinance/Resolution No. 091-24 as amended passed by the yea votes of D. Simpson,
J. Coyne, N. DiSalvo, R. Haire, J. Hazeltine, P. Rose, and J. Shields.

Ord. 92-24

An Ordinance authorizing the Job Creation Grant Agreement for Sandridge Food
Corporation. Mr. Shields moved for the adoption of Ordinance/Resolution No. 092-24, seconded
by Mr. Simpson. Kimberly Marshall stated this is for a renovation to their facility located at 820
Lafayette Rd. to allow for their expanded sales and marketing depts. The roll was called and
Ordinance/Resolution No. 092-24 passed by the yea votes of J. Coyne, N. DiSalvo, R. Haire, J.
Hazeltine, P. Rose, J. Shields, and D. Simpson.

Res. 93-24

A Resolution authorizing participation in the Ohio Department of Transportation’s
Cooperative Purchasing Program for the purchase of sodium chloride (rock salt). Mr. Shields
moved for the adoption of Ordinance/Resolution No. 093-24, seconded by Mr. Simpson. Mr.
Shields moved that the emergency clause be added to Ordinance/Resolution No. 093-24, seconded
by Mr. Simpson. Mr. Piccoli stated he received this notification to participate in the upcoming
winter salt program with ODOT on short notice and that is why he needs the emergency clause.
This is for the annual road salt. The roll was called on adding the emergency clause and was
approved by the yea votes of N. DiSalvo, R. Haire, J. Hazeltine, P. Rose, J. Shields, D. Simpson,
and J. Coyne. The roll was called and Ordinance/Resolution No. 093-24 passed by the yea votes
of R. Haire, J. Hazeltine, P. Rose, J. Shields, D. Simpson, J. Coyne, and N. DiSalvo.

Res. 94-24

A Resolution authorizing the Mayor to submit a grant application to the Ohio Bureau of
Workers Compensation (OBWC) for the purpose of purchasing two (2) portable traffic
signal units. Mr. Shields moved for the adoption of Ordinance/Resolution No. 094-24, seconded
by Mr. Simpson. Mr. Piccoli stated if they are successful with this grant application it will become
available in July and is for $40,000 towards the purchase of two portable lights. We would be
responsible for $23,000 since the total cost will be $63,000. The roll was called and
Ordinance/Resolution No. 094-24 passed by the yea votes of J. Hazeltine, P. Rose, J. Shields, D.
Simpson, J. Coyne, N. DiSalvo, and R. Haire.

Res. 95-24

A Resolution authorizing an application for grant assistance from the Medina County Drug
Abuse Commission (MCDAC) for funding to support the Medina Police Department School
Resource Officer Program. Mr. Shields moved for the adoption of Ordinance/Resolution No.
095-24, seconded by Mr. Simpson. Mr. Shields moved that the emergency clause be added to

4



Medina City Council
May 13,2024

Ordinance/Resolution No. 095-24, seconded by Mr. Simpson. Chief Kinney stated this is to submit
the MCDAC Grant and accept if awarded. This is a collaboration between the Medina Police Dept.
and the City Schools. There are 3 school resource officers and if this is awarded it will fund a
portion of their salaries. The emergency clause is needed because of time restraints. The roll was
called on adding the emergency clause and was approved by the yea votes of P. Rose, J. Shields,
D. Simpson, J. Coyne, N. DiSalvo, R. Haire, and J. Hazeltine. = The roll was called and
Ordinance/Resolution No. 095-24 passed by the yea votes of J. Shields, D. Simpson, J. Coyne, N.
DiSalvo, R. Haire, J. Hazeltine, and P. Rose

Ord. 96-24

An Ordinance amending Ordinance No. 194-14, passed November 24, 2024, relative to the
Job Creation Grant Program Guidelines and Application. Mr. Shields moved for the adoption
of Ordinance/Resolution No. 096-24, seconded by Mr. Simpson. Kimberly Marshall stated this
Job Creation Grant Program offers an incentive to eligible companies to establish or expand their
business here in the City of Medina and to create and retain jobs. In 2014 council modified the
program to allow for smaller eligible businesses to take advantage of the program. A new company
was able to meet the payroll but the job number was a little bit lower than our 10-threshold number.
The Economic Development Committee recommended revising the program to reflect the number
of jobs which has been reduced from creating 10 new jobs to 5 new jobs but keep payroll the same.
Kimberly stated they cleaned up some other items in the job creation grant guidelines. The roll
was called and Ordinance/Resolution No. 096-24 passed by the yea votes of D. Simpson, J. Coyne,
N. DiSalvo, R. Haire, J. Hazeltine, P. Rose, and J. Shields.

Ord. 97-24

An Ordinance amending Section 943.11 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Medina,
Ohio relative to the Schedule of Charges and Fees for Spring Grove Cemetery and repealing
Ordinance No. 181-21, passed November 8, 2021. Mr. Shields moved for the adoption of
Ordinance/Resolution No. 097-24, seconded by Mr. Simpson. Mr. Piccoli spoke for Jansen stating
we need to amend the cost for the columbarium niche in order to prepare for the construction of a
fourth wall. Talked about requesting increase for lot transfer fee, the increase per footer foundation
fee, adding administration fee for all columbarium niches sold back to the city and a fee for the
replacement niche covers. The roll was called and Ordinance/Resolution No. 097-24 passed by the
yea votes of J. Coyne, N. DiSalvo, R. Haire, J. Hazeltine, P. Rose, J. Shields, and D. Simpson.

Council comments

Natalie DiSalvo mentioned with the end of the school year approaching she wanted to remind the
community to please be extra careful when driving around. As Memorial Day quickly approaches,
she also thanked veterans for their service.

Regi Haire gave a shout out to the Friends of the Cemetery stating that Spring Grove Cemetery is
beautiful, and she encouraged the community to attend the Gospel Fest being held on the square
on May 18" from 3 p.m. to 8 p.m.



Medina City Council
May 13, 2024

Paul Rose congratulated Chief Kinney.

Executive Session: (land acquisition / imminent litigation)

It was moved by Mr. Shields and seconded by Mr. Simpson to enter into Executive Session at 8:01
p-m. to consider the purchase of property for public purposes or the sale of property at competitive
bidding because premature disclosure would give an unfair competitive or bargaining advantage
to a person who’s personal, private interest is averse to the general public interest, and for
conferences with the City’s Law Director concerning disputes involving the City which are the
subject of pending or imminent court action, to include the Mayor and Law Director. The roll was
called and motion passed by the yea votes of N. DiSalvo, R. Haire, J. Hazeltine, P. Rose, J. Shields,
D. Simpson, and J. Coyne.

Adjournment
Executive session adjourned at 8:24 p.m. There being no further business, the City Council
meeting adjourned at 8:25 p.m.

Kathy Patton, Clerk of Council

John M. Coyne, III, President of Council



WHEREAS:

WHEREAS:

SEC. 1:

SEC. 2:

SEC. 3:

SEC. 4:

PASSED:

RCA 21-067-3/22

ORDINANCE NO. 98-24

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO
EXECUTE A QUIT-CLAIM DEED PROVIDING FOR THE
CONVEYANCE OF CITY OWNED PROPERTY PPN’S 028-
19A-21-265, 028-19A-21-266 AND 028-19A-21-267, PART OF
CITY LOTS #20, #22, AND #23, TO THE MEDINA CITY
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION.

Ordinance No. 79-24, passed April 9, 2024, authorized the Law Director to
prepare the necessary documentation for the transfer of City owned Permanent
Parcel No.’s 028-19A-21-265, 028-19A-21-266, and 028-19A-21-267, to the
Medina City Development Corporation (CIC); and

The City Council of the City of Medina, Ohio, acting pursuant to the law, deems
it advisable to convey the above referenced property to the Medina City
Development Corporation for the purpose of increasing and enhancing economic
development in the area.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE
CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO:

That the Mayor is hereby authorized to execute a Quit-Claim Deed, providing for
the conveyance of City owned property, PPN’s 028-19A-21-265, 028-19A-21-
266 and 028-19A-21-267, part of City Lots #20, #22 and #23, to the Medina City
Development Corporation.

That a copy of the Quitclaim Deed is marked Exhibit A, attached hereto and
incorporated herein.

That it is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning
and relating to the passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of
this Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees
that resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in
compliance with the law.

That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect at the earliest period allowed
by law.

SIGNED:

ATTEST:

President of Council

APPROVED:

Clerk of Council

SIGNED:

Mayor

Ord. 98-24



QUIT-CLAIM DEED

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO, an
Ohio Municipal Corporation, for good consideration received to its full satisfaction of
MEDINA CITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, an Ohio Non-Profit Corporation, the
Grantee, has Given, Granted, Remised, Released, and Forever Quitclaimed, and does by
these presents absolutely give, grant, remise, release, and forever quitclaim unto the said
Grantee, its successors and assigns, forever, all such right and title as it, the said Grantor, has or
ought to have in and to the following described pieces or parcels of land:

See "Exhibit A " attached hereto for legal descriptions.

Permanent Parcel Nos. 028-19A-21-265; 028-19A-21-266; and 028-19A-21-267
Tax Mailing Address: 132 North Elmwood Avenue, Medina, Ohio 44256

To have and to hold the premises aforesaid, with the appurtenances thereunto belonging
to the said Grantee, its successors and assigns, so that neither it, the said Grantor, nor its
successors or assigns, nor any other persons claiming title through or under it, shall or will
hereafter claim or demand any right to the premises, or any part thereof; but they and every one

of them shall by these presents be excluded and forever barred.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, [ have hereunto set my hand, the day of

, 2024, at Medina, Ohio.

CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO
an Ohio Municipal Corporation

By:

DENNIS HANWELL, Mayor

STATE OF OHIO )
COUNTY OF MEDINA)ss:

BEFORE ME, a Notary Public in and for the State and County aforesaid, personally
appeared the above-named City of Medina, Ohio, by Dennis Hanwell, its Mayor, who

executed the foregoing instrument in my presence and acknowledged the same to be his
voluntary act.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREQOF, I have hereunto set my hand and official seal this
day of , 2020, at Medina, Ohio.

This is an acknowledgment; no oath was administered.

NOTARY PUBLIC

This instrument prepared by:
Gregory A. Huber, Law Director
City of Medina

132 North Elmwood Avenue
Medina, OH 44256

(330) 722-9070



Parcel One/Permanent Parcel No. 028-194-21-265

Situated in the City of Medina, County of Medina and State of Ohio: And
being the north part of City Lot 22, and the south part of Lot 23 of said city,
and bounded and described as follows: Beginning at a point in the east line
of said Lot 22, which point is 55.0 feet south of the northeast corner of said
Lot 22; Thence North, in the east lines of Lots 22 and 23, a distance of 100.5
feet; Thence West, in a line parallel fo the north line of said Lot 22 fo the
west line of said Lot 23; Thence South in a west line of Lots 23 and 22, a
distance of 100.5 feet; Thence East in a line parallel to the north line of said
Lot 22 to the east line of said lot, and the place of beginning, be the same
more or less, but subject to all legal highways.

Permanent Parcel No. 028-194-21-265

Parcel Two/Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A4-21-266:

Situated in the City of Medina, County of Medina and State of Ohio: And
being the middle part of City Lot 22 on the Medina Township side and
“bounded and described as follows: On the north, by land in said lot ownred
formerly by Myron Reese, now or formerly owned by Jean A. and Leonard
E. Morse and HX_P., Inc. as recorded in Deed Volume 1012, Page 342 and
Deed Volume 1012, Page 344 respectively, of the Medina County
Recorder's Records; on the east by east line of said Lot; on the south by a
line parallel with said north line and being 50 feet south thereof; and on the
west by land in said lot formerly owned by E.T. Pierce, now or formerly
owned by said Jean A. and Leonard E. Morse and HK P., Inc. and having
a frontage on Elmwood Avenue, of fifty feet, be the same more or less, but
subject to all legal highways.

Permanent Parcel No. 028-194-21-266
Parcel Three/Permanent Parcel No. 028-194-21-267

Situated in the City of Medina, County of Medina and State of Ohio: And
known as being a part of City Lots 20 and 22 on the Medina Township side
of said City bounded and described as follows: Beginning at a point in the
west line of Lot 22, 55 feet south from the northwest corner of Lot 22 and
extending east along the south line of lands owned or formerly owned by



Jean A. and Leonard E. Morse and H.K.P., Inc. as recorded in Deed Volume

1012, Page 342 and Deed Volume 1012, Page 344 respectively, of the

Medina County Recorder's Records, to an iron stake at the northwest corner

of the above lands now or formerly owned by Jean 4. and Leonard E. Morse

and HK.P., Inc. a distance of 60 feet; Thence South along the west line of
said Morse and H.K.P., Inc. land 50 feet; Thence West in a line parallel to

the north line 60 feet to the west line of Lot 22 and continuing wes! in the

same line in Lot 20, 32 feet to property now or formerly owned by Scott R.

and Kimberly A. Evilsizer as recorded in Deed Volume 625, Page 320 of
the Medina County Recorder's Records; Thence North along said property
line 71.8 feet to an iron stake; Thence East 32 feet to the east line of said
Lot 20; Thence South along said lot line 21.8 feet o the place of beginning,

be the same more or less, but subject to all legal highways.

Permanent Parcel No, 028-194-21-267

Address commonly known as: S. ElImwood Avenue, Medina, OH 44256



WHEREAS:

RCA 24-110-5/13

ORDINANCE NO. 99-24

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTIONS 31.02(B)(1), 31.05
AND 31.07 OF THE SALARIES AND BENEFITS CODE OF
THE CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO RELATIVE TO THE PARKS
DEPARTMENT, AND ACCEPTING THE JOB DESCRIPTION
OF MAINTENANCE TECHNICIAN.

Section 31.02 (B)(1) of the Salaries and Benefits Code of the City of Medina, Ohio
presently reads as follows pertaining to the Parks and Recreation Department:

(1) PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT
Hourly Rate
1 Clerical Help Pay Grade SA
Laborers Per contract
1 Turf Technician Per contract +7%
WHEREAS: Section 31.05 of the Salaries and Benefits Code of the City of Medina, Ohio
presently reads in part as follows pertaining to the Parks and Recreation Department:
PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT
Number Classification Steps Authorized 1
Director of Parks, Recreation, Pay Grade 114
Cemetery & Forestry * confirmed by Council
(annual salary paid bi-weekly)
1 Parks Foreman 37 A-F
1 Parks Maintenance Technician 32 A-F per contract
1 City Arborist 9 A-F
1 Laborer 31 A-F per contract
1 Sexton 34 A-F per contract
1 Clerical Help Sec. 31.02(B)(1)
1 Full-time Tree Care Technician 34 A-F per contract
1 Cemetery Laborer 31 A-F per contract
1 Turf Technician per contract + 7%
Part-time and Seasonal Employees Sec. 31.02(A)(1)&(B)(1)
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
MEDINA, OHIO:
SEC. 1: That Section 31.02 (B)(1) of the Salaries and Benefits Code of the City of Medina,

Ohio shall be amended to read as follows pertaining to the Parks and Recreation
Department:

Ord. 99-24



M

SEC. 2:

Number

ek ek d ek ek powmd ok e

SEC. 3:

SEC. 4:

SEC. 5:

PASSED:

ATTEST:

Effective date:

PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT
Hourly Rate
1 Clerical Help Pay Grade 5A
5 6 Laborers Per contract

1 Turf Feehniei p 2y

That Section 31.05 of the Salaries and Benefits Code of the City of Medina, Ohio
shall be amended to read in part as follows, pertaining to the Parks Maintenance
Technician in the Parks and Recreation Department:

PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT

Classification Steps Authorized 1
Director of Parks, Recreation, Pay Grade 114

Cemetery & Forestry * confirmed by Council

(annual salary paid bi-weekly)

Parks Foreman 37 A-F

Parks Maintenance Technician 32-A-F 34 A-F per contract

City Arborist 9 A-F

Laborer 31 A-F per contract

Sexton 34 A-F per contract

Clerical Help Sec. 31.02(B)(1)

Full-time Tree Care Technician
Cemetery Laborer

Turf Technician

Part-time and Seasonal Employees

34 A-F per contract

31 A-F per contract

per contract + 7%

Sec. 31.02(A)(1)&(B)(1)

That Section 31.07 of the Salary and Benefits Code is hereby amended by
accepting the revised job description of Maintenance Technician.

That it is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this
Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that
resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance
with the law.

That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect at the earliest period allowed by
law.

SIGNED:

President of Council

APPROVED:

Clerk of Council
SIGNED:

Mayor

Ord. 99-24



Revision Sec. 31.07 IV-495
THE CITY OF MEDINA ,
JOB DESCRIPTION ﬂ?g}:ﬁ AA4

TITLE: Maintenance Technician

REPORTS TO: Director of Parks, Recreation, Cemetery and Forestry or Foreman, or Arborist
DEPARTMENT/DIVISION: As assigned

CIVIL SERVICES STATUS: Classified

JOB STATUS: As assigned

EXEMPT STATUS: Non-exempt

CLASSIFICATION FEATURES: The work in this class is manual labor of more than ordinary difficulty
that often involves the use of acquired skill and calls for the use of some skills acquired by experience or on-
the-job training. An employee in this classification usually works under the supervision the Parks Foreman or
Arborist who issues oral work orders and inspects work frequently. An employee in this classification may be
assisted by unskilled laborers.

ESSENTIAL JOB FUNCTIONS:

Performs a variety of semi-skilled construction, maintenance tasks, landscaping, tree maintenance, and lawn
care.

Assists Director or Foreman in preparing and performing annual turf maintenance needs.

Turf maintenance functions such as seeding, sodding, fertilizing, aerating, spraying, soil preparation
and irrigation.

Assists Parks Foreman in the maintenance and repair of City equipment and property.

Performs repairs on park property including, but not limited to: pavilions, fences, sports fields, parking lots,
splash pads, athletic field lighting, a wide variety of mechanical equipment, and playground structures.

Assists in street or sidewalk repair and resurfacing.
Assists Department personnel as needed.

Prepares and maintains City facilities including mowing, athletic field preparation, turf grass maintenance,
litter and trash pick-up, hiking trail maintenance, fence repair and dragging and lining ball fields.

Operates chain saws, wood chippers, jackhammers, cut-off saws, pick-up trucks, backhoes, and other
equipment and vehicles as assigned.

Assists in snow removal, including in parks, municipal parking lots, driveways, and streets as directed.
Sharpens chain saws, axes, sickles and other tools.
Prepares soil and plants and cultivates flowers, grass and shrubs.

Collects waste from various City park locations.



Revision Sec.31.07 IV-495
Assembles and maintains a variety of parks and recreation equipment.
Paints City equipment and property as assigned.

Work may include digging footers, building concrete forms, pouring and finishing concrete, patching storm
pipe, laying asphalt, hauling debris, removing or pruning trees, and removing snow.

Assists in daily maintenance of vehicles and equipment.

Reports illegal and inappropriate behavior to Supervisors.

Cleans and repairs vandalized City property.

Maintains regular and consistent attendance.

Fills in for and assists the Parks Foreman or Arborist as needed or required.

Able to perform the physical demands including but not limited to having the strength and agility sufficient to
lift and maneuver heavy objects and the ability to climb into and operate large equipment and trucks. Along
with bending, stooping, squatting, climbing of scaffolding and ladders, twisting, reaching, and working on
irregular surfaces and in the open on moving vehicles throughout the work day.

Other duties as assigned.

EDUCATION, TRAINING AND EXPERIENCE:

Experience in performing semi-skilled maintenance or construction tasks.

At least two years of experience in tree maintenance, landscaping, or lawn care preferred.

At least three years of turf maintenance preferred.

CPR First Aid certification

High school diploma or GED preferred, or any equivalent combination of experience and training that
provides the required knowledge, skills and abilities.

License:

¢ Must have and maintain a valid driver’s license issued by the State of Ohio and must remain
insurable under the City of Medina’s vehicle insurance plan. Commercial driver’s license
preferred.

* Valid commercial applicator license (Core) from Ohio Department of Agriculture.
Additional certifications of Turf (8) and Ornamentals and Weeds (6¢) preferred, or the
ability to obtain additional certifications within 6 months.

QUALIFICATIONS:

Knowledge of:

¢ Semi-skilled maintenance and manual tasks;

Application of dry and liquid fertilizers and pesticides;

Ability to properly calibrate and maintain application equipment as required:
Understand the occupational hazards and regulations associated with turf maintenance;
Plumbing, carpentry, and electrical;



Revision Sec. 31.07 IV-495
e Traffic and safety regulations; and
e Accident prevention practices.

Ability to:

* Communicate effectively in writing or orally with co-workers, supervisors and the general public
in person or over a telephone or radio;

Create reports and record keeping as required by the Ohio Department of Agriculture;
Identify disease, insects, weeds, soil conditions and different methods for treatment;

Operate equipment and machinery by both night and day;

Lift at least 60 pounds on a regular basis;

Pass a pre-employment drug test, physical examination, background check and Department of
Motor Vehicle report;

Observe unsafe conditions of roadways; and

» Understand and follow complex oral and written instructions.

ENVIRONMENTAL ELEMENTS:

This position requires that the employee stand or walk most of a scheduled shift with bending, stooping,
squatting, climbing of scaffolding and ladders, twisting, reaching, and working on irregular surfaces and in the
open on moving vehicles. It also involves working outside in all types of weather situations and occupational
exposure to interaction with citizens.

WORKING CONDITIONS:
May be required to work outside normal business hours including weekends, evenings and holidays.

EQUIPMENT USED:

Operates chain saws, jackhammers, wood chippers, riding and push mowers, pick-up trucks, bucket trucks,
tractor mounted, walk behind, and backpack turf application equipment, backhoes, and other equipment
and vehicles as assigned.

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS: The above information on this description has been designed to indicate
the general nature and level of work performed by employees within this classification. It is not designed to
contain or be interpreted as a comprehensive inventory of all duties, responsibilities and qualifications
required of employees assigned to this job. Employee understands that conditions may require the City to
modify this Job Description and that the City reserves the right to exercise its discretion to make such changes.

EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGMENT:

DATE:




RCA 24-104-5/13

ORDINANCE NO. 100-24

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 31.14 (L) OF THE
SALARIES AND BENEFITS CODE OF THE CITY OF
MEDINA, OHIO RELATIVE TO SICK TIME PAYOUT, AND
DECLARING AN EMERGENCY.

WHEREAS: Section 31.14 (L) of the Salaries and Benefits Code of the City of Medina, Ohio
presently reads as follows:

SECTION 31.14 SICK LEAVE.

(L) A City employee providing two-weeks notification and continuing to work that two-week
period, may elect, at the time of retirement and/or resignation from active service with the City and
with ten (10) or more years of full-time service with the City, to be paid in cash for 37.5% of the
value of his accrued but unused sick leave credit. Such payment shall be based on the employee's
rate of pay at the time of retirement. Payment for sick leave credit on this basis shall be considered
to eliminate all sick leave credit accrued by the employee at the time. Such payment shall be made
only once to any employee. The maximum payment that may be made under this section shall be
four hundred (400) hours. (Ord. 97-14, Ord. 41-21)

In the event of the death of a full-time employee, the estate may request payment for 37.5%
of the value of the accrued but unused sick leave credit as described above provided the employee
has five (5) or more years of service with the City. The maximum payment that may be made under
this section shall be four hundred hours (400 hours). (Ord. 97-14)

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY
OF MEDINA, OHIO:

SEC. 1: That Section 31.14 (L) of the Salaries and Benefits Code of the City of Medina, Ohio
shall be amended to read as follows (with the new addition in bold & underlined):

SECTION 31.14 SICK LEAVE.

(L) A City employee providing two-weeks notification and continuing to work that two-week
period, may elect, at the time of retirement and/or resignation from active service with the City and
with ten (10) or more years of full-time service with the City or any combination of the City, the
State, and/or various political subdivisions of the State, to be paid in cash for 37.5% of the value
of his accrued but unused sick leave credit. Such payment shall be based on the employee's rate of
pay at the time of retirement. Payment for sick leave credit on this basis shall be considered to
eliminate all sick leave credit accrued by the employee at the time. Such payment shall be made only
once to any employee. The maximum payment that may be made under this section shall be four
hundred (400) hours. (Ord. 97-14, Ord. 41-21)

In the event of the death of a full-time employee, the estate may request payment for 37.5%
of the value of the accrued but unused sick leave credit as described above provided the employee
has five (5) or more years of service with the City. The maximum payment that may be made under
this section shall be four hundred hours (400 hours). (Ord. 97-14)

Ord. 100-24



SEC. 2:

SEC. 3:

PASSED:

ATTEST:

That it is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this
Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that
resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance
with the law.

That this Ordinance shall be considered an emergency measure necessary for the
immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety, and for the further
reason we have a scheduled retirement on June 7, 2024; wherefore, this Ordinance
shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its passage and signature by the
Mayor.

SIGNED:

President of Council

APPROVED:

Clerk of Council

SIGNED:

Mayor

Ord. 100-24



SEC. 1:

SEC. 2:

SEC. 3:

SEC. 4:

SEC. 5:

PASSED:

ATTEST:

RCA 24-105-5/13
ORDINANCE NO. 101-24

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYORTO ACCEPT
THE OHIO LAW ENFORCEMENT BODY ARMOR
PROGRAM AWARD OF $4,121.25, FOR THE PURCHASE OF
BODY ARMOR AND CARRIERS FROM GALLS FOR THE
MEDINA MUNICIPAL COURT.

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO:

That the Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to accept the 2023-2024 Ohio Law
Enforcement Body Armor Program Award, in the amount of $4,121.25, for the
purchase of body armor and carriers for the Medina Municipal Court from Galls.

That in accordance with Ohio Revised Code §5705.41(D), at the time that the
contract or order was made and at the time of execution of the Finance Director’s
certificate, sufficient funds were available or in the process of collection, to the credit
of a proper fund, properly appropriated and free from any previous encumbrance.

That the remainder of funds needed to cover this expenditure, in the amount of
$1,373.75, are available in Account No. 001-0705-51131.

That it is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this
Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that
resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance
with the law.

That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect at the earliest period allowed by
law.

SIGNED:

President of Council

APPROVED:

Clerk of Council

SIGNED:

Mayor

Ord. 101-24



RCA 24-097-4/22

ORDINANCE NO. 102-24

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING A NEW SECTION 943.11 OF
THE CODIFIED ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF MEDINA,
OHIO RELATIVE TO THE SCHEDULE OF CHARGES AND
FEES FOR SPRING GROVE CEMETERY AND REPEALING
ORDINANCE NO. 97-24, PASSED MAY 13, 2024.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO:
SEC. 1: That Section 943.11 of the codified ordinances of the City of Medina, Ohio shall be
amended to read as follows pertaining to the Schedule of Charges and Fees for

Spring Grove Cemetery:

943.11 SCHEDULE OF CHARGES AND FEES.

LOT FEES PER GRAVE:

Lot Type No. of Lots Resident [Non-Resident
A per grave $650.00 $750.00

B ber grave $850.00 $950.00

C er grave $750.00 $850.00
ICremains Section per grave $300.00 $350.00
Baby Section per grave $300.00 $350.00

Private Mausoleum: Single $3,000.00 centered over 2 graves spaces

Private Mausoleum: Double $4,500.00 centered over 3 graves spaces

DESCRIPTION OF SALEABLE LOTS:

Class “A” lots, single or multiple graves: All Sections except 14, 17, 18 and 19

Class “B” lots, single graves: Section 14 and 17

Class “C” lots, single graves: Section 18 and 19

Cremains Section: Section specifically located in Section 8

Baby Section: Single grave only, available in sequential order

Private Mausoleum: Section 13 only and at the discretion of the Cemetery. A complete set of construction plans
must be submitted for review and approval by the Cemetery.

INTERMENT FEES:

Interment of Before 2:00 p.m. After 2:00 p.m. Weekdays and until  jAfter 12:00 Noon

Residents or Weekdays 12:00 Noon Saturday Saturday or Sunday

Non-residents Court Ordered) and approved
holidays
Ord. 184-17, passed
12-11-2017

Adult $600.00 $900.00 $1,200.00

Cremains Seetion $350.00 $450.00 $700.00

Baby Section $350.00 $450.00 $700.00

Crypt Sealing $600.00 $900.00 $1,200.00

DISINTERMENT AND REINTERMENT FEES:

Adult Vault Adult Cremains Infant
Disinterment $2,000.00 $600.00 $500.00

FOUNDATION FEES:

Ord. 102-24



A fee of $8:50 $0.75 shall be charged per square inch of surface material of concrete. All footers shall have a two-inch (2”)
border around the entire base. Flush markers shall not have a mandatory border.

ICOLUMBARIUM/NICHE WALL: (cremains interments only)

CEBM—1-One-(H)-Niche—$950:06 CLBM-1 and CLBM-2: SOLD OUT
CLBM-2-One-(H-Niehe—TFop-Row—$4:350:00 CLBM- One (1) Niche — Top Row - $3,250.00
CEMB-2-One-(D-Nieche—Middle- Roew—$15250-00 CLBM- One (1) Niche ~ Middle Row - $2,750.00
CLEMB-2-One-(1)-Nieche—Bottom-Row—$1:156:00 CLBM- One (1) Niche — Bottom Row - $2,250.00
Interment—3$350.00-per-opening-(max—two-(2)-perNiehe) Interment (max. two urns (2) per niche)
Engraving - Actual cost

ADDITIONAL SERVICES:

1. Upon request, the Director of Public Service shall give written estimates of work to be done by cemetery employees on the cemetery]
grounds not covered in the foregoing schedules.

2. There shall be a $100.00 charge for chapel use for a funeral or memorial service.

3. There shall be a $56:00 $100.00 Transfer of Lot Fee for all lot transfers.

4. There shall be a $250.00 administrative fee for all columbarium niches sold back to the City.

S. There shall be a $600.00 charge for replacement niche covers, as applicable.

NOTE: NOTICE OF NOT LESS THAN FORTY-EIGHT (48) HOURS
SHALL BE GIVEN FOR OPENING OF A GRAVE PER SECTION 943.04()).

SEC. 2: That Ordinance No. 97-24, passed May 13, 2024, is hereby repealed.

SEC. 3: That it is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this
Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that
resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance
with the law.

SEC. 4: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect at the earliest period allowed by
law.
PASSED: SIGNED:
President of Council
ATTEST: APPROVED:
Clerk of Council
SIGNED:

Mayor

Ord. 102-24



WHEREAS:

WHEREAS:

SEC. 1:

SEC. 2:

SEC. 3:

SEC. 4:

PASSED:

RCA 24-106-5/13
RESOLUTION NO. 103-24

ARESOLUTION AUTHORIZING KLEINFELDER, INC., ON
BEHALF OF THE CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO TO FILE AN
APPLICATION FOR GRANT ASSISTANCE FROM THE
OHIO DEPARTMENT OF DEVELOPMENT FOR FUNDING
UNDER THE PY24 COMMUNITY HOUSING IMPACT AND
PRESERVATION (CHIP) GRANT PROGRAM, AND
DECLARING AN EMERGENCY.

The City of Medina, Ohio intends to apply to the Ohio Department of Development
for funding under the PY24 Community Housing Impact and Preservation (CHIP)
Grant for funds to be used for housing improvements for low and moderate income
homeowners in the City; and

It is estimated that the total amount of the funding for the City will be at least
$350,000.00.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY
OF MEDINA, OHIO:

That Kleinfelder, Inc. is hereby authorized and directed to file an application with the
Ohio Department of Development on behalf of the City of Medina for a PY24
Community Housing Impact and Preservation (CHIP) Grant. The funds from this
grant will be used for housing improvements for low and moderate income
homeowners in the City.

That if the Grant is awarded to the City, the Mayor is authorized to accept the grant
and enter into an agreement with the Kleinfelder, Inc. and the Ohio Department of
Development for its implementation and administration and execute any and all
documentation associated with said grant.

That it is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this
Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that
resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance
with the law.

That this Resolution shall be considered an emergency measure necessary for the
immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety, and for the further
reason to comply with Ohio Department Development requirements and deadlines;
wherefore, this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its
passage and signature by the Mayor.

SIGNED:

ATTEST:

President of Council
APPROVED:

Clerk of Council
SIGNED:

Mayor
Res. 103-24



WHEREAS:

WHEREAS:

WHEREAS:

WHEREAS:

SEC. 1:

SEC. 2:

RCA 24-107-5/13
RCA 24-106-5/13

RESOLUTION NO. 104-24

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER
INTO A PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF
BRUNSWICK AND TO FILE AN APPLICATION FOR
GRANT ASSISTANCE WITH THE OHIO DEVELOPMENT
SERVICES AGENCY FOR A PY24 COMMUNITY HOUSING
IMPACT AND PRESERVATION PROGRAM (CHIP) GRANT,
AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY.

The State of Ohio, Development Services Agency, Office of Community
Development has established the PY24 Community Housing Impact and Preservation
Program (CHIP) Guidelines; and

Included in the Action Plan is a partnership option allowing eligible communities to
partner on one single application. By electing to file an application under a
Partnership Agreement, the cities of Medina and Brunswick are each eligible for
additional funds over and above the grant threshold for single applicants; and

The partnership has designated The City of Medina, Ohio to be the Grantee applying
to the Ohio Development Services Agency for funding under the PY2024
Community Housing Impact and Preservation Program (CHIP) Grant for funds to be
used for housing improvements for low and moderate income homeowners in the
Cities of Medina and Brunswick; and

It is estimated that the total amount of eligible funding for each City is $350,000.00
making the total grant request $700,000.00.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY
OF MEDINA, OHIO:

That the Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to enter into a Partnership
Agreement with the City of Brunswick and to file an application for grant assistance
from the Ohio Development Services Agency for a PY2024 Community Housing
Impact and Preservation Program (CHIP) Grant. The funds from this grant will be
used for housing improvements for low and moderate income homeowners in the
Cities of Medina and Brunswick. The City of Medina acknowledges that it will be
responsible for the entire CHIP grant award, if funded.

The City of Medina proposes to utilize the requested funds, if awarded, to carry out
the following housing activities:

. Private Owner Rehabilitation approximately $390,000. Approximately (6)

housing structures in the Cities of Medina and Brunswick will receive housing
rehabilitation assistance. Qualifying homeowners will be the owners of single-
family, owner occupied structures that are in need of assistance to meet local code
compliance and rehabilitation standards. Eligible properties must be located in
the City of Medina or City of Brunswick. All loans will be made at a 0% interest,
completely forgivable after five years. Funding Source — HOME Funds.

Res. 104-24



SEC. 3:

SEC. 4:

SEC. 5:

SEC. 6:

PASSED:

ATTEST:

. Home Repair Assistance approximately $210,000. Approximately (10) housing

structures in the Cities of Medina and Brunswick will receive home repair
assistance. Qualifying homeowners will be the owners of single-family, owner
occupied structures that are in need of assistance to address one or two major
health and safety items. Rental units are not eligible for home repair assistance.
All improvements will be made with a grant. Funding Source — CDBG Funds.

. Tenant Based Rental Assistance approximately $16,000. Approximately (10)

families will receive Tenant Based Rental Assistance for first month’s rent,
security deposit and utility deposit in the City of Medina or City of Brunswick.
The Assistance will be in the form of a grant. Funding Source - HOME funds.

. Administration approximately $79,000. Administration is requested to reimburse

the Community for staff time dedicated to CHIP projects. The funds could also be
used to retain program consultants for the grant period. Funding Source — CDBG
and HOME Funds

. Fair Housing approximately $5,000. Funding Source — CDBG Funds.

That if the Grant is awarded to the City of Medina, the Mayor is authorized to accept
the grant and enter into an agreement with Kleinfelder Inc. for its implementation and
administration and execute any and all documentation associated with said grant.

That a copy of the Partnership Agreement with the City of Brunswick is marked
Exhibit A, attached hereto, and incorporated herein.

That it is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this
Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that
resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance
with the law.

That this Resolution shall be considered an emergency measure necessary for the
immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety, and for the further
reason to comply with Ohio Development Services Agency requirements and
deadlines; wherefore, this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately
upon its passage and signature by the Mayor.

SIGNED:

President of Council

APPROVED:

Clerk of Council

SIGNED:

Mayor

Res. 104-24



State of Ohio Rus 10424
PY2024 Community Housing Impact and Preservation (CHIP) Program
Partnership Agreement
Between the Cities of Medina and Brunswick, Ohio

WHEREAS, the City of Medina, OH will be submitting a PY2024 CHIP Grant
Application to the Ohio Department of Development (ODOD) due June 20, 2024; and

WHEREAS, ODOD has determined that the Cities of Medina and Brunswick are
eligible CHIP program “partner” participants for the PY2024 funding round enabling the City
of Medina to apply for $350,000 and City of Brunswick for $350,000; for a total grant of
$700,000 for housing assistance to income eligible households; and

WHEREAS, without this partnership agreement, the City of Medina would have been
eligible for only $250,000 of CHIP Grant Funds; and

WHEREAS, the Cities of Medina/Brunswick Housing Advisory Committee at its April
23, 2024, meeting supported the continuation of the partnership arrangement between the
Cities of Medina and Brunswick for the PY2024 CHIP Grant Application; and

WHEREAS, the Cities of Medina and Brunswick reviewed and approved the PY2024
CHIP Partnership arrangement; and

WHEREAS, the Cities of Medina and Brunswick agree to form a partnership for the
purpose of applying for a PY2024 CHIP Grant Application; and

WHEREAS, the City of Medina has agreed to be the Grantee and fiscal agent for the
entire PY2024 CHIP Grant and be responsible for the preparation of the PY2024 CHIP
Application and for the administration of the grant in accordance with the CHIP rules and
regulations as required by ODOD;

NOW, THEREFORE, the Cities of Medina and Brunswick do hereby agree to the
following terms of this PY2024 CHIP Partnership Agreement:

1. That the City of Medina will be responsible for the preparation of the PY2024
CHIP Grant Application due June 20, 2024, which will include the partnership
arrangement between the Cities of Medina and Brunswick as stipulated
herein.

2. That the City of Medina will be the Grantee (recipient of the PY2024 CHIP
Grant) and be responsible for the overall administration and implementation
of said grant.

3. That this agreement will be in full force and effect for the duration of the
PY2024 CHIP Grant Period which will be from December 1, 2024, until April
30, 2027.



10.

11.

12.

That this agreement cannot be withdrawn or terminated by any parties while
it remains in effect.

That through this partnership agreement, the City of Medina is eligible to
apply for $700,000 of CHIP Grant Funds that may include Federal
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME Investment
Partnership Program Funds (HOME) and State of Ohio Housing Trust Fund
(OHTF) monies to fund private owner rehabilitation loans, home repair
grants, and Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (see planned budget - final
numbers to be determined by ODOD based on available funding).

That for the PY2024 CHIP Grant, the City of Medina CHIP Program Policies
and Procedures Manual will be utilized for the administration of the grant.

As required by ODOD, the Cities of Medina and Brunswick will use
respective CHIP Program Income as leverage/in conjunction with the
PY2024 City of Medina CHIP Grant Application and program if funded.

That the City of Medina agrees to retain and track the use of CHIP Program
Income deriving from said Grant and use it to fund CHIP-eligible housing
activities in both Cities of Medina and Brunswick, throughout the
Medina/Brunswick CHIP Service Area.

That the City of Medina will provide copies of the ODOD CHIP status reports
to the City of Brunswick, as requested, and provide updates on program
status throughout the grant period.

That the City of Medina will be the repository of all applicable PY2024 CHIP
program records for monitoring purposes and agrees to retain ali applicable
records for the required time period from the date of grant completion,
currently three years.

That the Cities of Medina and Brunswick agree to take actions necessary to
assure compliance with the certifications required by Section 104(b) of Title |
of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended,
including Title VI of the Civil Rights of 1964, the Fair Housing Act, Section
109 of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974 and other
applicable laws.

That the Cities of Medina and Brunswick agree that CHIP funds are
prohibited for activities that do not affirmatively further fair housing within their
own jurisdiction or that impede the Grantee’s actions to comply with its fair
housing certification. Noncompliance can, in turn, provide cause for funding
sanctions or other remedial actions by the State of Ohio or U.S. Department
of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).



13.  That the Cities of Medina and Brunswick do designate Kleinfelder, Inc. and
its CHIP staff to be Representatives of the Local Public Agency (LPA) and
that staff may be responsible for executing certain necessary CHIP contract
documentation used for Private Rehabilitation and Home Repair, including,
but not limited to, the HOME Written Agreement.

14. CHIP GRANT FUNDS PARTNERSHIP PY2024 PLANNED BUDGET

The CHIP grant funds will be budgeted and distributed between the two partners,
the Cities of Medina and Brunswick, for use in respective jurisdiction service areas.
The Cities’ CHIP service areas extend to the respective corporation limits. The
budget amounts shown in the table below will be in effect for an initial period of nine
(9) months, unless other arrangements are approved by both Cities, after which any
remaining unspent grant funds will be available and expended throughout the
partnering jurisdictions CHIP Program Service Area regardless of the original
program budget.

PY2024 CHIP Activities Planned Budget
{Includes $5,328.69 from City of Brunswick HOME Program Income)

Partnering Jurisdiction Activity Activity Budget Outcomes
City of Medina Private Owner Rehabilitation $231,960 3
Home Repair - Owner $90,000 3
City of Brunswick Private Owner Rehabilitation $163,368 2
Home Repair - Owner $120,000 4

Within Cities of Medina | Tenant-Based

and Brunswick (TBD) | Rental Assistance (TBRA) $16,000

TOTAL $621,328 22
(3616,000 CHIF & $5,328 PI)

THE UNDERSIGNED REPRESENTATIVES OF THIS PY2024 CHIP PARTNERSHIP
AGREEMENT HEREBY AGREE TO THE ABOVE-STATED TERMS AND CONDITIONS
ON RESPECTIVE DATES SET FORTH ON SIGNATORY PAGES.

SEE SIGNATORY PAGES.



SIGNATORY: PY2024 CHIP PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT
CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO

Mayor Dennis Hanwell Witness
City of Medina, OH

Date:

Legal Form and Sufficiency

This PY2024 CHIP Partnership Agreement has been reviewed by the legal counsel of the
City of Medina. The terms and provisions of said Agreement are fully authorized under the
State of Ohio and local law. This Agreement provides full legal authority for the City of
Medina, as the PY2024 CHIP Grantee.

Approved as to Form and Sufficiency:

City Attorney

Date:




SIGNATORY: PY2024 CHIP PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT
CITY OF BRUNSWICK, OHIO

Carl DeForest Witness
City Manager
City of Brunswick, OH

Date:

Legal Form and Sufficiency

This PY2024 CHIP Partnership Agreement has been reviewed by the legal counsel of the
City of Brunswick. The terms and provisions of said Agreement are fully authorized under
the State of Ohio and local law.

Approved as to Form and Sufficiency:

City Attorney

Date:




WHEREAS:

RCA 24-109-5/13
Ref. Ord. 61-96

ORDINANCE NO. 105-24

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER
INTO A MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT WITH THE
COUNTY OF MEDINA FOR THE MAINTENANCE OF
BOUNDARY ROADS.

The City of Medina entered into a Maintenance Agreement with the County of
Medina pursuant to the passage of Ord. 61-96, passed March 25, 1996; and

WHEREAS: Updates were necessary to reflect the maintenance currently being performed.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY
OF MEDINA, OHIO:

SEC. 1: That the Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to enter into a Maintenance
Agreement with the County of Medina for the maintenance of boundary roads.

SEC. 2: That a copy of the Maintenance Agreement is marked Exhibit A, attached hereto and
incorporated herein.

SEC. 3: That it is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this
Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that
resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance
with the law.

SEC. 4: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect at the earliest period allowed by
law.

PASSED: SIGNED:

President of Council

ATTEST: APPROVED:

Clerk of Council
SIGNED:

Mayor

Ord. 105-24



Ord. 105-24

MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT
BETWEEN
MEDINA COUNTY AND THE CITY OF MEDINA

FOR BOUNDARY ROADS

WHEREAS, Section 307.15 of the Ohio Revised Code provides that the Board of
County Commissioners may enter into an agreement with the legislative authority of any
municipal corporation and such legislative authority of the Municipal Corporation may enter
into agreements with the Board of County Commissioners whereby the Board undertakes and is
authorized by the contracting subdivision. to exercise any power, perform any function or
render any service, on behalf of the contracting subdivision or its legislative authority which it
could exercise on its own behalf; and

WHEREAS, the County of Medina (“County™) and the City of Medina (“City”) agree
that the efficient maintenance of boundary roads requires a formal maintenance agreement (
“Agreement™); and

WHEREAS, it is agreed that the general maintenance responsibility should be defined
for the full width of the road rights-of-way for each section of roadway maintained; and

WHEREAS, it is agreed that winter maintenance responsibility of said boundary roads
by the removal of ice and snow and/or the application of salt or abrasives should be defined,;
and

WHEREAS, it is agreed that a policy and system for the issuance of highway-related
permits is in the best interest of public health and welfare; and

WHEREAS, the County of Medina and the City of Medina mutually agree that a formal

agreement regarding the maintenance of portions of said roads by the other, constitutes



adequate consideration for entering into this Agreement; and

WHEREAS. this Agreement replaces the Maintznance Agreement entered into by and
between the Parlies hereto dated as of April 8, 1996,

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties in exehange-for consideration of the following terms

and agreement, each to the other, enter into this formal Agreement:

SECTIONIL.-D - ERAL MAINTENANCE RESPONSIB :

a. Pavement maintenance, including minor surface treatment, and/or resurfacing
not exceeding two-inch (2") thickness.

b. Vegetation control, including weeds, brush and trees.

c. Application of pavement markings, except there shall be no changes in existing
Street Marking Patterns on the above roads without prior written agreement of
both parties.

d. Guardrail repair and installation.

e. Erection and repair of all uniform traffic control devices, except that the

maintaining agency shall not be responsible for erection of additional regulatory
signing or additional regulatory devices required as a result of the other party's
legislative actions.

Public health and welfare (dirt, obstacles, liquid spills, etc.).

Minor pavement base repair.

Repair of berms and roadside ditches.

Cleaning, repairing and replacing of culverts and drainage systems.

ol

a. Snow and ice removal.
b. Application of abrasives.

Upon the completion of the signing of this Agreement, the jurisdiction having
responsibility for General Maintenance Operations and/or Winter Maintenance Operations on

boundary line roads as defined in SECTION I. and SECTION I1., shall be as follows:



A. Medina County General Maintenance Sections:

N West Smith Road — beginning at a point in line with the Medina City
West Corporation Line (North) and 2,621 feet west of the centerline of
Lake Road and continuing west.

)] Lake Road -- beginning at a point in line with the Medina City
South Corporation Line (East) and 4,545 feet south of the centerline of
Lafayette Road and continuing south.

3) Branch Road - beginning at a point in line with the Medina City
West Corporation Line (North) and 4,157 feet west of the centerline of
West Liberty Street and continuing west.

(4)  Abbeyville Road beginning at a point in line with the Medina City
South Corporation Line (East) and 2,340 feet north of the centerline of
West Liberty Street and continuing north.

(5)  Marks Road (State Road) ~ beginning at a point in line with the Medina
City North Corporation Line (East) and 500 feet north of the centerline of
Birch Hill Drive and continuing north,

(6) Ryan Road - beginning at a point in line with the Medina City
South Corporation Line (West) and 1,110 feet south of the centetline of
Lafayette Road and continuing south.

(N East Smith Road - beginning at a point in line with the Medina City
East Corporation Line (South) and 292 feet east of the centerline of

Timber Trail and continuing east.



Medina County Winter Maintenance Sections:

(1) West Smith Road - beginning at Commerce Drive and continuing west.

(2)  Lake Road - beginning at the Medina City South Corporation Line (East)
and continuing south.

3) Marks Road (State Road) - beginning at Birch Hill Drive the-Medina-Gity
Neorth-Corperation-tine-tEast) and continuing north.

(4)  Branch Road - beginning at Commerce Drive and continuing west.

(5)  RyanRoad - beginning at Plymouth-Street West Sturbridge Drive and
continuing south.

(6)  Abbeyville Road - beginning at the-deivewaytsrthedohn-5-Grmm-tae
Company-(4555-Abbeyville-Read) West Liberty Street (S.R. 18) and

continuing north.

(7)  East Smith Road - beginning at Timber Trail and continuing east.

City of Medina General Maintenance Sections:

(1) West Smith Road - beginning at a point in line with the Medina City
West Corporation Line (North) and 2,621 feet west of the centerline of
Lake Road and continuing east.

2) Lake Road — beginning at a point in line with the Medina City
South Corporation Line (East) and 4,545 feet south of the centerline of
Lafayette Road and continuing north to West Smith Road.

(3)  Branch Road ~ beginning at a point in line with the Medina City
West Corporation Line (North) and 4,157 feet west of the centerline of

West Liberty Street and continuing east.



(4)

&)

(6)

(7N

itv o

(1)

3)

4)
)

A

Abbeyville Road — beginning at a point in line with the Medina City
South Corporation Line (East) and 2,340 feet north of the centerline of
West Liberty Street and continuing south.
State Road (Marks Road) - beginning at a point in line with the Medina
City North Corporation Line (East) and 500 feet north of the centerline of
Birch Hill Drive and continuing south.
Ryan Road ~ beginning at a point in line with the Medina City
South Corporation Line (West) and 1,110 feet south of the centerline of
Lafayette Road and continuing north.
East Smith Road - beginning at a point in line with the Medina City
East Corporation Line (South) and 292 feet east of the centerline of
Timber Trail and continuing west.

edina Winter Mai ections:
West Smith Road - beginning at Commerce Drive and continuing east.
Lake Road - beginning at the Medina City South Corporation Line (East)
and continuing north.
State Road (Marks Road) - beginning at Birch Hill Drive thededina-Gity
Nerh-Lorparation-kine thast) and continuing south.
Branch Road - beginning at Commerce Drive and continuing east.

Ryan Road - beginning at Plymoutir-Street West Sturbridge Drive and

continuing north.

paainpine-at-the-drivewav-to-thedohm-SGrimnrie




E

A.

{€)

NIV, -

eontinting-rorth-
East Smith Road - beginning at Timber Trail and continuing west.

NCE OF HIGHWAY PERMITS:

Overweight and Oversize Permits:

(D

@

Overweight and oversize permits shall be issued by and in accordance
with adopted rules and regulations of the subdivision having pavement
maintenance responsibility as designated by SECTION 11, A. and C.

The subdivision issuing the permit will set the amount of the bond
required of the applicant based on the possible damage by the proposed
move to the roadway. structures and utilities occupying the highway.

Overweight and oversize permt fees and inspection costs will be charged
and collected by the subdivision having maintenance responsibility as
designated by SECTION III, A. and C. and these fees and costs will be
compatible with those fees and costs established by the subdivision in
which the move will actually take place. If the proposed move wili occur
in both subdivisions, the applicant will be charged amounts based on fees
and costs established by the subdivision that charges the greater amount.

Utility Permits:

Permils for-approved-utitities-shall-be-issued to public-andforprivate-utilities,
companies or individuals for the installation of rev-srreplacementpipes,
conduits, sewers, power lines and poles, telephone lines and poles, television
cables and poles, eet- by and in accordance with adopted rules and regulations of
the subdivision having maintenance responsibilitv as designated bv SECTION

HI.. A. and C. shall be issued as follows:

(h

{2}

{3}

Utility permits shall be issued by and in accordance with adopied rules
and regulations of the subdivision having maintenance respcm sibility as
designated by SECTION II1.. A. and C.

unt of the bond
age by the installation
utilities occupying the

The subdivision issuing the permit will set the anio
required of the applicant based on the possi b e d aim

of the utility to the roadway. structures and other
highway.,

Utility permit fess and inspection fess will be charged and collected by
the subdivision having maintenance responsibility as designated by
SECTION IIL.. A. and C. and these fees will be compatible with the fees
established by the subdivision in which the installation will ocour, or if



the installation crosses from one subdivision to the other. in the
subdivision in which the main utility line exists.

(4r  The subdivision that issues the permit will forward a copy to the other
subdivision if the installation occurs wholly or in part within the latter's
jurisdiction.

(3} It is the intention of the parties herein to permit the subdivision having
mainienance responsibility, as designated by Section 111, A. and C. to
issue service connection permits for utilities, without any intent of the
pariies to convey authority for the increase or addition of primary service
facilities not previously provided.

C. Driveway Permits:

Driveway permits shall be issued by and in accordance with adopted rules and

regulations of the subdivision having pavement maintenance responsibility as

designated by Section Il1., A and C.

SECTION V.

The County of Medina and the City of Medina further agree that, in the event it is
believed necessary and desirable that more extensive or unusual maintenance, repair,
reconstruction or improvement should be performed, which is of such magnitude as to be
beyond the scope of work considered in this agreement to be general maintenance, then such

work may be performed by contract or by one or the other political subdivision upon the

following conditions:

A. Upon mutual written agreement of the parties hereto, as to the necessity, either Medina
County or the City of Medina shall proceed to do the work by contract, or by means of
their own work forces.

B. After completion of the work, the entire cost shall be prorated to each subdivision.
C VI.
A -0 RO ERIN repreerto-hokHrmresytrde by and-dedend the- S o




ofay-ofthe-roads-listed-inSECHOMNIHCrand-DoF this-apreemeant,

This Agreement shall be in effect for an indefinite term following ratification by the
Medina County Commissioners and the City of Medina Council. It may be revised by
mutual agreement between the parties. It may be rescinded by either party giving sixty
(60) days written notice to the other.
SECT V
No later than ninety (90) days after any annexation or detachment involving a County
highway is recorded, the County of Medina and the City of Medina will meet and review
SECTION HI. of this Agreement. Any necessary adjustments to balance the miles of
maintenance responsibility will be made at that time. Confirming legislation will be passed by
both jurisdictions and copies attached to the agreement until such time as the agreement is

revised.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County of Medina and the City of Medina have caused this

Maintenance Agreement (o be executed in duplicate as of the dates written below:

COUNTY OF MEDINA CITY OF Medina

Andrew Conrad, PE., P.S:;‘C'bunty Engm_e-é—{

Date: Date:

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
MEDINA COUNTY, OHIO

Steven D. Hambley

Date:

Aaron M. Harrison

Date:

Colleen M. Swedyk

Date:

Approved as to legal form: Approved as to legal form:

Brian M. Richter, Assistant County Prosecutor Greg Huber, Law Director



West Smith Road:

1. a.
b.
c.
Lake Road;
I. a.
b.
c.
Branch Road:
I. a.
b.
Abbeyville Road:
1. a.

ROAD MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT
BETWEEN MEDINA COUNTY AND MEDINA CITY

(GENERAL MAINTENANCE SECTIONS)

Medina City will maintain 1,511 feet of the south side of the road that is in
Lafayette Township.

Medina County will maintain 142 feet of the south side of the road that is in
Medina City.

The point of Begin/End Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be in line with the
Medina City West Corporation Line (North).

Medina City will maintain 3.043 feet of the west side of the road that is in
Lafayette Township.

Medina County will maintain 508 feet of the west side of the road that is in
Medina City.

The point of Begin/End Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be in line with the
Medina City South Corporation Line (East).

Medina City will maintain 250 feet of the south side of the road that is in
Medina City.

The point of Begin/End Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be the
Medina City West Corporation Line (North).

Medina City will maintain 1,270 feet of the east side of the road and 210 feet on
the west side of the road that is in York Township.



Medina County will maintain 918 feet of the east side of the road and 272 feet on
the west side of the road that is in Medina City.

c. The point of Begin/End Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be in line with the
Medina City South Corporation Line (East).
Marks Road (State Road):
1. a. Medina County will maintain ].261 feet of the west side of the road and 150 feet
of the east side of the road that is in Medina City.
b. The point of Begin/End Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be in line with the
Medina City North Corporation Line (East) 500 feet north of centerline of Birch
Hill Drive.
Ryan Road:
1. a. Medina County will maintain 1.737 feet of the east side of the road that is in
Medina City.
b. The point of Begin/End Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be in line with the
Medina City South Corporation Line (West).
East Smith Roead:
1. a. Medina County will maintain 481 feet of the north side of the road and 292 feet
of the south of the road that is in Medina City.
b. The point of Begin/End Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be in the
centerline of Timber Trail.
Road Name Medina City Maintenance Medina County Maintenance
West Smith 1511 feet 142 feet
Lake 3,043 feet 508 feet
Branch —ee- 250 feet
Abbeyville 1480 feet 1,190 feet
Marks ——- 1,411 feet
Ryan ——e- 1,737 feet
East 8mith e 189 feet
Total 6,034 feet 5,427 feet



West Smith Road;

L.

Lake Road:

1.

Branch Road:

1.

a.

ROAD MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT
BETWEEN MEDINA COUNTY AND MEDINA CITY

(WINTER MAINTENANCE SECTIONS)

Medina City will perform Winter Maintenance operations on 1.511 feet of the
south side of the road that is in Lafayette Township.

Medina County will perform Winter Maintenance operations on 963 feet of the
south side of the road and 821 feet of the north side of the road that is in Medina
City.

The point of Begin/End for the Winter Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be
in line with the centerline of Commerce Drive.

Medina City will perform Winter Maintenance operations on 3.043 feet of the
west side of the road that is in Lafayette Township.

Medina County will perform Winter Maintenance operations on 508 feet of the
west side of the road that is in Medina City.

The point of Begin/End Winter Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be in line
with the Medina City South Corporation Line (East).

Medina City will perform Winter Maintenance operations on 557 feet of the
south side of the road and 307 feet of the north side of the road that is in
Medina City.

The point of Begin/End for the Winter Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be
in line with the centerline of Commerce Drive.



Abbeyville Road:

1. a Medi ar TIPS W e N . .

stde-of-the-read-and-210-fectonthewest-side-of theroad-thatis-in-York—

a. Medina County will maintain 338-feet-1.985 feet of the east side of the road and
+622feet 2,425 feet on the west side of the road that is in Medina City.

b. The point of Begin/End Winter Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be in line
with the centerline of West Liberty Street (5.R. 18).-ofthe-driveway-to-the-Joh-

Marks Road (State Road):

I. a. Medina County will maintain +=261-feet 1,739 feet of the west side of the road
and 130-feet-679 feet of the east side of the road that is in Medina City.

b. The point of Begin/End Winter Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be in line
with the Muttnn-Chy-North-Corportion-bire-FPast- $08-feet-northof centerline
of Birch Hill Drive.

Ryan Road:
I. a. Medina City will perform Winter Maintenance operations on 219 feet of the
east side of the road and 1.475 feet of the west side of the road that is in
Lafayetie Tovwnship.

b. Medina County will maintain :-737-feet- 358 feet of the east side of the road that
is in Medina City.

C. The point of Begin/End Winter Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be in line
with the centerline of West Sturbridge Drive.

East Smith Road:
1. a. Medina County will perform Winter Maintenance operations on 481 feet of the
north side of the road and 292 feet_of the south of the road that is in Medina
City.
b. The point of Begin/End Winter Maintenance for each jurisdiction will be in the

centerline of Timber Trail.



RCA 24-108-5/13

ORDINANCE NO. 106-24

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PETITION FOR SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS
FOR A SPECIAL ENERGY IMPROVEMENT PROJECT AND A
SUPPLEMENTAL PLAN FOR THE MEDINA COUNTY ENERGY
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT UNDER CHAPTER 1710 OF THE OHIO
REVISED CODE; AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND/OR DIRECTOR OF
FINANCE TO ENTER INTO ANY AND ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY IN
CONNECTION WITH THE PETITION AND SUPPLEMENTAL PLAN; TO
AUTHORIZE AND LEVY SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ACQUIRING, CONSTRUCTING, AND IMPROVING CERTAIN PUBLIC
IMPROVEMENTS IN THE CITY OF MEDINA IN COOPERATION WITH THE
CITY OF MEDINA ENERGY SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, INC.
DBA MEDINA COUNTY ENERGY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT; AND TO
APPROVE A COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT AND A SPECIAL
ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH
IMPROVEMENTS AND SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS

WHEREAS, the City of Medina created the Medina County Energy Improvement District
(“District”) under Ohio Revised Code Chapter 1710 and a non-profit corporation, known as the
City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District, Inc., to govern the District, and property
owners within the District are permitted to make certain “energy efficiency improvements” to their
properties, which constitute a “special energy improvement project”, and pay for the cost of the
special energy improvement project by way of special assessments in accordance with the process
set out in Chapters 727 and 1710 of the Ohio Revised Code, with Section 1710.01(G) of the
Revised Code providing that special energy improvement projects (including energy efficiency
improvements) constitute public improvements and are therefore subject to special assessments;
and

WHEREAS, Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company (the
“Petitioner™), is the owner of 100% of the fee simple interest in the property described on Exhibit
A attached hereto (the “Property”), and Petitioner has caused the completion of an energy
assessment of the Property; and

WHEREAS, the Petitioner will implement the Authorized Improvements (defined below),
and be subject to the Special Assessments (defined below); and

WHEREAS, the energy assessment has identified energy conservation measures, all of
which qualify as energy efficiency improvements as defined in Section 1710.01(K) of the Revised
Code, which Petitioner has determined to proceed with implementing in conjunction with
financing to be secured by and repaid through special assessments; and

WHEREAS, Petitioner has submitted to this Council the Petition for Special Assessments

for Special Energy Improvement Projects (the “Petition™) seeking (i) the addition of the Property
to the District and (ii) approval of an amendment to the District’s comprehensive plan for special

Ord. 106-24



RCA 24-108-5/13

energy improvement projects to include the Legacy Hotel & Event Center Project (the “Special
Energy Improvement Project”) and requesting that the Special Energy Improvement Project be
undertaken by the District and that the costs thereof be specially assessed against the Property
specially benefited thereby; and

WHEREAS, a complete list and description of the Special Energy Improvement Project is
on file with the Clerk of this Council and is attached as Exhibit B to this Resolution, which
provides the following information for the Special Energy Improvement Project:

1. Identification of the parcel number and name of the Property/building to be improved;

2. A description of the nature of the Special Energy Improvement Project for the particular
parcel;

3. The estimated amount of the special assessment to be levied against the Property (the
“Special Assessments”) and the number of years the Special Assessments will be collected
(if not paid in cash within 30 days after the passage of the assessing ordinance as provided
by law).

WHEREAS, the total dollar cost of the Special Energy Improvement Project, including
accrued interest and the associated closing costs, is estimated to be $4,580,000.00, each semi-
annual special assessment payment represents the payment of a portion of the principal of and
interest, the program administration fee and the lender servicing fee due with respect to each semi-
annual payment and the total amount to be assessed against the property pursuant to this Ordinance
15 $9,115,993.98; and

WHEREAS, the cost of the Special Energy Improvement Project will be funded through
bonds issued by the Development Finance Authority of Summit County (the “Issuer”) and the
bonds will be repaid over time from the Special Assessments paid by the Petitioner; and

WHEREAS, the Special Assessments for the Special Energy Improvement Project are to
be paid in semi-annual payments to be collected with first-half and second-half real property taxes
in calendar years 2026 through 2043; and

WHEREAS, the plans and specifications for the Special Energy Improvement Project are
on file with the Clerk of this Council; and

WHEREAS, the Petitioner, pursuant to the Petition, has (a) waived all further notices,
hearings, claims for damages, rights to appeal and other rights of property owners under the law,
including but not limited to those specified in the Ohio Constitution, Chapter 727 of the Revised
Code, the Medina City Charter and the Medina Codified Ordinance and (b) consents to the
immediate imposition of the Special Assessments upon the Property specially benefited by Special
Energy Improvement Project; and

WHEREAS, this special assessment process is a voluntary process with one hundred
percent of the cost of the Special Energy Improvement Project being assigned to the specially
benefited Property and this Ordinance accepts and approves the petition from Petitioner,
determines to proceed with the Special Energy Improvement Project, and levies the final costs of

Ord. 106-24



RCA 24-108-5/13

the Special Energy Improvement Project, as certified by the Petitioner, against the benefited
Property;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
MEDINA, OHIO, THAT:

SEC. 1: Each capitalized term not otherwise defined in this Ordinance or by reference to
another document shall have the meaning assigned to it in the Petition.

SEC. 2: This Council approves the Petition and the Supplemental Plan attached to the
Petition as Exhibit B thereto, both of which are now on file with the Clerk of
Council.

SEC. 3: The Mayor and/or Director of Finance are each authorized to enter into any and all

agreements necessary in connection with the Petition and Supplemental Plan.

SEC 4: It is hereby declared necessary, and a vital and essential public purpose of the City,
to improve the Property by providing for special energy improvement projects on
the Property in the form of the Special Energy Improvement Project, including any
and all costs and expenses in connection with or otherwise related thereto as
described in the Petition, all of which is described in the plans, specifications,
profiles, and estimates of costs included in the Petition and on file in the office of
the Clerk of the Council.

SEC. §: The plans and specifications and total cost of the Special Energy Improvement
Project, as included in the Petition, and now on file in the office of the Clerk of the
Council are approved. The Special Energy Improvement Project shall be made in
accordance with the plans, specifications, profiles, and estimates for the Special
Energy Improvement Project included in the Petition.

SEC. 6: This Council declares that its intention is to proceed or to cooperate with the District
to proceed with the acquisition, installation, equipment, and improvement of the
Special Energy Improvement Project described in the Petition. The Special Energy
Improvement Project shall be made in accordance with the provisions of the plans,
specifications, profiles, and estimates of cost approved by Section 4 of this
Ordinance.

SEC. 7: Pursuant to Section 1710.02(G)(4) of the Revised Code, this Council determines
that the Special Energy Improvement Project to be constructed and implemented
on the Property is not required to be owned exclusively by the City for its purposes,
for uses determined by this Council, as the legislative authority of the City, as those
that will promote the welfare of the people of such participating political
subdivision; to improve the quality of life and the general and economic well-being
of the people of the City; to better ensure the public health, safety, and welfare; to
protect water and other natural resources; to provide for the conservation and
preservation of natural and open areas and farmlands, including by making urban

Ord. 106-24



SEC. 8:

SEC. 9:

SEC. 10:

RCA 24-108-5/13

areas more desirable or suitable for development and revitalization; to control,
prevent, minimize, clean up, or mediate certain contamination of or pollution from
lands in the state and water contamination or pollution; or to provide for safe and
natural areas and resources. This Council accordingly authorizes the board of
directors of the District to act as its agent to sell, transfer, lease, or convey the
Special Energy Improvement Project to be constructed and implemented on the
Property. The consideration the board of directors of the District must obtain from
any sale, transfer, lease, or conveyance of the Special Energy Improvement Project
on the Property is any consideration greater than or equal to $1.00.

Pursuant to and subject to the provisions of the valid Petition signed by the owner
of 100% of the fee simple interest in the Property, the entire cost of the Special
Energy Improvement Project shall be paid by the Special Assessments levied
against the Property and to be paid by the owner of the fee simple interest in the
Property, which is the benefited property. The provisions of the Petition are ratified,
adopted, approved and incorporated into this Ordinance as if set forth in full in this
Ordinance. The portion of the costs of the Special Energy Improvement Project
allocable to the City will be 0%. The City does not intend to issue securities in
anticipation of the levy or collection of the Special Assessments.

The Director of Finance of the City (the “Director of Finance”) or the Director of
Finance’s designee has caused to be prepared and filed in the office of the Clerk of
the Council the estimated Special Assessments and the cost of the Special Energy
Improvement Project in accordance with the method of assessment set forth in the
Petition. The estimated Special Assessments and cost of the Special Energy
Improvement Project are hereby adopted.

This Council accepts and approves the waiver of all further notices, hearings,
claims for damages, rights to appeal and other rights of property owners under the
law, including but not limited to those specified in the Ohio Constitution, Chapter
727 of the Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 1710 of the Ohio Revised Code, and the
Charter of the City of Medina, Ohio, and consents to the immediate imposition of
the Special Assessments upon the Property. This waiver encompasses, but is not
limited to, waivers by the Owner of the following rights:

(1) The right to notice of the adoption of a resolution of necessity under
Sections 727.13 and 727.14 of the Ohio Revised Code;

(i) The right to limit the amount of the Special Assessments under Sections
727.03 and 727.06 of the Ohio Revised Code;

(iii)  The right to file an objection to the Special Assessments under Section
727.15 of the Ohio Revised Code;

(iv)  The right to the establishment of, and any proceedings by and any notice
from an Assessment Equalization Board under Sections 727.16 and 727.17
of the Ohio Revised Code;

(v)  The right to file any claim for damages under Sections 727.18 through
727.22 of the Ohio Revised Code and Section 727.43 of the Ohio Revised
Code;

Ord. 106-24



SEC. 11:

SEC. 12:

RCA 24-108-5/13

(vi)  The right to notice that bids or quotations for the Project may exceed
estimates by 15%;

(vii)  The right to seek a deferral of payments of Special Assessments under
Section 727.251 of the Ohio Revised Code;

(viii) The right to notice of the passage of the assessing ordinance under Section
727.26 of the Ohio Revised Code; and

(ix)  Any and all procedural defects, errors, or omissions in the Special
Assessment process.

The list of Special Assessments to be levied and assessed on the Property in an
amount sufficient to pay the costs of the Special Energy Improvement Project,
which is $9,115,993.98, including other related financing costs incurred in
connection with the issuance, sale, and servicing of securities, nonprofit corporate
obligations, or other obligations issued to pay costs of the Special Energy
Improvement Project in anticipation of the receipt of the Special Assessments,
capitalized interest on, and financing reserve funds for, such securities, nonprofit
corporate obligations, or other obligations so issued, including any credit
enhancement fees, trustee fees, and District administrative fees and expenses, which
costs were set forth in the Petition and previously reported to this Council and are
now on file in the offices of the Clerk of Council, is adopted and confirmed, and
that the Special Assessments are levied and assessed on the Property. The interest
portion of the Special Assessments, which shall accrue at the annual rate of 7.75%,
together with amounts used to pay administrative expenses, has been determined
by the District to be substantially equivalent to the fair market rate that would have
been borne by notes or bonds been issued by the District.

The Special Assessments are assessed against the Property commencing in tax year
2025 for collection in 2026 and shall continue through tax year 2042 for collection
in 2043; provided, however, if the proceedings relating to the Special Assessments
are completed at such time that the County Auditor of Medina County, Ohio (the
“County Auditor”) determines that collections shall not commence in 2026, then
the collection schedule may be deferred by one year. The semi-annual installments
of the Special Assessments shall be collected in each calendar year equal to a semi-
annual amount of Special Assessments as shown in Exhibit C, attached hereto and
incorporated into this Ordinance. The Special Assessments may be levied and
collected before the Special Energy Improvement Project is commenced.

The Special Assessments shall be allocated in proportion to the benefits which may
result from the Project among the parcels constituting the Property as set forth in
the Petition and the List of Special Assessments attached hereto as Exhibit C and
incorporated herein.

This Council finds and determines that the Special Assessments are in proportion

to the special benefits received by the Property as set forth in the Petition and are
not in excess of any applicable statutory limitation.

Ord. 106-24



SEC. 13:

SEC. 14:

SEC. 15:

SEC. 16:

SEC. 17:

SEC. 18:

RCA 24-108-5/13

The Owner has waived its right to pay the Special Assessments in cash, and all
Special Assessments and installments of the Special Assessments shall be certified
by the Clerk of Council to the County Auditor as provided by the Petition and
Section 727.33 of the Ohio Revised Code to be placed by him or her on the tax list
and duplicate and collected with and in the same manner as real property taxes are
collected and as set forth in the Petition.

The Special Assessments will be used by the City to pay the cost of the Special
Energy Improvement Project in cooperation with the District in any manner,
including assigning the Special Assessments actually received by the City to the
District or to another party the City deems appropriate, and the Special Assessments
are appropriated for such purposes. The Director of Finance or the Director of
Finance’s designee shall keep the Special Assessments on file in the office of the
Director of Finance.

This Council hereby approves the Cooperative Agreement by and among the Issuer,
City, the District, the Owner, and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association
(the “Cooperative Agreement”), a copy of which is on file with the Clerk of
Council. The Mayor or the Mayor’s designees are hereby authorized to sign and
deliver, in the name and on behalf of the City, the Cooperative Agreement, in
substantially the form as is now on file with the Clerk of this Council. The
Cooperative Agreement is approved, together with any changes or amendments that
are not inconsistent with this Ordinance and not substantially adverse to the City
and that are approved by the Mayor or the Mayor’s designees, on behalf of the City,
all of which shall be conclusively evidenced by the signing of the Cooperative
Agreement or amendments to the Cooperative Agreement.

The City is hereby authorized to enter into such other documents, instruments, or
agreements that are not inconsistent with this Ordinance and that are approved by
the Mayor or the Mayor’s designees, on behalf of the City, all of which shall be
conclusively evidenced by the signing of such agreements or any amendments to
such agreements. The Mayor or the Mayor’s designees are hereby authorized to
sign and deliver, in the name and on behalf of the City, any such additional
documents, instruments, or agreements.

In compliance with Section 319.61 of the Revised Code, the Clerk of Council is
directed to deliver a certified copy of this Ordinance to the County Auditor within
15 days after its passage.

This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of this Council and any
of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of this Ordinance were
taken, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that
resulted in those formal actions were held, in meetings open to the public in
compliance with the law.

Ord. 106-24



SEC. 19:

PASSED:

ATTEST:

RCA 24-108-5/13

In accordance with Article III, Section 11 of the Charter of the City, this Ordinance
provides for improvements petitioned for by the owners of a majority of the foot
frontage of the property benefitted and to be specially assessed therefor, and,
therefore, shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its passage and
signature by the Mayor.

SIGNED:
President of Council

APPROVED:

Clerk of Council

SIGNED:

Mayor

Ord. 106-24



EXHIBIT A

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

The real property owned by Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC located at the mailing address
0f 257 S. Court Street, Medina, Ohio with Medina County Auditor Parcel ID No. 028-19A-21-402

A-1



Exhibit “A”

File No: TTA3542

Situated in the City of Medina, County of Medina, and State of Ohio and being known as
the whole of Medina City Lot 9423, as shown by the plat as recorded in Document No.
2024PL000016 of Medina County Recorder's Records, containing 1.4795 acres of land,
more or less but subject to all legal highways and all covenants and agreements of records.
This legal description was prepared based on a survey by and/or under the supervision of
Douglas S. Jewel P.S. #5-8007 by Cunningham & Associates, Inc. in May 2024.

Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-402



Cunningham & Associates, Inc.

Civil Engineering & Surveying
203 W. Liberty St., Medina, Oh 44256
Phone: (330) 725-5980 * Fax {330) 725-8019

Legal Description for MCL 9423
Project No. 22-137
May 17, 2024

Situated in the City of Medina, County of Medina, State of Ohio and being known the whole of
Medina City Lot 9423, as shown by plat as recorded in Document No. 2024PL000016 of Medina
County Recorder’s Records, containing 1.4795 Acres of land, more or less but subject to all legal
highways and all covenants and agreements of record.

This legal description was prepared based on a survey by and/or under the supervision of Douglas
S. Jewel P.S. # S-8007 by Cunningham & Associates, Inc. in May 2024.

',,,ONALS

i



CREATING MEDINA CITY LOT NUMBER 9423

BEING

A REPLAT OF A PART OF MEDINA CITY LOTS 364, 366, AND 367 AND THE WHOLE OF MEDINA CITY LOT 9415

SITUATED IN THE CITY OF MEDINA, COUNTY OF MEDINA AND STATE OF OHIO

PLANS PREPARED BY:

CUNNINGHAM & ASSOCIATES, INC.

CIVIL ENGINEERING and SURVEYING
203 W. LIBERTY ST. MEDINA, OHIO 44256 (330) 725-5980

ACCEPTANCE

ary pooriuny §
WHWD S

W Washingion 5t

vcv:n,macgn

#AY pUOMUI §

s kompeoig s

STATE OF ONIQ
BEFORE ME A HOTARY PUBLC §1 D FOR SAD COUNTY AND STATE, PERSORALLY
§§§f§&?&n§g

HAND ANG OFRCIAL, SEAL AT
L

*,svuno,a’é\ a

Mpeosg § k

o sma_szn ; zwisna € Smith Rd

e

APPROVALS
APPROVED FOR TRANSFER THIS h&oﬁ o _mY

Tt 0TI~

Mo 4 maanIn
4
RECOVED FOR TRANSFER THS 1D oavor _PABN | aoex

Anthond 0 Capreata BE

gﬂﬁﬁ.ﬁ’<q

&

A

*og« O,

s UA.20% 2 4§ 86.40

hmmw ms\ u.:amwx

it
o e 9-:5 1,

é
i
§
|

\\\‘

.‘\‘

’//
“itigty

[}

PROJECT NO. 22137 SHEET 1 OF 2

e A
8\ an ?h a2
nec ros:

103 sy



. . . R 4 _ WASHINGTON STREET B . N
r REFISTRW NQQC&\NQ
8
1 NETISUE"W 457.20° Oba.  $57.24° Rec. (D~108) m
-w o
- 3
1 det
-~ + | _ ‘ o[l
i | 5iibiiag
S T 4:1%, De slxE
ALLEY (16.5' R/W) ﬁ P & eSS,
fi T L JHPT) “ lllllllllllllllllllllllllll RN CS»
Nt ) 3
e w4 ) memesmEse E— & “lIof
A P - Y 12/3/1099 ! ! . 13|58
e MEDNA COUNTY BUARD P “ﬂ.ﬂ R | “.. lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll Sm ¥ ﬁNuo
b Lo e — PO 8 b Gl 54 % g {lalSs
< prySti A ) '3 B H 000 WO, 20141587 b & o= fixy
) R s s T UNsrONSE 19699 Ree & Ves. 06/50/201¢ ° Lo Q3
M SEUSEONYE 16L.6Y Vad TALE Rec :ﬁ ) b I M _MT
2 5 ﬁ v SRS
X ° Al T T e T <3 S P "~ A HGn
w\/ w O S 1“ i I o.? .QN&!.&X.NT&N‘ —M DLA .,m Gmm
| N H N * } E
35 af : T e IS
. g . ~0
W...,,M & P - W.%m NEW MEDINA CITY e Pl m m Ww
3= ’e LOT 9423 wesscy nom e e i {08
xle ._m. - = . e 1.4785 AC. 05 /08,2023 4 ¢ - P
S S I e 2 5
Q m Bl & o s e 27 B W7 8 T T T T T R T AT R T S § L
= ] ksl i i T o ol = X Jw..vk Y ww ~
uld L 4 i€ 1% i g
Lz L 356(PT) 4 ﬁml 8 £ L 8
! mnr LEGACT HOTRL OF MEDINA 14C 4 5 2B o et 2 &
m 3 DOC. 0. 20230020119 b s ™ g 812 S I &5
m J/29/2003 n“ v M.u_ m M W
s swn il Y | g9 S
w oy Sia
/ N am% s SR
&AW o T R S T BT T T L N e e NN NS
o i et k&‘qg.\% T T NEFIGSTH | S0ABF Nec. & Usd Ay ° W
v 383 P . Sl : oy S
; LA MCL 363 (PT) : ugy 359 (PT) L 3
N MUBXH PROPERNES, (LC x. e { N
00C. ¥, 20150R001080 « | ) e DTy OF uEDNA L
xf & o1,18/2015 ' " om, po s - & .
3
——— - g
wew 382 (e ww.ao o]
L 383 (PT) PARCEL | °
pARCELT e e e e e o]
RSP Sl 4 ﬁ, Ce W
oo«
e 365 (1) ! ! e 352 (1) N
' iz i ._ PaSCEL 2 N & &
e b it | | 0ol ST §J88
o i { 101072019 m M £3
j i s &
—T% 4 i EEQOWMS
3 Vw8936 24°W 48077 Rec. & Usd (D~108) 9 N0 ROx
A oS8 SRuaa
E o F
]
° gnjhw. 7.
i ___WEST SMITH ROAD s OrTRGT
- - " N [ —T ORI - - - e AL
LEGEND: ;c.“ﬁMu.w
AEFERENCE: Foo, - FOUND @ - /87 ROM PN SET W/CAP STANPED CLIERENCHAM [~ coriEN. ]
KEDINA COUNTY RECORDERS RECORDS Nsd. — MEASURED O~ RN PIN FOUND (NO EAP) - — ..\uﬂr.....ts..\ﬁlmu
Wﬂrg PG, 52 Or - CBSERVD @ - pRML HOLE %ﬁMmM o..:mﬁe\\ sus 4w
2023PL00004S e - RECORD T - e mag ser B S ~ §
DEEDS AS USTED HEREOH Usd - USED ;*. ~ WAG AL FOUND Zai SpiaE
COUNTY ENGINEER'S SURVEY RECORDS _E ....\\%mim..\ s
K}“lﬂﬁo = - e s ha 108 S e ha s @~ RON PIN FOUND W/CAP ES f@ 8§
d . ¢, PT. 108 B K PG. 2380 - A HE S
Soole: 17 = 30° B W, PO 44 B 3. PG 182 1 DISTHG BUILONG Y \\\Mg\ X3 .M
BEARNGS ARE TO AN ASSUMED MEROWAR BK. 1. PG. 240 TAX BOOK 1580, PC. 1 Dt
ARD ARE USED TO DENOTE AMGLES OHLY.




RCA 24-108-5/13

EXHIBIT B
PETITION AND SUPPLEMENTAL PLAN

[See attached.]

B-1



PETITION FOR SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS FOR
SPECIAL ENERGY IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS

A PETITION TO THE CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO SEEKING THE IMPOSITION OF
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS AGAINST REAL PROPERTY OWNED BY THE
PETITIONER TO PAY THE COSTS OF VARIOUS SPECIAL ENERGY
IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS, THE FINANCING OF WHICH WILL SPECIALLY
BENEFIT SUCH REAL PROPERTY, INCLUDING A WAIVER OF ALL RIGHTS TO
NOTICES, HEARINGS AND APPEALS RESPECTING THE REQUESTED SPECIAL
ASSESSMENTS

To: The Mayor and City Council of the City of Medina, Ohio

As of the date of this Petition, Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC, an Ohio limited liability
company (the “Petitioner”) is the owner of 100% of the fee simple interest in the real property
described on Exhibit A attached to this Petition (the “Property”). Petitioner agrees to forever
indemnify and hold harmless the City of Medina and the City of Medina Energy Special
Improvement District, Inc. dba Medina County Energy Improvement District from all claims,
liability, cost, and expense associated in any way with this Petition.

The Board of Directors of the City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District, Inc.,
an Ohio nonprofit corporation (the “Corporation”) dba Medina County Energy County Energy
Improvement District (the “District™), initially created within the boundaries of the City of Medina,
Ohio, has approved a project plan (the “Project Plan”) for the purpose of developing and
implementing special energy improvement projects, as defined in Ohio Revised Code Section
1710.01(I). The Project Plan is attached to this Petition as Exhibit C. The Corporation’s Articles
of Incorporation, as amended are attached to this Petition as Exhibit D.

Pursuant to the Project Plan, the Corporation has caused special energy improvement
projects to be provided from time to time. In accordance with Ohio Revised Code Chapter 1710
~ and the Project Plan, the Project Plan may be amended from time to time by supplemental plans
(the “Supplemental Plans”) (the Project Plan and every Supplemental Plan together constituting
the “Plan”) to provide for additional special energy improvement projects, and the District may be
enlarged from time to time to include additional property so long as at least one special energy
improvement project is designated for each parcel of real property within the additional territory
added to the District.

The Board of Directors of the Corporation has received or will receive the Supplemental
Plan attached to this Petition as Exhibit B, including the description of the special energy
improvement projects proposed to be constructed or installed on the Property (the “Authorized
Improvements™), and related materials in support of the expansion of the District to include the
Property.

As required by Ohio Revised Code Section 1710.02, the Petitioner, as the owner of the
Property, being 100% of the area proposed to be added to the District and 100% of the area



proposed to be assessed for the Authorized Improvements, hereby (a) petitions the City Council
(the “Council”) of the City of Medina, Ohio (the “City”) to (i) approve the addition of the Property
to the District and (ii) approve an amendment and supplement to the Plan by the Supplemental
Plan to include the Authorized Improvements and (b) requests that (i) the Authorized
Improvements be undertaken by the District, and (i) the total cost of those Authorized
Improvements be assessed on the Property in proportion to the special benefits that will result from
the financing of the Authorized Improvements.

In connection with this Petition and in furtherance of its purposes, the Petitioner
acknowledges that it has reviewed or caused to be reviewed (i) the Plan and the Supplemental
Plan, (ii) the plans, specifications and profiles for the Authorized Improvements, (iii) the estimate
of cost for the Authorized Improvements included in the Supplemental Plan and (iv) the schedule
of estimated special assessments to be levied for the Authorized Improvements also included in
the Supplemental Plan. The Petitioner acknowledges that the estimated special assessment is in
proportion to the benefits that may result from the financing of the Authorized Improvements.

Accordingly, the Petitioner hereby petitions for the approval of the Authorized
Improvements identified in this Petition and the Supplemental Plan attached to this Petition as
Exhibit B, as authorized under Ohio Revised Code Chapter 1710, and for the imposition of the
special assessments identified in this Petition and authorized under Ohio Revised Code Chapters
727 and 1710 (the “Special Assessments”) to pay the costs of the Authorized Improvements, in
the amount set forth on Exhibit B. The Petitioner hereby certifies, represents, and warrants to the
Corporation and the City that the actual costs of the Authorized Improvements have been
ascertained. The Petitioner further agrees that it will be solely responsible for any costs of the
Authorized Improvements in excess of the amount set forth on Exhibit B.

In the event that at any time following the date of this Petition the Property is combined or
subdivided into permanent parcels in the records of the County Auditor of Medina County, Ohio,
then the Petitioner hereby requests that the Special Assessments be allocated among the resulting
parcels in proportion to the acreage of the existing parcels that is contained in each resulting parcel
that contains a proportion of an existing parcel. The Petitioner hereby certifies, represents, and
warrants to the District and the City that the portion of the Special Assessments allocated to each
resulting parcel as described above are in proportion to, and do not exceed, the special benefits to
be conferred on the resulting parcel or resulting parcels by the Authorized Improvements identified
in this Petition.

In consideration of the City’s acceptance of this Petition and the imposition of the requested
Special Assessments, the Petitioner consents and agrees that the Property as identified in Exhibit
A shall be assessed for all of the costs of the Authorized Improvements, including any and all
architectural, engineering, legal, insurance, consulting, energy auditing, planning, acquisition,
installation, construction, surveying, testing and inspection costs; the amount of any damages
resulting from the Authorized Improvements and the interest on such damages; the costs incurred in
connection with the preparation, levy and collection of the Special Assessments; the cost of
purchasing and otherwise acquiring any real estate or interests in real estate; expenses of legal
services; costs of labor and material; trustee fees and other financing costs incurred in connection with
the issuance, sale, and servicing of securities, nonprofit corporate obligations, or other obligations

[\



issued or incurred to provide a loan or to secure an advance of funds to the owner of the Property or
otherwise to pay costs of the Authorized Improvements in anticipation of the receipt of the Special
Assessments, capitalized interest on, and financing reserve funds for, such securities, nonprofit
corporate obligations, or other obligations so issued, including any credit enhancement fees, trustee
fees, program administration fees, financing servicing fees, and District administrative fees and
expenses; an amount to reflect interest on unpaid Special Assessments which shall be treated as part
of the cost of the Authorized Improvements for which the Special Assessments are made at an interest
rate which shall be determined by the Corporation to be substantially equivalent to the fair market
rate that would have been borne by notes or bonds if notes or bonds had been issued by the District
or another issuer of notes or bonds to pay the costs of the Authorized Improvements; together with all
other necessary expenditures.

In consideration of the Authorized Improvements, the Petitioner, for itself and its grantees
and other successors with respect to the Property, agree to pay promptly all Special Assessments
as they become due, and agree that the determination by Council of the Special Assessments in
accordance with the terms hereof will be final, conclusive and binding upon the Petitioner and the
Property. In further consideration of the Authorized Improvements, the Petitioner covenants and
agrees to disclose, upon the transfer of the Property or any portion of the Property to be subject to
the Special Assessments for the actual costs of the Authorized Improvements set forth in Exhibit
B in the deed to the transferee or in a separate instrument recorded with respect to the Property,
the existence of any outstanding Special Assessment for the Authorized Improvements and to
require that transferee covenant to disclose that information in any subsequent deed or in a separate
instrument recorded with respect to the Property at the time of the subsequent transfer so long as
the Special Assessments remain unpaid. As a condition to each subsequent transfer while the
Special Assessments remain unpaid, the Petitioner further covenants and agrees to provide
expressly in the deed to any transferee or in a separate instrument recorded with respect to the
Property at the time of the subsequent transfer (a) for the acquisition by the transferee of the
Property subject to any outstanding Special Assessment and the transferee’s assumption of
responsibility for payment thereof and for the waiver by the transferee of any rights that the
Petitioner has waived pursuant to this Petition, and (b) the requirement that each transferee from
time to time of the Property covenant to include in the deed to any subsequent transferee or in a
separate instrument recorded with respect to the Property at the time of the subsequent transfer the
conditions described in clause (a) so long as the Special Assessments remain unpaid.

The Petitioner further acknowledges and confirms that the Special Assessments set forth
in this Petition and in the Supplemental Plan attached as Exhibit B are in proportion to, and do not
exceed, the special benefits to be conferred on the Property through the financing of the Authorized
Improvements identified in this Petition. The Petitioner further consents to the levying of the
Special Assessment against the Property by the Council. The Petitioner acknowledges that these
Special Assessments are fair, just and equitable and being imposed at the Petitioner’s specific
request. The Petitioner intends to consolidate the parcels described in Exhibit A into a single tax
parcel after the date of this Petition and hereby consents to the Special Assessments being levied
solely on such consolidated tax parcel.

The Petitioner hereby waives notice and publication of all resolutions, legal notices, and
hearings provided for in the Ohio Revised Code with respect to the Authorized Improvements and



the Special Assessments, particularly those in Ohio Revised Code Chapters 727 and 1710 and
consents to proceeding with the Authorized Improvements. Without limiting the foregoing, the

Petitioner each specifically waives any notices and rights under the following Ohio Revised Code
Sections:

» The right to notice of the adoption of the Resolution of Necessity under Ohio Revised Code
Sections 727.13 and 727.14;

» The right to limit the amount of the Special Assessment under Ohio Revised Code Sections
727.03 and 727.06, including the right to consider the Special Assessments authorized by
this Petition within the limitations contained in Ohio Revised Code Sections 727.03 and
727.06 applicable to the Special Assessments and any other special assessments properly
levied now or in the future;

e The right to file an objection to the Special Assessment under Ohio Revised Code Section
727.15;

o The right to the establishment of, and any proceedings by and any notice from an
Assessment Equalization Board under Ohio Revised Code Sections 727.16 and 727.17;

¢ Theright to file any claim for damages under Ohio Revised Code Sections 727.18 through
727.22 and Ohio Revised Code Section 727.43;

» The right to notice that bids or quotations for the Authorized Improvements may exceed
estimates by 15%,

e The right to seek a deferral of payments of Special Assessments under Ohio Revised Code
Section 727.251; and

o The right to notice of the passage of the Assessing Ordinance under Ohio Revised Code
Section 727.26.

The Petitioner, in accordance with Ohio Revised Code Section 1710.02(A), further agrees
that the Property may be included in more than one district formed under Ohio Revised Code
Chapter 1710. The Petitioner further agrees not to take any actions, or cause to be taken any
actions, to place any of the Property in an agricultural district as provided for in Ohio Revised
Code Chapter 929, and if any of the Property is in an agricultural district, the Petitioner, in
accordance with Ohio Revised Code Section 929.03, hereby grants permission to collect any
Special Assessments levied against such Property.

The Petitioner further agrees and consents to the Council promptly proceeding with all
actions necessary to facilitate the acquisition, installation, equipment, and improvement of the
Authorized Improvements and to impose the Special Assessments.

The Petitioner acknowledges that the Special Assessments set forth in this Petition and in
the Exhibits to this Petition are final Special Assessments and the Petitioner, without limitation of
the other waivers contained in this Petition, also waive any rights it may now or in the future have
to object to those assessments, any notice provided for in Ohio Revised Code Chapters 727 and
1710, and any rights of appeal provided for in such Chapters or otherwise. The Petitioner further
acknowledges and represents that the final assessments may be levied at such time as determined
by the City and regardless of whether or not any of the parts or portions of the Authorized
Improvements have been completed.



The Petitioner further acknowledges that the final Special Assessments for the Authorized
Improvements, when levied against the Property, will be payable in cash within thirty (30) days
from the date of passage of the resolution or ordinance confirming and levying the final
assessments and that if any of such assessments are not paid in cash they will be certified to the
County Auditor of Medina County, Ohio as provided by law, to be placed on the tax list and
duplicate and collected as other taxes are collected. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, the
Petitioner hereby waives the right to pay the final assessments for the Authorized Improvements
in cash within thirty (30) days from the passage of the resolution or ordinance confirming and
levying the final assessments and requests that the unpaid final assessments for the Authorized
Improvements shall be payable in thirty-six (36) semi-annual installments, with collection
commencing on the earliest date permitted by said County Auditor, but in no event sooner than
the semiannual installment payment of first-half real property taxes for tax year 2025 due with
respect to the Property.

Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 1710.03(C), the Petitioner hereby appoints as its
designee to carry out the rights and responsibilities of District members under Ohio Revised Code
Chapter 1710 such representative as may be duly appointed by the Petitioner from time to time,
which designation shall not expire unless and until the Petitioner shall notify the Secretary of the
Corporation that said designation is no longer in effect or that Petitioner has made a new
designation to replace said designation.

The Petitioner further waives any and all questions as to the constitutionality of the laws
under which Authorized Improvements shall be acquired, installed, equipped and improved or the
proceedings relating to the acquisition, installation, equipment, and improvement of the
Authorized Improvements, the jurisdiction of the City acting in connection with the acquisition,
installation, equipment, and improvement of the Authorized Improvements, all irregularities,
errors and defects, if any, procedural or otherwise, in the levying of the assessments or the
undertaking of the Authorized Improvements, and specifically waives any and all rights of appeal,
including any right of appeal as provided in Ohio Revised Code Title 7, and specifically but
without limitation, Ohio Revised Code Chapters 727 and 1710, as well as all such similar rights
under the Constitution of the State of Ohio. The Petitioner each represents that it will not contest,
in a judicial or administrative proceeding, the undertaking of the Authorized Improvements, the
estimated assessments, the final assessments, and any Special Assessments levied against the
Property for the Authorized Improvements, or any other matters related to the foregoing,

The Petitioner acknowledges and understands that the City and the Corporation will be
relying upon this Petition in taking actions pursuant to it and expending resources. This Petition
therefore shall be irrevocable and shall be binding upon the Petitioner, any successors, assigns, or
affiliates of the Petitioner, the Property, and any grantees, mortgagees, lessees, or transferees of
the Property. The Petitioner acknowledges that it has had an opportunity to be represented by legal
counsel in this undertaking and has knowingly waived the rights identified in this Petition.

The Petitioner further deposes and states that this Petition and actions provided for herein
impose burdens and obligations upon the Property and provide for Special Assessments to be
levied upon the Property in accordance with this Petition, and that this Petition is available for
inspection at the office of the Clerk of Council of the City.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Petitioner has caused this petition to be executed by its
undersigned duly authorized signatory.

PETITIONER:
LEGACY HOTEL OF MEDINA, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company
-
‘ ) - /’ . \\) :
By: ( i ~
Name: J asong’mgs&lww” T
Title: CEO

Address for notices to Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC: 3991 N. Jefferson Street
Medina, Ohio 44256

STATE OF OHIO )
) SS:
COUNTY OF MEDINA )

The foregoing Petition was acknowledged before me this 22nd day of April, 2024, by Jason
T. Stevenson, the CEO of Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company, on
behalf of such company, who acknowledged that he/she did sign the foregoing instrument in the
capacity indicated and that the same is his/her free act and deed individually and in such capacity.

This is an acknowledgement clause. No oath or affirmation was administered to the signer.

e

- R
> e \““\.‘__h _»/_,--"""‘/"
" CATHERINE MARIE l():;u;% e— o
H % ATARY PUBLIC, STATE i - : el
‘E}}‘ “}? Pi‘);é;i:;"kx‘ Expives Yoy 5, 095 Notary Public //
‘;_"‘f \C) ; ///:///
o SO



EXHIBIT A
DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

The real property subject to this Petition and owned by Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC is
further described below:

The Land is described as follows:

Parcel One/Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-397

Situated in the City of Medina, County of Medina, and State of Ohio and being known as the whole of Medina City
Lot 9415, as shown by the plat as recorded in Document No. 2023PL000045 of Medina County Recorder's
Records, containing 0.9491 acres of land, more or less but subject to all legal highways and all covenants and
agreements of records. This legal description was prepared based on a survey by and/or under the supervision
of Douglas S. Jewel P.S. #S-8007 by Cunningham & Associates, Inc. in May 2023.

Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-397
Address commonly known as: 245-257 South Court Street, Medina, OH 44256

Parcel No. Two/Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-253

Situated in the City of Medina, County of Medina and State of Ohio: Knawn as being a part of Lots 366, 367 and
364 of said City bounded and described as follows: Beginning at an iron pin in the west line of Lot 367, 47.8 feet
south from a pin at the south side of a 16.5 alley, and extending east in Lots 367 and 364, 181.8 feet to a stone;
thence south and 16.0 feet east from the west line of Lot 364, 71.2 feet o an iron pin; thence west in Lots 364 and
366, 182.2 feet to an iron pin in the west line of Lot 366; thence north along the west line of Lots 366 and 367, 71.2
feet to an iron pin and the place of beginning, be the same more or less, but subject to all legal highways. As
surveyed on May 11, 1949 by Wayne Anderson and A. W. Nettleton, Registered Surveyors Nos. 599 and 1577.
Being the same land as conveyed by Charles J. Wass to Amelia Gunkleman by quit-claim deed, dated August 26,
1938, and recorded in Vol. 139, Page 355 of Medina County Records of Deeds.

Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-263
Address commonly known as: 226 South Elmwood Avenue, Medina, OH 44256

Parcel No. Three/Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-252

Situated in the City of Medina, County of Medina and State of Ohio: Known as being the middie part of Lot 366
and the west part of the south part of Lot 364 on the Medina Township side of said City, and bounded and
described as follows: Beginning at a point in the west line of Lot 366, 5 feet north of the southwest corner
thereof; thence north along the west line of said Lot, 55 feet, thence east paraliel with the south line of said Lot,
184 feet to land in said Lot 364 now or formerly owned by Mark Hazen; thence south along the west line of said
Hazen's land 55 feet; thence west parallel with the south line of said Lots, 184 feet to the place of beginning, be
the same more or less, but subject to all legal highways.

be the same more or less, but subject to all legal highways.

Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-252

Address commonly known as: South Eimwood Avenue, Medina, OH 44256

A-1



EXHIBIT B
CITY OF MEDINA ENERGY SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT PROJECT PLAN
SUPPLEMENT TO PLAN FOR LEGACY HOTEL & EVENT CENTER

As more fully provided by the City of Medina Energy Special Improvement an Ohio nonprofit
corporation (the “Corporation”) dba Medina County Energy County Energy Improvement District
(the “District”) Project Plan (together with all previously approved supplemental plans, the
“Plan”), has undertaken the administration of a property assessed clean energy (“PACE”) program
(the “Program™). The Program will provide financing secured by special assessments on real
property for special energy improvement projects.

Through a Petition submitted in connection with this Supplemental Plan, Legacy Hotel of Medina,
LLC (the “Property Owner”) has requested and consented to certain special assessments by the
District with respect to certain real property owned by the Property as described further on
Attachment A (the “Property™). A proposed schedule for special assessments to be assessed against
the Property to pay the costs of the Authorized Improvements is attached hereto as Attachment A.

In the event that at any time following the date of this Supplement to the Plan the Property is
combined or subdivided into permanent parcels in the records of the County Auditor of Medina
County, Ohio, then the Property Owner requested in the Petition that the Special Assessments be
allocated among the resulting parcels in proportion to the acreage of the existing parcels that are
contained in each resulting parcel that contains a portion of an existing parcel. The Property Owner
further certified, represented, and warranted to the District and the City (as defined herein) in the
Petition that the portion of the Special Assessments allocated to each resulting parcel as described
above are in proportion to, and do not exceed, the special benefits to be conferred on the resulting
parcel or resulting parcels by the Authorized Improvements identified in this Supplement to the
Plan.

The Property Owner hereby certifies, represents, and warrants to the City of Medina, Ohio (the
“City”) and the District that the actual costs of the Authorized Improvements have been
ascertained. The Authorized Improvements applicable to the Property will include: building
envelope, electrical and lighting, plumbing and domestic hot water improvements resulting in
energy efficiency savings, HVAC and related improvements. As required by Ohio Revised Code
Section 1710.01(K), said Authorized Improvements are anticipated to reduce or support the
reduction of energy consumption, allow for reduction in demand, or support the production of
clean, renewable energy. A detailed description of the Authorized Improvements is attached to this
Supplemental Plan as Attachment B. The Property Owner hereby acknowledges and agrees that
the special benefit to be provided to the Property under this Supplemental Plan is the
consummation of financing to pay the costs of the Authorized Improvements, which shall be
conferred immediately upon the consummation of the financing, and that the benefits are in
proportion to and do not exceed the amount of the special assessments to be levied to pay the costs
of the financing.



The Property Owner will cause this Supplemental Plan promptly to be filed with the Board of
Directors of the District and with the Clerk of Council of the City.

The undersigned Property Owner of the Property to be located within the District
acknowledges that the District and the City are subject to Ohio public records laws, including
Ohio Revised Code Section 149.43 ef seq. The undersigned Property Owner agrees to the
disclosure of certain Property Owner information by the District or the City to the extent
required by law.

B-2



BY EXECUTING THIS SUPPLEMENTAL PLAN, THE PROPERTY OWNER
IDENTIFIED BELOW HEREBY AUTHORIZES AND CONSENTS TO THIS
SUPPLEMENTAL PLAN, AND ALL DISTRICT DOCUMENTS (AS DEFINED (N THE
PLAN) AND AGREES TO PERFORM THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE PROPERTY
OWNER CONTAINED IN THIS SUPPLEMENTAL PLAN.

PROPERTY OWNER:
LEGACY HOTEL OF MEDINA, LLC,
an Ohio limited liability company

By: LT
Name: Jason T. Stevenson
Title: CEO

Address for notices to Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC: 3991 N. Jefferson Street
Medina, Ohio 44256

B-3



SUPPLEMENTAL PLAN—ATTACHMENT A
Description of the Property

The Land is described as follows:

Parcel One/Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-397

Situated in the City of Medina, County of Medina, and State of Ohio and being known as the whole of Medina City
Lot 9415, as shown by the plat as recorded in Document Na. 2023PL000045 of Medina County Recorder's
Records, containing 0.9491 acres of land, more or less but subject to all legal highways and all covenants and
agreements of records. This legal description was prepared based on a survey by and/or under the supervision
of Douglas S. Jewel P.S. #S-8007 by Cunningham & Associates, Inc. in May 2023,

Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-397

Address commonly known as: 245-257 South Court Street, Medina, OH 44256

Parcel No. Two/Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-253

Situated in the City of Medina, County of Medina and State of Ohio: Known as being a part of Lots 366, 367 and
364 of said City bounded and described as follows: Beginning at an iron pin in the west line of Lot 367, 47.8 feet
south from a pin at the south side of a 16.5 alley, and extending east in Lots 367 and 364, 181.8 feet to a stone;
thence south and 16.0 feet east from the west line of Lot 364, 71.2 feet to an iron pin; thence west in Lots 364 and
366, 182.2 feet to an iron pin in the west line of Lot 366; thence north along the west line of L.ots 366 and 367, 71.2
feet to an iron pin and the place of beginning, be the same more or less, but subject to all legal highways. As
surveyed on May 11, 1949 by Wayne Anderson and A. W. Nettleton, Registered Surveyors Nos. 599 and 1577.
Being the same land as conveyed by Charles J. Wass to Amelia Gunkleman by quit-claim deed, dated August 26,
1938, and recorded in Vol. 139, Page 355 of Medina County Records of Deeds.

Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-253
Address commonly known as: 226 South Eimwood Avenue, Medina, OH 44256

Parcel No. Three/Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-252

Situated in the City of Medina, County of Medina and State of Ohio: Known as being the middle part of Lot 366
and the west part of the south part of Lot 364 on the Medina Township side of said City, and bounded and
described as follows: Beginning at a point in the west line of Lot 366, 5 feet north of the southwest corner
thereof; thence north along the west line of said Lot, 55 feet, thence east paralle! with the south line of said Lot,
184 feet to land In said Lot 364 now or formerly owned by Mark Hazen; thence south along the west line of said
Hazen's land 55 feet; thence west parallel with the south line of said Lots, 184 feet to the place of beginning, be
the same more or less, but subject to all legal highways.

be the same more or less, but subject to all legal highways.

Permanent Parcel No. 028-19A-21-252

Address commonly known as: South Eimwood Avenue, Medina, OH 44256






CREATING MEDINA CITY LOT NUMBER

BEING A REPLAT OF A PART OF MEDINA CITY LOTS 364, 366, AND 367 AND THE WHOLE OF MEDINA CITY LOT 9415
SITUATED IN THE CITY OF MEDINA, COUNTY OF MEDINA AND STATE OF OHIO

PLANS PREPARED BY:

CUNNINGHAM & ASSOCIATES, INC.

CIVIL ENGINEERING and SURVEYING
203 W LIBERYY ST. MEDINA, OHIO 44256 (330} 725-3980

ACCEPTANCE - ) APPROVALS
p o
KNOW AL MEN BY THESE PROSENTS, THAT LECAGY HOTEL OF MEDWA, LG, . 2 APPROVED FOR TRANSFER WIS ___ DAY OF 2
OWNER OF THE LANDS [MBRACTO WTHN THS REPLAT MEREBY ACKNOWLDGE 175 g
REPLAT TO BE MY FREE ACT ARD DEED. 1 HEREBY CIRDFY THAT THERE ARE NO B wn
TAXES OR ACANST THE LANDS WITHM TIsS REPLAT, o -
REVEITIgE Y
RN Pubhic Square £ Washington St RECEIVED FOR TRANSFER THIS____ DAY OF . 2023
v
HERY: .34 . o«
URE: 3
2 RETRE TIORTY KT
(=3
- =z
COURtY OF — — 3 2
S5 g e RECEUIVED AMD RECOROCD WS __ DAY OF . 2023 AT
@ AN,
TAT o
i ! RECORDED M FLAT DOCUMENT NO.
BEFORE ME A HOTARY SUBLIC BN AND FOR SA COURTY AND STATL. PERSONALLY » fee: 8
APPLARED THE ABOVE HAMED "o o
ACKNOMEIGED THE MAXHG OF THE FORECONC WSTRUMENT AND TnE SIGNWG OF 2
S FLAT T0 BE WIS OWN FREC ACT AND OEED. o TESTRIONY WHEREOF 1 HAVE g
HEREUNTO SEY MY HARD AHD OFFIOAL SEAL AT @ 7.3 BTRE TR RN
oo TS BAY OF 2024, = ®
Vi st i LS b & Semith kel 2
o
CERNEICATION;
Ly,
%w..»vuﬂ.mﬁ 1 MEREBY CIRTFY DS ONAWNG 10 BE OF A SURVEY MADE BY ME AND/OK
& URDER WY DRECT SUPERWSION AND 10 BE TRUT AND ACCURATE 10 THE BEST OF
§ 7 E MY KNOMEDGE.
= =
gef CITE OSTANCES ARL GVEN i FECT AND DEGHAL PARIS TMEMLOF.  BLAMMCS ARE
io B PEFERENCED T0 AN ASSUMCO MEROMN AND ARE USED 10 INDICATC ANGLLS ONLY.

%
“teg,

Ths dovarent woe wighully basd by R Jowd m May 03 24

i dscznad s oot soenitwed ¢ socted
OOURCAS S, JESEL ORI PHOPERSIOHAL SURVEYON S~ 0T DK

PROJECT NO. 22137 SHEET 1 OF 2

Sarersk

> R
ety

; s

2,




. . . . ) B WASHINGTON STREET
|4 NSOITIOW (66' 7w} -
O
L MIWISIEW AELIE Gbs. 4824 Res. (0~108) Z
L ) ~
S
T h 1 ' T N m g3
{ - - - E -
L i SHN g
i T — > clIsis
ALLEY (16.5' R/W) | 4 K HINES
;mé.n. 1" azn“.qn. uﬂ“ﬂ“ € “ lllllllllllllllllllllllllll ~ W 3 w.vm
oh ¥ uer o8 b | 05 N 993043651 o — e — e Om,.
i - - . O St i 0. w 3%
= ' 5
rE 7Y BOARD TRENTRET e e ] P S
mw N Cohbs SRS JI—. % .m& SEESERAES r ver Joe (P1) S “: Hix 2
(% 0OC. GR. 978, #G 503 1 AR PROPERTIES, 14C &$ & Fw S3
S c\. o ' 00 wa. Z0teckDi2787 Y} A o 3 {J9Iss
3 NI AN arasie_saer hew & use 08/50000 L7 =~ Q g
& ~ ||z
N ¢ IR
S . P g N[N
S o < B ISR
N & +m NEW MEDINA CITY ey 3413 ; . Zljzln=
3 1 .ﬂ. 20231000045 ¥ sHEE:
q 3k n_m LOT wesacr wate, o ueoen uc M 2 Sz
3 T —— s . ]
=k : . 1.4795 AC. osoe/2023 id | P
5 S 12 . 2 S
: | . 5
5 8 . T .
. b g _ G
—— 2 ~
» M & _.v o r/// NN | M [®]
* = 1 o > &y
! n_r. LEGACY HOTEL OF sOWA, LLC Q3 _m R = &
m 4 Poc. #o. 202300020119 b e sy 1 4 4 3 2 &
i 12/29/2023 : upitt 3 m &
g Runwe vl 43l NI # =13
] -
4, Y 3 S
V%W’{ T RYRSTY 16T Mad 500 Hes & Epwl\l.w . . ,,,,/%Aw m
& 584" Rac. &
* e 303 1) R ” 359 w_“& W
. VMEKH PROPERTES, LLC . %v i cs 383 {P7) d e 338 (41 “
1 s “ o e .
H {3 e
] 01/16/20 0I/17,1984 b ~~ K
N
II.J Jy
wes 362 (A1) .w“i o
uetL 358 (P7) PARCEL 1 L] 3 g
l.ll.l..\ll|\.l!|_ lllllll lm T T e e e e w m W
t ! & ol &
e 365 (#1) i “ e 362 (P1) 3 o
PARCEL 2 1 G
) _ , oy : IRET:
STACE L ADVAC H ! DOC o, Sorsciasy & g M
02/29/1994 i t 10/10/2019 m W W =
] 1 B M &
-t 4 1 £ E g
3 V™ THar3r 20w 897V fac & Usd, (-108) & (S m 58
&g o sEd3C
o7 3G
°
. ~ . A 4 _ _WESTSMITII ROAD
L4 HBIE 24 W (60° R/W) - -
BEFERENCE. LEGEND;
HEDNA COUNTY RECORDERS RECORDS
AT VOL. 25, PG, 32 nd. — FOUNG @ — S/B° RON PN ST W/CAP STAMPED CUMMINGHAM - t1ay
risapsand sa - NEASURED O -~ ROM PN FOUND (NO CAP) o%a O Cre Jouk 1w
DEEDS AS USTED HEREOR e - OBSERVID 6 - oRalL naL A 3 L TN
- EL 2 - YeZ
30 [ 30 P HEDWA LOUSTT ENGHEEN'S SURVEY RECORDS Ree. - RECORD X{ - wAG wax sCY i E N
o ) oy MM ﬁ Be %, PE T30 s - USID e - uac Han FounD Z 85
Seam 1% w 300 BX. H, 8% 3, £C. 1620 @ - NON Pw TOUND W/CHP q&% )
BEARINGS ARE 10 AN ASSUMED MERDIAN ax t £6. TAX 800K 1980, PG. 1 Ky o N
ANO ARE USED 10 DENOTC ANCLES ORKY. T - cosnus wowe gy




Schedule of Special Assessments

The Property will be subject to special assessments for the Authorized Improvements in
accordance with Ohio Revised Code Chapter 1710.

Total assessment costs: $9,115,993.98
Estimated semi-annual special assessments: $253,222.06
Number of semi-annual special assessments: 36
First annual installment due: January 31, 2026
Special Assessment Date” Total Special Assessment
Amount™
January 31, 2026 $253,222.06
July 31, 2026 253,222.06
January 31, 2027 253,222.06
July 31,2027 253,222.06
January 31, 2028 253,222.06
July 31, 2028 253,222.06
January 31, 2029 253,222.06
July 31, 2029 253,222.06
January 31, 2030 253,222.06
July 31, 2030 253,222.06
January 31, 2031 253,222.06
July 31, 2031 253,222.06
January 31, 2032 253,222.06
July 31,2032 253,222.06
January 31, 2033 253,222.06
July 31, 2033 253,222.06
January 31, 2034 253,222.06
July 31,2034 253,222.06
January 31, 2035 253,222.06
July 31,2035 253,222.06
January 31, 2036 253,222.06
July 31,2036 253,222.06
January 31, 2037 253,222.06
July 31, 2037 253,222.06
January 31, 2038 253,222.06
July 31,2038 253,222.06
January 31, 2039 253,222.06
July 31,2039 253,222.06
January 31, 2040 253,222.06
July 31, 2040 253,222.06
January 31, 2041 253,222.06
July 31,2041 253,222.06
January 31, 2042 253,222.06

B-5




July 31, 2042 253,222.06
January 31, 2043 253,222.06
July 31, 2043 253,222.06

* Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Chapter 323, the Special Assessment Payment Dates identified
in this Exhibit 2 are subject to adjustment by the Medina County Auditor.

** Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 727.36, the Medina County Auditor may charge and

collect a fee in addition to the amounts listed in this Exhibit 2.

B-6



SUPPLEMENTAL PLAN—ATTACHMENT B
Description of Authorized Improvements

[Attach Energy Savings Certification]



MEDINA HOTEL - PACE FINANCING WORKSHEET

Energy Savings {Annual §} Energy Savings {Annual %)
1 to Al Comp: to ¥ Mare Efficient than
tem No. . improvement Description Useful Life {Years) improvement Cost System Systemn Alternative System _ §f “Yes", please provide a di ion of the Improved effici {Optional}
1 Lighting System (inclusive of controls) 25-30 years The bullding lighting system utilizes LED's across the board with automated controls utiliting sensors in
private rooms and master relay contral panels with photocells, timeclacks, and timer switches in pubhic
$225.000 X X% YES X_ NO____  arcas. The lighting eMficiency currently utilizes 57% of the allowable watts per square foot per code.
2 HVAC and Controls High Efficient VRP Packaged Units 15 The VRP Packaged unit achieves 15.0 SEER®, fow ambient heat pumnp, humidity control and complies with
20 yesrs $825.000 sx X% YES_X_ NO ASHRAE 62.1. Includes and MERV B akr filter. Coaling is 3800- 10000 BTU, heating is 2800-50008TY.
3 Buliding Eavelope (Roofing System) 30-40 years The roofing system consists of wood framed trusses with R-38 cavity batt insulation. In addition, tapered
$195,600 x X% YES X_ NO rigid Insulation covers the exterior of the roof with 3 minimum of 2” and 2 .60 TPO membrane finish,
4 Elevator System 40-50 years. The el are h less geariess that el the need for i space for
$480,000 $x X% YES X_ NO machine rooms or control raoms, These elevators are also more efficient bacause they have regenerative
drives, LED lighting, and sieep mode for elevator lights and fans.
Building Envelope (Window System) Fiberglass Windows - 20-40 years The window system will consist mostly of both operable and fined fiberglass windows with insulated glass
Storefront/Curtainwall - 50+ years and 2 low-e coating. Aluminum storefront and curtain wall systems are 3iso present on the project with
$330,000 $x X% insulated glass and a low-e coating.
Building Envelope {Skin} 60+ years The wall system consists of 246 waod framed walls with R-19 cavity batt insufation. In addition, continuous
$1,425,000 $x X% YES _X_ NO exterior insulation covers the extersior walls and are clad with either masonry or EIFS.
7 Energy Star Appliances 8-20 years Appliances will be energy star certified.
$150,000 $X X% YES _X_ NO
a Plumbing Equipment/Fixtures 20-30 years $130,000 Unit fixtures to be low flow fintures
$% X% YES _X_ NO
TOTAL (improvement cost, energy savings §} 760,000
OR AVERAGE lenergy savings %} $2.260.900
Prepared by: JohAn A. Scavuzzo/ Pride One Construction

Date: 8/7/2023




EXHIBIT C

CITY OF MEDINA ENERGY SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT PROJECT PLAN

[See Attached]

C-1



2024 PLAN FOR THE IMPROVEMENTS, SERVICES AND OPERATION
OF THE MEDINA COUNTY ENERGY SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT

Presented and Adopted at the Annual Meeting, November 30, 2023
Amended and Approved at ESID Meeting of April 23, 2024

I Overview.

This Plan is a revision to the Initial Plan for the Improvements, Services and Operation of
the Medina County Energy Special Improvement District (“the Plan”) which was developed in
accordance with the requirements of Revised Code Chapter 1710 of the Ohio Revised Code and
was approved by Ordinance passed by City of Medina in 2019. The public improvements and
public services to be provided hereunder will be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any public
improvements or public services provided by any participating political subdivision. The
geographical area of the District may extend to any parcel of property within the boundaries of
any participating municipality or township, provided that the parcel of property is approved to be
added to the energy special improvement district (“ESID”) by the vote of a majority of the
members of the Board of Directors, and so long as each such additional parcel includes a proposed
special energy improvement project.

The board regularly reviews the expansion of the District’s financing activity to support
energy projects throughout City of Medina upon request and the identification and approval of
qualified projects. The District enters into Energy Project Agreements and Loan Agreements with
property owners and the appropriate Cities, Villages, Townships and the associated ESID to
provide the project financing.

The District shall undertake such energy improvement projects and render such related
services as its Board of Directors shall authorize and approve, and for the purpose of paying the
costs of such projects and services, participate in the process of levying special assessments in
accordance with the applicable provisions of Revised Code Chapters 1710 and 727.

The District shall offer energy efficiency programs and renewable energy programs to
property owners within the District. These programs may include options such as energy audits,
the installation of efficiency equipment, and retrofit of buildings with high-efficiency materials,
renewable energy installations including wind, solar energy, biomass, or any other current or future
technology contemplated by Revised Code Chapter 1710 or any other similar law. The District
may enter into arrangements and contracts with businesses, municipal or investor owned utilities
or other entities to provide energy efficiency and alternative and advanced energy services to
businesses and individuals. These programs may include options such as energy audits, the
installation of efficiency equipment, and retrofit of buildings with high-efficiency materials,
renewable energy installations including wind, solar energy, biomass, or any other current or future
technology and authorized under Revised Code Chapter 1710 or any similar law.

Page 1 of 7



IL. Operation of the District.

The District is created by legislative action taken by participating political subdivisions
(municipal corporations and townships) and is governed by a Board of Directors of a nonprofit
corporation, the City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District Corporation (“the
Corporation”). The District shall initially operate through the donated services and facilities of its
members. The Corporation, acting for the District, may hire employees, acquire professional
services and occupy facilities upon the approval of the Board of Directors if the costs of such
employees, services and facilities are specified in a subsequent amendment of this Plan. The Board
of Directors shall seek contributions from its members to provide for necessary liability and other
insurance until such time as the District has identified an ongoing source of funds for its operation.

Upon the first meeting of the members of the District, who shall be members of the
Corporation, the members shall select members of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, in
addition to the members of the Board of Directors selected by the mayor and council of the
participating political subdivisions. The Board shall adopt a Code of Regulations which shall
address all other matters of operation that are not otherwise dictated by the Articles of
Incorporation or provided for as a matter of law. At its July 11, 2019 meeting, the Board adopted
a Code of Regulations.

The members of the Board of Directors shall elect a Chair, Vice-Chair, Secretary, and
Treasurer of the Board. These officers shall serve at the Board’s pleasure. A Director may be
elected to more than one office, except that the Director elected as Treasurer shall not be elected
to any other office of the Board. Officers serve for a two-year term. The officers elected at the
November 1, 2022 meeting who will serve through the November, 2024 meeting are as follows:
Chair — Kimberly Marshall; Vice-Chair — Bethany Dentler; Treasurer — Scott Miller; Secretary —
Grant Aungst.

Elections occurred again at the November, 2023 Board Meeting to name new officers to
replace vacancies on the board. The officers elected at the November 30, 2023 meeting who will
serve through the November, 2024 meeting are as follows: Treasurer — Brett Thomas; Secretary —
Matt Springer. Other officers previously elected will continue serving through the November 2024
meeting.

III.  Adding Members to the District

Upon approval by a majority of the members of the Board, parcels of property within the
area of the participating political subdivisions may be added to the District and the owner of that
parcel shall become a member of the District with all of the rights of members as provided under
law. If a property owner not within the area of one of the District’s participating political
subdivisions submits an application to become a member, and a majority of the Board approves
the application, the Corporation and the property owner shall jointly submit a petition to the
political subdivision in question to bring the parcel into the District. In all cases, the parcel shall
have a plan for a special energy improvement project on the parcel.

Page 2 of 7



For the 2024 Plan, the District will continue to market the PACE Energy Efficiency
Program to small commercial businesses and seek their interest in joining the District. Marketing
efforts will target sectors such as schools, medical facilities, contractors and engineers, banks,
economic development agencies, vendors, energy services companies, municipalities and
townships, chambers of commerce, improvement districts and others. Advertisement of the
program will include development of a program brochure, material for website, social media,
newsletters, case studies and more. The Board will evaluate adding a residential PACE program
as soon as feasible.

IV. Plan for Public Improvements and Public Services

The 2019-2020 Plan called for a special energy improvement project within the City of
Medina. In 2019-2020, the Better Buildings Northwest Ohio program provided funding for energy
efficiency improvements to one building. In 2020, 2021, and 2022, other projects were identified
and are in process. The District works with property owners to secure the building owners’ consent
and petition the property owner to join the District.

The District may undertake educational activities to advise property owners throughout the
participating political subdivisions and in areas in which political subdivisions may elect to join
the District about the benefits of participation in the District.

The District shall update its Plan as necessary to reflect the additional activities and
additional energy special improvement projects it intends to undertake.

As owners of parcels desiring the assistance of the District in undertaking special energy
improvement projects are identified, considered and approved by the Board, such parcels will be
added to the District and the owners of the parcels will become members entitled to the rights of
membership under law and the Articles of Incorporation.

As authorized pursuant to R.C. 1710.06, the District may enter into contracts with the
participating political subdivisions for the sale, lease, lease with an option to purchase, conveyance
of other interests in, or other contracts for the acquisition, construction, maintenance, repair,
furnishing, equipping, operation, or improvement of any special energy improvement project by
the special improvement district, between a participating political subdivision and the special
improvement district, and between the special improvement district and any owner of real property
in the special improvement district on which a special energy improvement project has been
acquired, installed, equipped, or improved. Further, in accordance with the statute, the District
may aggregate the renewable energy credits generated by one or more special energy improvement
projects within District, upon the consent of the owners of the credits and for the purpose of
negotiating and completing the sale of such credits.

V. Plan to Secure Financing to Fund Public Improvements & Public Services
The District will enter into loan agreements with eligible funding entities.

Page 3 of 7



Exhibit A: Addendum to 2019-2020 Plan

Project 2020-1: Medina Township — Sanitary Engineer Lighting Upgrade
Property Owner: Board of County Commissioners of Medina County, Ohio
Parcel Number: 026-06B-37-001
Parcel Address: 3935 Weymouth Road, Medina, OH 44256
Project Description: Replacement of 4 lighting units with LED lighting
Cost: $466.68
Proposed Payment Schedule for Special Assessments: 1 year (2 payments of $233.34)
Date Approved by ESID Board: February 10, 2020
* Project not yet started

Project 2020-2: Brunswick Hills Township — Sanitary Engineer Lighting Upgrade
Property Owner: Board of County Commissioners of Medina County, Ohio
Parcel Number: 001-02C-02-012
Parcel Address: 1400 Substation Road, Brunswick, Ohio, 44212
Project Description: Replacement of 2 lighting units with LED lighting
Cost: $385.86
Proposed Payment Schedule for Special Assessments: | year (2 payments of $192.93)
Date Approved by ESID Board: February 10, 2020
* Project not yet started

Project 2020-3: City of Brunswick ~ Sanitary Engineer Lighting Upgrade
Property Owner: City of Brunswick, State of Ohio
Parcel Number: 003-18B-03-141, 003-18B-03-115
Parcel Address: 15 Carpenter Road, Brunswick, OH 44212
Project Description: Replacement of 1 lighting unit with LED lighting
Cost: $116.67
Proposed Payment Schedule for Special Assessments: | year (2 payments of $58.34)
Date Approved by ESID Board: February 10, 2020
* Project replaced by 2021-01

Project 2020-4: Montville Township — Sanitary Engineer Lighting Upgrade
Property Owner: Board of County Commissioners of Medina County, Ohio
Parcel Number: 030-11A-12-035
Parcel Address: 6190 Highland Green, Medina, OH 44256
Project Description: Replacement of 2 lighting units with LED lighting
Cost: $560.00
Proposed Payment Schedule for Special Assessments: 1 year (2 payments of $280.00)
Date Approved by ESID Board: February 10, 2020
* Project not yet started

Addendum approved by ESID Board on February 10, 2020
* Updated on November 30, 2023

Page 4 of 7



Exhibit B: Addendum to 2021 Plan

Project 2021-1 (replaces Project 2020-3 from 2020 Plan):
City of Brunswick — Lighting Upgrade

Property Owner: City of Brunswick, State of Ohio

Parcel Number: 003-18B-430-10

Parcel Address: 4095 Center Road, Brunswick, OH 44212

Project Description: Replacement of 1 lighting unit with LED lighting (4 bulbs)

Cost: $35.96 _

Proposed Payment Schedule for Special Assessments: 1 year (1 payment of $35.96, maximum)
Date Approved by ESID Board: April 15,2021

* Project completed

Addendum approved by ESID Board on April 13, 2021
* Updated on November 30, 2023

Page 5 of 7



Exhibit C: Addendum to 2021 Plan

Project 2021-2:
Village of Spencer — Energy Efficiency Upgrades to Manufacturing Plant

Property Owner: The Spencer Manufacturing Company (dba Spencer Forge)

Parcel Number: 037-27A-031-72

Parcel Address: 225 N. Main Street, Spencer, OH 44275

Project Description: Energy efficiency projects (HVAC, roof, windows, lighting)

Cost: $500,000 Estimated

Proposed Payment Schedule for Special Assessments: __(TBD) years (# TBD ) payments of
($TBD)

Date Reviewed by ESID Board (approved for presentation to Village): September 28, 2021

* Project not yet started

Addendum approved by ESID Board on November 22, 2021
* Updated on November 30, 2023

Page 6 of 7



Exhibit D: Addendum to 2024 Plan

Project 2024-1:
City of Medina — Energy Efficiency Project for Construction of Legacy Hotel of Medina

Property Owner: Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC

Parcel Numbers: 028-19A-21-344, 028-19A-21-397, 028-19A-21-252, 028-19A-21-253
(to be consolidated prior to closing, parcel ID TBD)

Parcel Address: 257 S Court Street, Medina, Ohio 44256

Project Description: Energy efficiency projects (HVAC, roof, windows, lighting) for construction
of a hotel and attached event venue.

Cost: $4,580,000 in PACE loan included in project total of $22,902,279

Proposed Payment Schedule for Special Assessments: 18 years (# 36) payments of ($ 253.222.06)
Date Originally Approved by ESID Board: November 30, 2023

Date of Amended Addendum Approved by ESID Board: April 23, 2024

Addendum approved by ESID Board on November 3 0, 2023
Amended addendum approved by ESID Board on April 23, 2024

Page 7 of 7



EXHIBIT D

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
CITY OF MEDINA ENERGY SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

[See Attached]

D-1



S Toll Free: (877) SOS-FILE (877-767-3453) | Central Ohio: (614) 466-3910
OFFICE OF THE | s

Ohio Secretary of State

www.OhioSecretaryofState.gov | Busserv@OhioSecretaryofState.gov

File online or for more information: www.OHBusinessCentral.com

Filing Form Cover Letter

Please return the approval certificate to:

Name {Individual or Business Name):

Medina County Economic Development Corporation

To the Attention of (#necessary):

Bethany Dentler

Address: 144 N. Broadway Street, Suite 202

City: Medina

State Ohio v ZIP Code: 144256
Phone Number: {330-722-9215 E-mail Address: |bdentler@medinacounty.org

0 Check here if you would like to receive important notices via e-mail from the Ohio Secretary of State's office regarding

O

Business Services.

Check here if you would like to be signed up for our Filing Notification System for the business entity being created or
updated by filing this form. This is a free service provided to notify you via e-mail when any document is filed on your
business record.

5328

Please make checks or money orders payable to: "Ohio Secretary of State”

Type of Service Being Requested: (PLEASE CHECK ONE BOX BELOW)

@

Regular Service: Only the filing fee listed on page one of the form is required and the filing will be
processed in approximately 3-7 business days. The processing time may vary based on the volume of
filings received by our office.

Expedite Service 1: By including an Expedite fee of $100.00, in addition to the regular filing fee on page
one of the form, the filing will be processed within 2 business days after it is received by our office.

Expedite Service 2: By including an Expedite fee of $200.00, in addition to the regular filing fee on page
one of the form, the filing will be processed within 1 business day after it is received by our office. This
service is only available to walk-in customers who hand deliver the document to the Client Service Center.

Expedite Service 3: By including an Expedite fee of $300.00, in addition to the regular filing fee on page
one of the form, the filing will be processed within 4 hours after it is received by our office, if received by 1:00
p.m. This service Is only available to walk-In customers who hand deliver the document to the Client Service Center.

Preclearance Filing: A filing form, to be submitted at a later date for processing, may be submitted to be

" examined for the purpose of advising as to the acceptability of the proposed filing for a fee of $50.00. The

Preclearance will be complete within 1-2 business days.

Page 1of 6 Last Revised: 10/01/2017



Form 5328 Prescribed by:

Toll Frae: (877) SOS-FILE (877-767-3453) Mall this farm to ane of the followtng:
X 3. Ragular Fiin adita;
S, Cantral Ohlo: (614) 466-3910 B ey Ay fnon avpadis)
DFF’GE UF THE 3 ’*‘: wrecd OnioSacrelzriofSiata.goy Columbus, OH 43218
. 3 it Fill dusiness d .
Ohio Secretary of State ﬁ% 3\\3" SusseriDOhioSseratary2iSiata gav Expedio Fig (;v‘::u‘:. .2’:&%333733?&3“

P.O. Box 1380
Columbus, OH 43216

File anline or for mors information: wwey. OHBusinz3sCaniral com

For scrasn readacs follow insimiciions iccatad 3t this oaih,

Initial Articles of Incorporation

(Nonprofit, Domestic Corporation)
Filing Fee: $99
{114-ARN)
Form Must Be Typed
Please check the box if this nonprofit corporation is being formed for the following purpose:

n Community Improvement Corporation (Economic Development or Land Reutilization) - Please see Ohio Revised Code
Chapter 1724 or the instructions at the end of this form for more information.

First: Name of Corporation [City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District, Inc.
Second: Location of Principal Office in Ohio
. Ohilo
lMedma State
City
IMadina
County
. . . (The legal existence of the corporation begins upon
Optional: Effective Date (MM/DD/YYYY) the filing of the articles or on a later date specified

that is not more than ninety days after filing.)

Third: Purpose for which corporation is formed

See Exhibit A attached to and incorporated herin these Articles by reference.

** Note: for Nonprofit Corporations: The Secretary of State does not grant tax exempt status. Filing with our office is not
sufficient to obtain state or federal tax exemptions. Contact the Ohio Department of Taxation and the intemal Revenue
Service to ensure that the nonprofit corporation secures the proper state and federal tax exemptions. These agencies may
require that a purpose clause be provided. **

** Note: ORC Chapter 1702 allows for additional provisions to be included in the Articles of incorporation that are filed with
this office. If including any of these additional provisions, please do so by including them in an attachment to this form. **

5328 Page 2 of 6 Last Revised: 10/01/2017



Original Appointment of Statutory Agent

The undersigned, being at least a majority of the incorporators of

City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District, Inc.

{Name of Corporation)

hereby appoint the following to be Statutory Agent upon whom any process, notice or demand required or permitted by
statute to be served upon the corporation may be served. The complete address of the agent is:

Bethany Dentler

(Nams of Statutory Agent)

144 N. Broadway Street, Suite 202

{Mailing Addrass)

Medina

OH

{Mailing City)

44256

{Malling State)

{(Malling ZIP Code)

Must be signed by -
the incorporators or  [>cOtt Miller: 2«%7%

incorporators.

a majority of the {Signature)

Kimberly Marshall: YW&‘»&[ “awalall

(Signature)

Bethany Dentler: Wm«/} A] L j&/

(Signatura)

Acceptance of Appointment

The Undersigned, |Bethany Dentler

, hamed herein as the

{Name of Statutory Agent)

Statutory agent for lCity of Medina Energy Special Improvement District, Inc.

Statutory Agent Signature

(Name of Corporation)

hereby acknowledges and accepts the appointment of statutory agent for said corporation.

ot o, it

{individual Agent's SLg‘ature / Signatura on Behalf of Business Serving as Agant)

5328

Page 30of 6

Last Ravised: 10/01/2017



By signing and submitting this form to the Ohio Secretary of State, the undersigned heraby certifies that he or she
has the requisite authority to execute this document.

Required

Articles and original
appointment of agent must

be signed by the incorporator(s).

If the incorporator

is an individual, then they
must sign in the "signature”
box and print his/her name
in the "Print Name" box.

If the incorparator

is a business entity, not an
individual, then please print
the entity name in the
"signature" box, an
authorized representative
of the business entity

must sign in the "By" box
and print his/fher name and
titte/authority in the

"Print Name" box.

City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District, Inc.

Signature

Kondtiy araded] ]

By iif app!icable)d

Kimberly Marshall

Print Name

City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District, Inc.

Signature

B ot Lodlnr

By (if applicablg)/

Bethany Dentler

Print Name

City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District, Inc.

Signature

S D)5l

By (if applicable)

Scott Miller

Print Name

5328

Page 4 of 6 Last Revised: 10/01/2017




EXHIBIT A
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
OF

CITY OF MEDINA ENERGY SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, INC.

THIRD:
PURPOSE

FOURTH:
RESTRICTIONS

The purpose for which the Corporation is formed shall be:

(A) To govern the City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District, Inc.,
a special improvement district (the “District”) created pursuant to Ohio Revised Code
(“ORC”) Chapter 1710. The District’s purpose is to enhance the value of properties
within the District and improve the environment by developing and assisting in
developing within the District special energy improvement projects. The District
will be authorized to provide special energy improvement projects pursuant to ORC
Chapter 1710 that will benefit property and the environment within the boundaries
of the District. The District will be authorized to take any other actions pursuant to
ORC Chapter 1710 that may be taken by a special improvement district organized
for the purpose of developing and implementing plans for special energy improvement
projects. The City of Medina (“City”) is a “participating political subdivision,” as
that term is defined in ORC Section 1710.01(E), that will be authorized to levy a
special assessment on each property within the territorial boundaries of the City
within the District to pay for such improvements, based on the benefits those special
energy improvement projects confer.

(B) To engage in any lawful act, activity, or business not contrary to, and for
which a nonprofit corporation may be formed under, the laws of the State of Ohio.

(C) Tohaveand exercise all powers, rights, and privileges conferred by the laws
of the State of Ohio on nonprofit corporations or on special improvement districts,
including, but not limited to, buying, leasing, or otherwise acquiring and holding, using
or otherwise enjoying and selling, leasing or otherwise disposing of any interest in any
property, real or personal, of whatever nature and wheresoever situated, and buying
and selling renewable energy credits, stocks, bonds, or any other security of any issuer
as the Corporation by action of its Board may, at any time and from time to time, deem
advisable.

(D) The reasons for establishing the District include enhancing the value of
properties within the District and improving the environment. The District will
enhance the public health, safety, peace, convenience, and welfare by developing and
assisting in developing special energy improvement projects that reduce the territory’s
carbon footprint, promote the District as a location for green technology job creatxon
benefit property within the District, and improve the environment.

No part of the net earnings of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of or be
distributable to its members, directors, trustees, officers or other private persons,

E-1



FIFTH:
MEMBERS

SIXTH:

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

SEVENTH:
TERRITORY

except that the Corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable
compensation for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in
furtherance of the purposes set forth in Article III of these Articles of Incorporation
and to make distributions to its members as authorized by ORC Chapter 1702,
including any distribution upon dissolution of the Corporation.

The members of the Corporation (“Members”) shall be those persons or organizations
described in the Code of Regulations. The annual meeting of Members shall be
determined by the Board of Directors (“Board”) as described in the Code of
Regulations.

The Corporation shall be controlled and managed under the direction of the Board.
The Board shall consist of at least five (5) individuals (individually a “Director”).

(A)  One Director shall be the City’s municipal executive—its Mayor—or an
employee of the City who is involved with the City’s planning or economic
development functions and who shall be appointed by and serve at the pleasure of
the Mayor.

(B)  One Director shall be a person appointed by and serving at the pleasure
of the City’s Council (the “Council”), the City’s legislative authority.

(C)  The remaining Directors shall be Members or executive representatives
of Members elected by the Members as described in the Code of Regulations of the
Corporation.

The Board of Directors of the Corporation from time to time shall constitute the
Board of Directors of the Corporation under ORC Chapter 1710.

The territory within the District shall be described generally as that portion of the
City consisting of property owned by each property owner within the City that has
petitioned the City for the development of a special energy improvement project, as
that term is defined in ORC Section 1710.01(I). As provided in ORC Section
1710.02(A), the territory in the District may be noncontiguous if at least one special
energy improvement project is designated for each parcel of real property included
in the District. As further provided in Section 1710.02(A), additional territory may
be added to the District for the purpose of developing and implementing plans for
special energy improvement projects if at least one special energy improvement
project is designated for each parcel of real property included within such additional
territory and the addition of territory is authorized by the plan for the District under
Chapter 1710. The addition of such territory shall be authorized in the plan for the
District.

The following is a listing of properties that are initially included in the District,
which are identified by owner and parcel number:

Owner County of Medina
Parcel No. 028-19A-12-141.

E-2



EIGHTH:
CERTAIN

TRANSACTIONS

NINTH:
DISSOLUTION

TENTH:
AMENDMENT

No person shall be disqualified from being a Director of the Corporation because he
or she is or may be a party to, and no Director of the Corporation shall be disqualified
from entering into, any contract or other transaction to which the Corporation is or
may be a party. ’

No contract, action, or other transaction shall be void or voidable for the reason that
any Director or officer or other agent of the Corporation is a party to the contract,
action, or transaction, or otherwise has any direct or indirect interest in the contract,
action or transaction or in any other party to the contract, action, or transaction, or
for reason that any interested director or officer or other agent of the Corporation
authorizes or participates in the authorization of such contract, action or transaction,
provided that:

The material facts as to such interest and as to the contract, action or transaction are
disclosed or are otherwise known to the Board or applicable committee of Directors at
the time the contract, action, or transaction is authorized and the Directors or the
Members of the committee, in good faith reasonably justified by the facts, authorize
the contract, action, or transaction by at least a majority vote of the disinterested
Directors or disinterested Members of the committee, even though such disinterested
Directors or Members are less than a quorum; or

The material facts as to such interest and as to the contract, action, or transaction are
disclosed or are otherwise known to the member at the time the contract, action, or
transaction is authorized and the member authorizes the contract, action, or transaction;
or the contract, action, or transaction (i) is not less favorable to the Corporation than
an arm’s length contract, action, or transaction in which no director or officer or other
agent of the Corporation has any interest or (i) is otherwise fair to the Corporation as
of the time it is authorized.

Any interested director may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at
any meeting of the Board or any committee of the Board which authorizes the contract,
action, or transaction.

Upon the dissolution of the Corporation, all assets remaining after paying or making
provision for the payment of all of the liabilities of the Corporation shall be
conveyed to any person or organization as shall be selected by the affirmative vote
of a majority of the Board.

Any provision of these Articles of Incorporation may be amended only (a) by the
affirmative vote of a majority of the Members of the Corporation at any meeting at
which a quorum is present, and (b) after receipt of approval of such amendment by
resolution of the legislative authority of each participating political subdivision, and
(c) upon filing the approved amendment and resolution with the Ohio Secretary of
State; provided that such amendment shall be consistent with the applicable provisions
of ORC Chapters 1702 and 1710.

E-3



EXHIBIT C

LIST OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS AND
SCHEDULE OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS

LIST OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS

Portion of
Assessed Benefit and
Properties Special
Name Description Assessment
Legacy Hotel of Parcel Number 100%

Medina, LLC 028-19A-21-402

C-1

RCA 24-108-5/13

Amount of
Special

Assessments

$9,115,993.98



SCHEDULE OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS

FOR MEDINA COUNTY PARCEL NO.:

028-19A-21-402*

RCA 24-108-5/13

The following schedule of Special Assessment charges shall be certified for collection in

36 semi-annual installments to be collected with property taxes in calendar years 2026 through

2043:

Special Assessment Date”

Total Special Assessment

Amount**

January 31, 2026 $253,222.06
July 31, 2026 253,222.06
January 31, 2027 253,222.06
July 31, 2027 253,222.06
January 31, 2028 253,222.06
July 31, 2028 253,222.06
January 31, 2029 253,222.06
July 31, 2029 253,222.06
January 31, 2030 253,222.06
July 31, 2030 253,222.06
January 31, 2031 253,222.06
July 31, 2031 253,222.06
January 31, 2032 253,222.06
July 31, 2032 253,222.06
January 31, 2033 253,222.06
July 31, 2033 253,222.06
January 31, 2034 253,222.06
July 31, 2034 253,222.06
January 31, 2035 253,222.06
July 31, 2035 253,222.06
January 31, 2036 253,222.06
July 31, 2036 253,222.06
January 31, 2037 253,222.06
July 31, 2037 253,222.06
January 31, 2038 253,222.06
July 31, 2038 253,222.06
January 31, 2039 253,222.06
July 31, 2039 253,222.06
January 31, 2040 253,222.06
July 31, 2040 253,222.06
January 31, 2041 253,222.06
July 31, 2041 253,222.06
January 31, 2042 253,222.06
July 31, 2042 253,222.06

C-2



RCA 24-108-5/13

January 31, 2043 253,222.06
July 31, 2043 253,222.06

* As identified in the records of the Auditor of Medina County, Ohio as of May ___, 2024.

** Pursuant to Chapter 323 of the Ohio Revised Code, the Special Assessment Payment Dates
identified in this Schedule of Special Assessments are subject to adjustment by the Auditor of
Medina County, Ohio, Ohio under certain conditions.

*** The Auditor of Medina County, Ohio may impose a special assessment collection fee with
respect to each Special Assessment payment. If imposed, this special assessment collection fee
will be added to the payment amounts listed above.



RCA 24-108-5/13

RECEIPT OF COUNTY AUDITOR FOR
LEGISLATION LEVYING SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS
FOR THE PURPOSE OF ACQUIRING, INSTALLING, EQUIPPING.,
AND IMPROVING CERTAIN PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS
IN THE CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO IN COOPERATION WITH
THE CITY OF MEDINA ENERGY SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT DBA MEDINA
COUNTY ENERGY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

[, Anthony P. Capretta, the duly elected, qualified, and acting Auditor in and for Medina
County, Ohio hereby certify that a certified copy of Ordinance duly adopted by the

Council of the City of Medina, Ohio on , 2024 levying special assessments for the

purpose of acquiring, installing, equipping, and improving certain public improvements in the City
of Medina, Ohio in cooperation with the City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District, Inc.,
including a List of Special Assessments and Schedule of Special Assessments, which Special
Assessment charges shall be certified for collection in 36 semi-annual installments to be collected

with first-half and second-half real property taxes in calendar years 2026 through 2043, was filed

in this office on , 2024,
WITNESS my hand and official seal at Medina, Ohio on , 2024,
Auditor
[SEAL] Medina County, Ohio

[County Auditor’s Receipt]



Ord. 106-24

COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT

among

DEVELOPMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY OF SUMMIT COUNTY
and
CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO
and

CITY OF MEDINA ENERGY SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, INC. DBA MEDINA
COUNTY ENERGY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

and
LEGACY HOTEL OF MEDINA, LLC
and

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

Dated as of
1,2024

$[Principal Amount]
Development Finance Authority of Summit County
Jobs & Investment Fund Program
Taxable Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A
(City of Medina - Legacy Hotel & Event Center PACE Project)

ROETZEL & ANDRESS
A LEGAL PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION

Bond Counsel



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
ARTICLE T DefINIIONS ......cviuiiieiriiiii ittt ettt es et st eee et st eneesaneneeenseeesens 5
Section 1.1.  Use 0f Defined TeIrmMS . ....c.ccveuiuicriieiiecieeceeece et eees e snes 5
Section 1.2, DEIINIIONS ...oviiviriiriiiieieete ettt eneseees 5
Section 1.3, INterPretation.......ccceeivieeeieieieiereseeeceeeees ettt e ene e eees e eeeenas 11
Section 1.4.  Captions and Headings ........cccocoeeveinreriiieeririeecce e 12
ARTICLE II Representations and COVENANS............cveveviuiriceeererirerieeeeineseneteseteeeseeeneeesesesneeeenenes 13
Section 2.1.  Representations of the ISSUET .........cocvevivivivivivieiiicceccee e 13
Section 2.2.  Representations 0f the Gty ........cooveveviviivirieieeceiieeeerereeee e eeeeeeeeenenas 13
Section 2.3, Representations of the TIUSIEE........c.cecveveviirieireeceeeee et eeeeeneens 14
Section 2.4.  Representations of the DIStICT.....uveveveveveviuieeeierericce e 14
Section 2.5.  Representations of the Developer...........ccoeveieierieeveeecee e 14
Section 2.6.  Covenant to Pay Special ASSESSMENtS ..........cooeveveecireereeeeeseeeseeeeeereenns 15
Section 2.7. Maintenance and Repair of Development; Covenant to Maintain
Insurance; Damage and Use of Proceeds of the Development. ................. 15
ARTICLE III Cooperative AITAngEeIMENLS .........c.coeeverereeererieereseerieiterseseeeeeteseeseeereseseeeeseseseesssenens 18
Section 3.1.  Cooperative AITANZEMENLS .........cecvveeveerierererieretieeeeesseeeseaeeeens e ereeeseeseseonas 18
Section 3.2.  Issuance of Series 2024A Bonds. .......coovevevivveriirieiieiiceeeeeeeeieeeseeeenas 18
Section 3.3, Bond ReServe DEPOSit ........coueciieuerieieriiiiiieeeieeecceeceeeseee et evesesereeeene 19
Section 3.4.  Limitation on Obligations .........cceeecvrvririererereiiieecieeereteeeeee e 19
ARTICLE IV Assignment of Assigned Special ASSESSMENtS............covveviviieireeeeeeeeeeeeerieeenenas 21
Section 4.1.  Assignment of Assigned Special ASSESSMENS........c.cvevevevveereveerseennn. 21
Section 4.2.  Enforcement of Obligations of City and ISSUET ..........coocvveveeevencreeennn. 21
ARTICLE V Additional Agreements and COVENANLS..........cccceveviiirereerierees e 23
Section 5.1, Right of INSPECtiON.....c.eveeiriirierereeciicietcteeetce ettt 23
Section 5.2.  Indemnification. .......cccooveeiiieiieriiece et 23
Section 5.3.  Litigation NOCE ..c.vcveviviicrieiieicicieeee ettt ene e 24
Section 5.4.  Developer to Maintain its EXISIENCE .......ccoveoveviiiiieeiectceceeeeeee s 24
ARTICLE VI Provisions Relating t0 TIUSLEE ........ceioviviiirireeiecee ettt eee s 26
Section 6.1.  Duties Of TTUSIEE ......coveiiiiiiieeeiciieee et 26
Section 6.2.  Trustee’s Liability....c.coceiriiiiiieieieccecci et ses e 26
Section 6.3.  Reliance BY TIUSLEE ....ocuevvovieiiieeiceccce et 26
ARTICLE VII Events of Default and Remedies ..........cocoeviiiieiiviciiecccccececeee s 27
Section 7.1, Events of Default ........c.ooooiiiiiiiiiiic e eee e 27
Section 7.2.  Remedies 0n Default. ..ot 28

Section 7.3, No Remedy EXCIUSIVE ...o.oiiviiriiiiiieici e 28



Section 7.4.  Agreement to Pay Legal Fees and EXPenses ...........ooovevveeeemeeecvrensnnnn, 28

Section 7.5, NO WaAIVET ...vouiuiiiiiiireciceeteeet ettt ee e esees s e e 29
Section 7.6, Notice Of Default .......ccvvueiiiiiiictiiiicc e 29
ARTICLE VIII MiSCEHANEOUS. ....cucuiuiirieieiiictiieet ettt st se e s e s e sene e e 30
Section 8.1.  Term of AGrEemENt.......c.c.cocviviiereriieeeeeeecie ettt eeessesereseseseans 30
SeCtion 8.2, NOLICES .e.euvvirievitiieseeciiteteee ettt ettt ee e ee e s e es e s s 30
Section 8.3.  Extent of Covenants; No Personal Liability ............ccccoooveveeeierirererensnns 30
Section 8.4.  Binding Effect.......cocoviiriiiiiieeee e 30
Section 8.5.  Amendments and Supplements............ccc.ooveeiiieeiceeiieeee e 31
Section 8.6.  Execution COUNLEIPAITS.......cuvvevrerurviireriiiececeeteee et eneeseeans 31
Section 8.7.  SeVETADILILY ....coveveiieieeicceie ettt sttt 31
Section 8.8.  Limitation of RIGHES.....c.c.cciviivieiiiriiiicciec et 31
Section 8.9, GOVEINING LAW ...cueiiirieiiiiiieieieeceeeetesee ettt s e e e ee e e 31
Exhibit A Required AMOUNES ....o.coveiiieiiiciree ettt se e A-1
Exhibit B Petition and Plan ... B-1

ii



COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT

THIS COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT made and entered into as of 1, 2024 among
the DEVELOPMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY OF SUMMIT COUNTY, a port authority and
political subdivision and body corporate and politic duly organized and validly existing under the
laws of the State (the “Issuer”), the CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO, a municipal corporation duly
organized and validly existing under the laws of the State (the “City”), the CITY OF MEDINA
ENERGY SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, INC. DBA MEDINA COUNTY ENERGY
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, a nonprofit corporation and special improvement district duly
organized and validly existing under the laws of the State (the “District”), LEGACY HOTEL OF
MEDINA, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company (the “Developer”), and U.S. BANK TRUST
COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee, a national banking association duly
organized and validly existing under the laws of the United State of America and authorized to
exercise corporate trust powers in the State (the “Trustee”), under the circumstances summarized
in the following recitals (the capitalized terms not defined in the recitals being used therein as
defined in Article I hereof):

Recitals:

A. The Developer has submitted the Petition and the Plan to the District in order to
facilitate the completion of the Series 2024A Project, which Series 2024A Project constitutes a
“port authority facility” under the Act and a “special energy improvement project” under the
Special Improvement District Act.

B. The Developer has completed the Series 2024A Project and, in furtherance of
thereof, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement:

l. the District and the City have approved the Petition and the Plan;
2. the Issuer has agreed to finance a portion of the costs of the Project Costs; and
3. in furtherance of the Plan, the Council of the City has passed the Assessing

Ordinance levying the Special Assessments upon the Project Site in order to
provide funds necessary to pay a portion of the Project Costs.

C. In order to finance the Costs of the Series 2024 A Project:

1. the District and the Developer have requested, and the Issuer has agreed, to issue
and sell the Series 2024A Bonds to finance the Costs of the 2024A Project
originally paid by the Developer;

2. to pay Bond Service Charges on the Series 2024A Bonds when due, (i) the
Developer has agreed to pay Special Assessments levied by the City when due and
(i1) the City has agreed to assign and pay the Assigned Special Assessments in
accordance with this Agreement; and



3. to secure the payment of Bond Service Charges, the Issuer has pledged the
Assigned Special Assessments to the Trustee under the Indenture.

D. The Issuer, the City, the District and the Developer each believe that Provision of
the Series 2024 A Project will promote redevelopment of the Series 2024A Project area, eliminate
and prevent the recurrence of blight, and create jobs and employment opportunities in the City,
and each of the Cooperative Parties has full right and lawful authority to enter into this Agreement
and to perform and observe the provisions hereof on its respective part to be performed and
observed.

E. The Issuer and the Medina County Port Authority have entered into a Jurisdictional
Cooperative Agreement dated as of , 2024 (the “Jurisdictional Cooperative Agreement”)
pursuant to which the Medina County Port Authority has requested the assistance of the Issuer
with financing a portion of the Project Costs.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations and
agreements hereinafter contained, and subject to the terms and limitations of this Agreement, the
Cooperative Parties agree as follows (provided that any obligation of the Issuer created by or
arising out of this Agreement shall never constitute a general debt of the Issuer or give rise to any
pecuniary liability of the Issuer, but shall be payable solely out of the Pledged Revenues available
to the Issuer and any obligation of the City to pay Assigned Special Assessments to the Issuer
hereunder shall never constitute a general debt of the City or give rise to any pecuniary liability of
the City but shall be payable solely from the Assigned Special Assessments):

(balance of page intentionally left blank)



ARTICLE I

Definitions

Section 1.1.  Use of Defined Terms. In addition to the words and terms defined
elsewhere in this Agreement or by reference to another document, the words and terms set
forth in Section 1.2 hereof shall have the meanings set forth therein unless the context or
use clearly indicates another meaning or intent. Such definitions shall be equally applicable
to both the singular and plural forms of any of the words and terms defined therein.

Section 1.2.  Definitions. As used herein:

“Act” means Sections 4582.21 through 4582.60, Ohio Revised Code, as enacted and
amended from time to time.

“Administrative Amounts” includes the Issuer Fee, the Trustee Fee, the District Fee, the
reasonable expenses of the Issuer, the City, the District and the Trustee, including but not limited
to attorneys’ fees, in pursuing remedies hereunder or under the Indenture, and expenses incurred
to comply with continuing disclosure obligations, and any amounts (other than amounts required
to pay Bond Service Charges on the Series 2024A Bonds) required to be paid hereunder.

“Agreement” or “Cooperative Agreement” means this Cooperative Agreement as amended
and supplemented from time to time.

“Assessing Ordinance” means Ordinance No. __ -2024 passed by the Legislative
Authority of the City on , 2024, as amended by Ordinance No. __ -2024 passed by the
Legislative Authority of the City on , 2024, levying the Special Assessments on the Project

Site in accordance with the Plan.

“Assigned Special Assessments” means the Net Special Assessments received by the City
from the County Treasurer and assigned by the City to the Issuer hereunder and pledged by the
Issuer to the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture to secure Bond Service Charges on the Series 2024A
Bonds.

“Available Amount” means, for each Interest Payment Date, the aggregate of Assigned
Special Assessments and any applicable Capitalized Interest Payments to be applied to interest in
accordance with the Indenture which are on deposit with the Trustee as of the June 1 or December
1 immediately preceding that Interest Payment Date.

“Bond Legislation” means, when used with reference to the Series 2024A Bonds,
Resolution No. 2024-__ adopted by the Legislative Authority of the Issuer on , 2024
providing for the issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds and approving this Agreement, the Series
2024A Supplemental Indenture, and related matters, as amended and supplemented from time to
time.

“Bond Reserve Deposit” means, with respect to the Series 2024 A Bonds, the Bond Reserve
Deposit as defined in the Series 2024A Supplemental Indenture.



“Bond Service Charges” means Bond Service Charges as defined in the Indenture.

“Business Day” means a day that is not a (i) Saturday, (ii) Sunday, or (iii) day on which
the Trustee is closed or banks in New York, New York are closed.

“Capitalized Interest Payments” means such term as defined in the Series 2024A
Supplemental Indenture.

“Certificate of Award” means the Certificate of Award delivered by the Issuer in
accordance with the Bond Legislation.

“City” means the City of Medina, Ohio, a municipal corporation organized and existing
under the laws of the State and its Charter.

“Closing Date” means the date of delivery of the Series 2024A Bonds.

“Construction Manager” means the Developer, in its capacity as Construction Manager
under the Construction Manager Agreement.

“Construction Manager Agreement” means the Construction Manager Agreement dated as
of 1, 2024 among the Issuer, the Trustee and the Construction Manager under which the
Construction Manager agrees to undertake Provision of the Series 2024A Project, as amended and
supplemented from time to time.

“Cooperative Parties” means the City, the Issuer, the Developer, the District and the
Trustee.

“Costs” means the costs permitted in Section 1710.07 of the Special Improvement District
Act.

“County” means the County of Medina, Ohio, a county organized and existing under the
laws of the State.

“County Auditor” means the Auditor of the County.
“County Treasurer” means the Treasurer of the County.

“Deficiency Amount” means, for each Interest Payment Date, the amount by which the
Required Amount exceeds the Available Amount.

“Developer” means Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company.

“Development” means the improvements on the Project Site, including the Series 2024A
Project.

“Development Lender” means any financial institution or other lender providing financing
for the construction or the purchase of any portion of the Development.



“Development Lender Documents” means any applicable loan agreement, financing
agreement or other financial arrangement between a Development Lender and the Developer
providing construction financing, permanent financing or other financing for the Development.

“District” means the City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District, Inc. dba
Medina County Energy Improvement District, a nonprofit corporation and special improvement
district duly organized and validly existing under the Special Improvement District Act.

“District Fee” means an annual administrative fee of the District equal to 0.25% of the
annual amount of the Special Assessments, to be paid in accordance with Exhibit A attached
hereto.

“Environmental Laws” means all applicable federal, state and local environmental, land
use, zoning, health, chemical use, safety and sanitation laws, statutes, ordinances and codes
relating to the protection of the environment and/or governing use, storage, treatment, generation,
transportation, processing, handling, production or disposal of Hazardous Materials and the rules,
regulations, policies, guidelines, interpretations, decisions, orders and directives of federal, state
and local governmental agencies and authorities with respect thereto, including, without limitation,
CERCLA and Chapter 3734 of the Ohio Revised Code.

“Event of Default” means any of the events described as an Event of Default in Section 7.1
hereof.

“Extraordinary Expenses” means the Trustee’s Extraordinary Expenses as defined in the
Indenture.

“Force Majeure” means, without limitation, the following: (i) acts of God; strikes, lockouts
or other industrial disturbances; acts of public enemies; orders or restraints of any kind of the
government of the United States of America or of the State or any of their departments, agencies,
political subdivisions or officials, or any civil or military authority; insurrections; civil
disturbances; riots; epidemics; landslides; lightning; earthquakes; fires; hurricanes; tornadoes;
storms; droughts; floods; arrests; embargoes; explosions; breakage, malfunction or accident to
facilities, machinery, transmission pipes or canals; partial or entire failure of utilities; shortages of
labor, materials, supplies or transportation; or (ii) any cause, circumstance or event not reasonably
within the control of the Developer; provided that inability to obtain necessary financing shall not
constitute an event of Force Majeure.

“Governing Documents” means, as to a corporation, the articles of incorporation and code
of regulations or bylaws of such corporation, as to a limited liability company, the articles of
organization and operating agreement of such limited liability company, and as to a statutory trust,
the trust agreement and other organizational documents relating to such statutory trust.

“Hazardous Materials” means, without limitation, any flammable explosives, radon,
radioactive materials, asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, polychlorinated biphenyls,
petroleum and petroleum products, methane, hazardous materials, hazardous wastes, hazardous or
toxic substances or related materials as defined in Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. §§9601 et seq.) (‘*CERCLA"), the



Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended (49 U.S.C. §§1801, et seq.), Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. §§6901 ef seq.) (“RCRA”), or any other applicable
Environmental Law and in the regulations adopted pursuant thereto.

“Holder” or “Holder of a Bond” means, as to Series 2024A Bonds, such terms as defined
in the Indenture.

“Indenture” means the Amended and Restated Trust Indenture dated as of October 1, 2017
between the Issuer and the Trustee, as amended and supplemented from time to time by any
supplemental indentures, including the Series 2024A Supplemental Indenture.

“Interest Payment Date” means such term as defined in the Series 2024A Supplemental
Indenture.

“Interest Rate for Advances” means, to the extent lawfully chargeable, the rate of interest
which is 2% in excess of the rate announced from time to time by the Trustee or U.S. Bank National
Association in its capacity as a lending institution as its “prime rate” or “base rate.”

“Issuer” means the Development Finance Authority of Summit County, a port authority
and political subdivision and body corporate and politic duly organized and validly existing under
the laws of the State.

“Issuer Fee” means, with respect to the Series 2024 A Bonds, an annual administrative fee
of the Issuer equal to 0.600% of the Outstanding principal amount of the Series 2024A Bonds, to
be paid in accordance with Exhibit A attached hereto.

“Legislative Authority” means (i) when used with reference to the Issuer, the Board of
Directors of the Issuer, (ii) when used with reference to the City, the Council of the City and (iii)
when used with reference to the District, the Board of Directors of the District.

“Net Proceeds” means, when used with respect to any insurance proceeds, the gross
proceeds thereof less the payment of all expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred
in connection with the collection of such gross proceeds.

“Net Special Assessments” means the Special Assessments paid to the City by the County
Treasurer after deduction of any administrative fees by the County Treasurer.

“Notice Address” means:

(a)  asto the Issuer: Development Finance Authority of Summit
County
One Cascade Plaza, 17" Floor
Akron, Ohio 44308
Attn: President



with a copy to: Roetzel & Andress
222 South Main Street
Akron, Ohio 44308
Attn: Justin P. Markey, Esq.

(b) as to the City: City of Medina, Ohio
132 N. Elmwood Avenue
Medina, Ohio 44256
Attn: Mayor

(c)  asto the District City of Medina Energy Special Improvement
District, Inc. dba Medina County Energy
Improvement District

(d) asto the Developer: Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC
3991 N. Jefferson Street
Medina, Ohio 44256
Attn: Jason T. Stevenson, CEO

(e)  as to the Trustee: U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association
Global Corporate Trust Services
1350 Euclid Avenue
CN-OH-RN11
Cleveland, Ohio 44115
Attn: David Schlabach, Vice President

or such additional or different address, notice of which is given under Section 8.2 of this
Agreement.

“Operative Documents” means, collectively, this Agreement, the Plan, the Indenture, the
Construction Manager Agreement, the Special Assessment Agreement, any Purchase Agreement,
and any agreement, instrument or document delivered thereunder.

“Outstanding” means such term as defined in the Indenture.

“Owner” means, initially, the Developer, and each other Person who holds all or any part
of a fee simple estate in and to all or any part of the Project Site.

“Person” or words importing persons mean firms, associations, partnerships (including
without limitation, general and limited partnerships), limited liability companies, joint ventures,
societies, estates, trusts, corporations, public or governmental bodies, other legal entities and
natural persons.

“Petition” means the Petition attached hereto as Exhibit B as approved by the City in the
Assessing Ordinance.



“Plan” means the Project Plan set forth in the Petition, which Plan may be amended from
time to time in accordance with the Special Improvement District Act, this Agreement and its own
terms.

“Pledged Revenues” means, with respect to the Series 2024 A Bonds, the Pledged Revenues
as defined in the Indenture.

“Project Costs” means the Costs of the Provision of the Series 2024A Project pursuant to
the Plans and Specifications, as defined in the Indenture.

“Project Site” means the Property as defined on Exhibit A to the Petition.

“Provision” means, as applicable, the acquisition, construction, installation, renovation,
improvement, and equipping of the Series 2024A Project.

“Purchase Agreement” means any bond purchase or private placement agreement entered
into by the Issuer in connection with the sale or private placement of the Series 2024A Bonds, as
determined by the Issuer in the Certificate of Award.

“Registrar” means such term as defined in the Indenture.

“Required Amount” means, for each Interest Payment Date, the aggregate amount of Bond
Service Charges and Administrative Amounts due and payable on such Interest Payment Date as
set forth on Exhibit B attached hereto plus additional Administrative Amounts then due and
payable under this Agreement.

“Required Property Insurance Coverage” means (i) insurance in the amount not less than
100% of the as-completed appraised value of the Development following completion of the Series
2024A Project against loss or damage by fire and extended coverage risks and containing loss
deductible provisions not to exceed $50,000, or (ii) alternative arrangements for insurance or self-
insurance approved by the Issuer.

“Series 2024 A Bonds” means the Series 2024A Bonds issued by the Issuer pursuant to the
Bond Legislation designated “Development Finance Authority of Summit County Jobs &
Investment Fund Taxable Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A (City of Medina - Legacy
Hotel & Event Center PACE Project).”

“Series 2024A Project” means the Authorized Improvements as defined in the Petition,
constituting a “project” and “port authority facilities” as defined in the Act and a “special energy
improvement project” under the Special Improvement District Act.

“Series 2024A Revenue Account” means the Series 2024A Revenue Account established
under the Series 2024 A Supplemental Indenture.

“Series 2024A Supplemental Indenture” means the Fifty-First Supplemental Indenture,

dated as of even date herewith, between the Issuer and the Trustee containing the terms of the
Series 2024 A Bonds.

10



“Special Assessment Agreement” means the Special Assessment Agreement dated as of
1, 2024 among the County Treasurer, the City, the District, the Developer and the Issuer, as
amended or supplemented from time to time.

“Special Assessments” means the special assessments levied by the City upon the Project
Site by the Assessing Ordinance in accordance with the Plan, the Special Improvement District
Act and Ohio Revised Code Chapter 727.

“Special Improvement District Act” means Ohio Revised Code Chapter 1710, as enacted
and amended from time to time.

“State” means the State of Ohio.

“Trustee” means U. S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as Trustee under the
Indenture, until a successor Trustee shall have become such pursuant to the applicable provisions
of the Indenture, and thereafter “Trustee” shall mean such successor Trustee.

“Trustee Fee” means, with respect to the Series 2024 A Bonds, an annual fee of the Trustee
equal to the greater of 0.06% of the Outstanding principal amount of the Series 2024A Bonds or
$1,250, to be paid in accordance with Exhibit A attached hereto.

“Unassigned Issuer’s Rights” means Unassigned Issuer’s Rights as defined in the
Indenture, and shall include all of the rights of the Issuer to be held harmless and indemnified and
to be reimbursed for attorney’s fees and expenses under any of the Operative Documents and to
give or withhold consent to amendments, changes, modifications, alterations and termination of
this Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof.

Section 1.3.  Interpretation. Any reference herein to the Issuer, the City, the District or
to a Legislative Authority or to any member or officer of either includes entities or officials
succeeding to their respective functions, duties or responsibilities pursuant to or by
operation of law or lawfully performing their functions.

Any reference to a Section or provision of the Constitution of the State or the Act, or to a
section, provision or chapter of the Ohio Revised Code or any other legislation or to any statute of
the United States of America, includes that section, provision or chapter as amended, modified,
revised, supplemented or superseded from time to time; provided, that no amendment,
modification, revision, supplement or superseding section, provision or chapter shall be applicable
solely by reason of this provision, if it constitutes in any way an impairment of the rights or
obligations of the Issuer, the Holders of the Series 2024A Bonds, the Trustee, the Developer, the
District or the City under this Agreement.

Unless the context indicates otherwise, words importing the singular number include the
plural number and vice versa; the terms “hereof,” “hereby,” “herein,” “hereto,” “hereunder” and
similar terms refer to this Agreement; and the term “hereafter” means after, and the term
“heretofore” means before, the date of delivery of the Series 2024A Bonds. Words of any gender
include the correlative words of the other genders, unless the sense indicates otherwise.

11



Section 1.4, Captions and Headings. The captions and headings in this Agreement are
solely for convenience of reference and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or
intent of any Articles, Sections, subsections, paragraphs, subparagraphs or clauses hereof.

(End of Article I)

12



ARTICLE II

Representations and Covenants

Section 2.1.  Representations of the Issuer. The Issuer represents that: (a) it is a port
authority and political subdivision and body corporate and politic duly organized and validly
existing under the laws of the State; (b) it is not in violation of or in conflict with any provisions
of the laws of the State or of the United States of America applicable to the Issuer which would
impair its ability to carry out its obligations contained in this Agreement or the other Operative
Documents to which it is a party; (c) it is legally empowered to enter into and perform the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Operative Documents to which it is a
party; (d) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other Operative
Documents to which it is a party do not and will not violate or conflict with any provision of law
applicable to the Issuer, and do not, and will not, conflict with or result in a default under any
agreement or instrument to which the Issuer is a party or by which it is bound which would have
an adverse effect on the Issuer’s ability to perform its obligations under any of the Operative
Documents to which it is a party (other than such adverse effect which is not material); (e) its
Legislative Authority has duly authorized the execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement and the other Operative Documents to which it is a party; (f) this Agreement and the
other Operative Documents to which it is a party, when executed and delivered by the Issuer, will
constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Issuer, enforceable against it in accordance
with the respective terms thereof, except as enforceability may be limited by the application of
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, liquidation, fraudulent conveyance and other
similar laws and equitable principles now or hereafter in effect or enacted respecting creditors’
rights or remedies generally; (g) it has duly accomplished all conditions necessary to be
accomplished by it prior to the issuance and delivery of the Series 2024 A Bonds; and (h) it will do
all things in its power in order to maintain its existence or assure the assumption of its obligations
under this Agreement and the other Operative Documents to which it is a party by any successor
public body.

Section 2.2.  Representations of the City. The City represents that: (a) it is a municipal
corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State and its Charter; (b) it
is not in violation of or in conflict with any provisions of the laws of the State or of the United
States of America applicable to the City which would impair its ability to perform its obligations
contained in this Agreement; (c) it is legally empowered to execute, deliver and perform this
Agreement and to enter into and carry out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (d)
the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement does not and will not violate or conflict
with any provision of law applicable to the City and does not, and will not, conflict with or result
in a default under any agreement or instrument to which the City is a party or by which it is bound
which would have an adverse effect on the City’s ability to perform its obligations under this
Agreement (other than such adverse effect which is not material); (e) its Legislative Authority has
duly authorized the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated herein and therein, and those transactions will enhance, aid and promote authorized
purposes of the City; (f) this Agreement, when executed and delivered by the City, will constitute
the legal, valid and binding obligations of the City, enforceable against it in accordance with their
respective terms, except as enforceability may be limited by the application of bankruptcy,

13



insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, liquidation, fraudulent conveyance and other similar laws
and equitable principles now or hereafter in effect or enacted respecting creditors’ rights or
remedies generally; and (g) the Assessing Ordinance has been duly passed and is in full force and
effect and not subject to repeal by referendum.

Section 2.3.  Representations of the Trustee. The Trustee represents that (a) it is a
national banking association duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the United
States and is qualified to exercise trust powers under the laws of the State; (b) it is not in violation
of or in conflict with any provisions of the laws of the State or of the United States of America
applicable to the Trustee which would impair its ability to carry out its obligations contained in
this Agreement or the other Operative Documents to which it is a party; (c) it is legally empowered
to enter into and perform the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Operative
Documents to which it is a party; (d) it has by all necessary corporate action authorized the
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other Operative Documents to
which it is a party; (¢) this Agreement and the other Operative Documents to which it is a party,
when executed and delivered by the Trustee, will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation
of the Trustee, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be
limited by the application of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, liquidation,
fraudulent conveyance and other similar laws and equitable principles now or hereafter in effect
or enacted respecting creditors’ rights or remedies generally; and (f) it will take all necessary action
to remain in good standing and duly authorized to exercise corporate trust powers in the State.

Section 2.4.  Representations of the District. The District represents that: (a) it is a
special improvement district duly organized and validly existing under the Special Improvement
District Act; (b) it is not in violation of or in conflict with any provisions of the laws of the State
or of the United States of America applicable to the District which would impair its ability to
perform its obligations contained in this Agreement; (c) it is legally empowered to execute, deliver
and perform this Agreement and to enter into and carry out the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement; (d) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement do not and will not
violate or conflict with any provision of law applicable to the District and do not, and will not,
conflict with or result in a default under any agreement or instrument to which the District is a
party or by which it is bound, including, but not limited to, the Petition and the Plan, which would
have an adverse effect on the District’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement
(other than such adverse effect which is not material); (e) its Legislative Authority has duly
authorized the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated herein and therein, and those transactions will enhance, aid and promote authorized
purposes of the District; and (f) this Agreement, when executed and delivered by the District, will
constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the District, enforceable against it in
accordance with their respective terms, except as enforceability may be limited by the application
of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, liquidation, fraudulent conveyance and
other similar laws and equitable principles now or hereafter in effect or enacted respecting
creditors’ rights or remedies generally.

Section 2.5.  Representations of the Developer. The Developer represents that: (a) it is a
limited liability company duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State; (b) it has
full power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and the other Operative

14



Documents to which it is a party and to enter into and perform the transactions contemplated by
those documents; (c) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other
Operative Documents to which it is a party do not violate any provision of law applicable to it or
its Governing Documents, and do not conflict with or result in a default under any agreement or
instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound which would have an adverse effect on its
ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement and any of the other Operative Documents
to which it is a party (other than such adverse effect which is not material); (d) it has duly
authorized the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other Operative
Documents to which it is a party; (e) this Agreement and the other Operative Documents to which
it is a party, when executed and delivered by it, will constitute its legal, valid and binding
obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with their respective terms, except as
enforceability may be limited by the application of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium, liquidation, fraudulent conveyance and other similar laws and equitable principles
now or hereafter in effect or enacted respecting creditors’ rights or remedies generally; and (f) the
provision of financial assistance to be made available under this Agreement and the commitments
therefor made by the Issuer, the District and the City have induced it to undertake the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the other Operative Documents to which it is a party,
including redevelopment of the Project Site which will create jobs and employment opportunities
within the City.

Section 2.6.  Covenant to Pay Special Assessments. While the Series 2024A Bonds are
Outstanding, the Owner shall pay the Special Assessments semiannually to the County Treasurer
pursuant to and in accordance with the Assessing Ordinance, the Special Improvement District
Act and Ohio Revised Code Chapter 727. The Special Assessments shall be paid semiannually to
the County Treasurer on or before the date on which real property taxes would otherwise be due
and payable for the Project Site. The obligation of the Owner to pay the Special Assessments shall
be absolute and shall not be terminated for any cause, and there shall be no right to suspend or set
off such Special Assessments for any cause, including without limitation any acts or circumstances
that may constitute failure of consideration, destruction of or damage to the Series 2024A Project,
commercial frustration of purpose, or any failure by any other Cooperative Party to perform or
observe any obligation, or covenant, whether express or implied, arising out of or in connection
with this Agreement or the other Operative Documents to which they are parties.

While any of the Series 2024A Bonds are Outstanding, no Owner shall execute a petition
(a) requesting special assessments to be levied on the Project Site in connection with improvements
which are for the benefit of the Project Site, including, but not limited to a special energy
improvement project under the Special Improvement District Act or (b) to create or join a special
improvement district other than the District in accordance with the Special Improvement District
Act, without the written consent of the Issuer.

Section 2.7. Maintenance and Repair of Development: Covenant to Maintain Insurance:
Damage and Use of Proceeds of the Development.

(a) Repair and Maintenance of the Development. The Owner shall maintain
and preserve the Development in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and
tear excepted, and shall from time to time make all necessary repairs, renewals,

15



replacements, additions and improvements thereto. All damage to or destruction of the
Development shall be promptly repaired, replaced or restored by the Owner.

(b) Insurance. The Owner shall at all times:

(i) Maintain or cause to be maintained the Required Property Insurance
Coverage, which insurance shall be issued by solvent insurance carriers licensed to
do business in the State.

(i)  Furnish to the Issuer, upon request, certified copies of its insurance
policies or certificates of insurance showing its insurance coverage.

(iii)  Require each policy of insurance to contain a provision whereby it
cannot be canceled or substantially modified except after not less than 30 days’
written notice to the Issuer.

(iv)  Require each policy of insurance covering the Development to be
written or endorsed so as to make the Issuer an additional insured or loss payee.

(v)  Require each policy of insurance, if readily obtainable in the market,
to contain an agreement by the insurer that any loss shall be payable to the Trustee
notwithstanding any act or negligence of the Owner which might otherwise result
in forfeiture of said insurance.

(vi)  Deliver, upon demand, renewal certificates of all insurance required
in this Section, together with written evidence of full payment of the annual
premiums therefor upon request.

Any insurance required under this Agreement may be provided under so called
“blanket” policies, so long as the amounts and coverages thereunder will provide protection
equivalent to that provided under a single policy meeting the requirements of this Section.

(©) Damage to or Destruction of the Development. In case of any damage to or
destruction of the Development or any part thereof, the Owner will promptly give or cause
to be given written notice thereof to the Issuer and the Trustee generally describing the
nature and extent of such damage or destruction. If within 90 days following such damage
or destruction the Owner shall have certified in writing to the District, the Issuer and the
Trustee that the Development shall have been damaged or destroyed to such an extent that
(a) it cannot reasonably be expected to be restored, within a period of six months from the
commencement of restoration, to the condition thereof immediately preceding such
damage or destruction or (b) its normal use and operation is reasonably expected to be
prevented for a period of six consecutive months or (c) the Owner shall not be required to
restore the Development under the terms of the Development Lender Documents, then the
Owner shall have no obligation to repair or restore the Development. If the Owner shall
not deliver such certification, the Owner shall, whether or not the Net Proceeds, if any,
received on account of such damage or destruction shall be sufficient for such purpose,
promptly commence and complete, or cause to be commenced and completed, the repair,

16



restoration or replacement of the Development as nearly as practicable to the value,
condition and character thereof existing immediately prior to such damage or destruction,
with such changes or alterations, however, as the Owner may deem necessary for proper
operation of the Development and to which the Issuer has consented, which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld. In no event shall there be any abatement or diminution of
the Special Assessments by reason of the damage to or destruction of the Development.

Except as otherwise provided in the Development Lender Documents, Net
Proceeds not in excess of $100,000 shall be paid, so long as no Event of Default shall have
occurred and be continuing, to the Owner for application of as much as may be necessary
for the repair, rebuilding and restoration of the Development. The balance of the Net
Proceeds remaining after payment of all costs of such repair, rebuilding or restoration shall
be paid to the Owner and may be used by the Owner for any purpose the Owner deems
appropriate. Except as otherwise provided in the Development Lender Documents, if such
Net Proceeds are in excess of $100,000, the Net Proceeds shall be paid to and held by the
Trustee in the Collateral Fund for application of as much as may be necessary of the Net
Proceeds for the payment of the costs of repair, rebuilding or restoration, either on
completion thereof or as the work progresses, as directed by the Owner in a writing
approved by the Issuer. The balance of the Net Proceeds remaining after payment of all
costs of such repair, rebuilding or restoration shall be paid to the Owner and may be used
by the Owner for any purpose the Owner deems appropriate. If the Development Lender
determines under the Development Lender Documents not to authorize the repair,
rebuilding or restoration of the Development with the Net Proceeds and instead determines
to apply such Net Proceeds to amounts owed to the Development Lender under the
Development Lender Documents, then the Owner hereby covenants and agrees that it shall
pay to the Trustee all remaining Net Proceeds for deposit into the Collateral Fund and
applied by the Trustee in accordance with the Indenture.

If, in lieu of repair, restoration or replacement of the Development, the Owner has
certified that it will pay funds sufficient to redeem the Outstanding Series 2024A Bonds in
full and all other amounts due under this Agreement, any Net Proceeds received prior to
such payment shall be credited against the payment of such redemption price.

(d)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Event of Default shall have occurred
and is then continuing, except as otherwise provided in the Development Lender
Documents, all Net Proceeds shall be paid to the Trustee and shall be deposited into the
Collateral Fund and applied by the Trustee in accordance with the Indenture.

(End of Article II)

17



ARTICLE III

Cooperative Arrangements

Section 3.1.  Cooperative Arrangements. For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this
Agreement, the Cooperative Parties have determined to cooperate with one another in undertaking
the issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the
other Operative Documents. The District and the Developer have requested the assistance of the
Issuer in issuing the Series 2024A Bonds, the proceeds of which will be used to finance a portion
of the Project Costs. This Agreement is intended to and shall be an agreement among the
Cooperative Parties to cooperate in the financing of port authority facilities pursuant to the Act.

Section 3.2.  Issuance of Series 2024A Bonds.. The Cooperative Parties agree as follows:

(a) Developer to Undertake Series 2024 A Project. The Issuer shall undertake
Provision of the Series 2024A Project on behalf of the District. The Developer shall act as
the Construction Manager for the Issuer for Provision of the Series 2024 A Project pursuant
to this Agreement, the Plan, the Plans and Specifications and the Construction Manager
Agreement. The District consents and agrees to the Developer acting as Construction
Manager for the Issuer under the Construction Manager Agreement. The Issuer agrees, for
the benefit of the District, to enforce, and will enforce if directed by the District, the terms
of the Construction Manager Agreement.

(b) Financing of Project Costs. In order to assist the Developer with financing,
or providing funds for the payment of a portion of, the Project Costs, (i) the Issuer has
issued the Series 2024A Bonds and has pledged the Assigned Special Assessments to the
payment of Bond Service Charges on the Series 2024A Bonds under the Series 2024A
Supplemental Indenture; and (ii) the City has adopted the Assessing Ordinance and
assigned the Net Special Assessments to the Issuer. A portion of the proceeds of the Series
2024A Bonds has been deposited to the Project Fund to be disbursed in accordance with
the Construction Manager Agreement and the Indenture to pay Project Costs.

(© Reserves and Administrative Amounts as Project Costs. The Developer
expressly acknowledges and agrees that the costs of providing for the funding of the Bond
Reserve Deposit and Administrative Amounts under the Indenture shall be deemed to be
Project Costs and payable by the Trustee with proceeds of the Series 2024A Bonds or
otherwise with Assigned Special Assessments as provided in the Indenture.

(d) Developer Required to Pay Costs in the Event Project Fund is Insufficient.
If moneys available to the Issuer from the Project Fund are insufficient to pay all of the
Project Costs, the Developer will nonetheless, pay all costs to complete the Series 2024A
Project in accordance with the Plan and the Plans and Specifications and shall pay all such
additional Project Costs from its funds. The Developer shall not be entitled to
reimbursement for any Project Costs or issuance costs from the Issuer, the District or the
City, nor shall the Developer be entitled to any abatement, diminution or postponement of
Special Assessments on account thereof.

18



(e) Signage. During the construction of the Series 2024A Project, the
Developer, at its expense, shall furnish and post appropriate public signage on or about the
Series 2024 A Project satisfactory to the Issuer, the City, the Medina County Port Authority
and the District reflecting their respective roles in the Series 2024A Project.

63 Payment of Project Fees by the Owner. The Owner agrees to pay the
following fees and expenses in connection with the Series 2024A Bonds:

(1) on the Closing Date, from the proceeds of the Series 2024A Bonds, the fees
and expenses in connection with the issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds;

(i) while the Series 2024A Bonds are Outstanding, the Trustee’s Extraordinary
Expenses, payable within 30 days of receipt by the Owner of an invoice
therefor;

(iii)  while the Series 2024A Bonds are Outstanding, the Administrative
Amounts, including any fees and expenses of the Issuer, the District and the
City, including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses,
incurred by the Issuer, the District and the City in connection with the
enforcement of the obligations of the Owner under this Agreement and the
other Operative Documents to which the Owner is a party, payable within
30 days of receipt by the Owner of an invoice therefor; and

(iv)  annually to the Issuer while the Series 2024A Bonds are Outstanding, the
fees of the Issuer incurred in connection with any continuing disclosure
obligations of the Issuer for the Series 2024A Bonds, payable within 30
days of receipt by the Owner of an invoice therefor.

Section 3.3.  Bond Reserve Deposit. The Developer agrees that on the Closing Date the
Bond Reserve Deposit will be initially funded by proceeds of the Series 2024A Bonds deposited
in the Series 2024 A Primary Reserve Account.

Section 3.4.  Limitation on Obligations. Neither the Series 2024A Bonds, nor any
obligation of the Issuer created by or arising out of this Agreement or the other Operative
Documents shall constitute a general debt of the Issuer or give rise to any pecuniary liability of the
[ssuer, but shall be payable solely from the Pledged Revenues. The obligations of the Issuer and
the City under this Agreement are not and shall not be secured by an obligation or pledge of any
moneys raised by taxation. The obligations of the Issuer, the District and the City under this
Agreement do not and shall not represent or constitute a debt or pledge of the faith and credit or
taxing power of the Issuer or the City, and the Trustee and any holder of the Series 2024A Bonds
do not and shall not have any right to have taxes levied by the Issuer, the District or the City for
the payment of Bond Service Charges on any of the such bonds or notes or any other obligation of
the Issuer, the District or the City hereunder.

None of the officials of the Issuer, the District or the City or any members of any respective
Legislative Authority or their respective officers or employees, shall be liable in their personal

19



capacities as to any obligations contemplated by this Agreement or created by or arising out of this
Agreement.

(End of Article III)

20



ARTICLE IV

Assignment of Assigned Special Assessments

Section4.1.  Assignment of Assigned Special Assessments. In consideration of the
Series 2024A Bonds issued by the Issuer to finance a portion of the Project Costs, the City hereby
assigns to the Issuer the Assigned Special Assessments, and grants to the Issuer the City’s right to
receipt of the Assigned Special Assessments, which right the Issuer has pledged to the Trustee
under the Indenture to secure the payment of Bond Service Charges on the Series 2024A Bonds.
Accordingly, the City is obligated to transfer all Assigned Special Assessments received by the
City to the Trustee within 30 days of receipt from the County, but not later than April 1 and October
1 of each year. All such Assigned Special Assessments shall be paid to the Trustee at the Trustee’s
Notice Address, or at such other address as the Trustee shall designate in writing for deposit in the
Series 2024A Revenue Account for payment of Bond Service Charges on the Series 2024A Bonds
in accordance with the Indenture.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the City’s obligation under
this Agreement to make Assigned Special Assessments shall be a special obligation of the City
and shall be required to be made solely from the Net Special Assessments received by the City.
The obligations of the City under this Agreement are not and shall not be secured by an obligation
or pledge of any moneys raised by taxation. The obligations of the City under this Agreement do
not and shall not represent or constitute a debt or pledge of the faith and credit or taxing power of
the City, and neither the Issuer, the Trustee, nor the Holders of the Series 2024A Bonds has or
shall have any right to have taxes levied by the City for the payment of the Assigned Special
Assessments.

Upon the City’s execution and delivery of this Agreement, all moneys from the collection
of the Net Special Assessments required for the payment of the Assigned Special Assessments
shall be appropriated annually by the City to pay the City’s obligations hereunder. During the
years in which this Agreement is in effect, the City shall take such further actions as may be
necessary to appropriate and maintain the moneys received from the Net Special Assessments and
in such amounts and at such times as will be sufficient to enable the City to satisfy its obligations
under this Agreement. The City has no obligation to use or apply to the payment of the Assigned
Special Assessments any funds or revenues from any other source other than the moneys received
by the City from the collection of the Net Special Assessments. Nothing herein, however, shall be
deemed to prohibit the City from using, in its sole discretion, to the extent that it is authorized to
do so, any other resources or from taking actions to fulfill any of the terms, conditions or
obligations of this Agreement or from providing moneys for the payment of Bond Service Charges
on the Series 2024A Bonds.

Section4.2.  Enforcement of Obligations of City and Issuer. The obligation of the City
to provide to the Issuer and pay to the Trustee the Assigned Special Assessments is a continuing
obligation pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 5705.44. All of the obligations of the [ssuer and
the City under this Agreement are hereby established as duties specifically enjoined by law and
resulting from an office, trust, or station upon the City and the Issuer, respectively, within the
meaning of Section 2731.01 of the Ohio Revised Code and shall be enforceable by mandamus;

21



and the enforcement of such obligations by mandamus against the City or Issuer shall be the sole
remedy available to the other parties hereto and/or any Holder with respect to any and all claims
against the City or the Issuer hereunder.

(End of Article IV)

22



ARTICLE V

Additional Agreements and Covenants

Section 5.1.  Right of Inspection. The Issuer, the District and the Trustee, and their
respective agents, shall have the right during normal business hours to inspect the Series 2024A
Project during the construction thereof upon reasonable advance notice to the Developer and with
reasonable safety precautions.

Section 5.2. Indemnification.

(a) The Developer (the “Indemnifying Party”) releases the Issuer, the District,
the City, and the Trustee, and their respective officers, officials, directors, employees and
agents, (each, an “Indemnified Party” and collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”) from,
and agrees that the Indemnified Parties shall not be liable for and indemnifies the
Indemnified Parties against, all liabilities, claims, costs and expenses, including out-of-
pocket and incidental expenses and reasonable legal fees, imposed upon, incurred or
asserted against an Indemnified Party on account of: (i) any loss or damage to property or
injury to or death of or loss by any person that may be occasioned by any cause whatsoever
pertaining to the acquisition, construction, installation, equipping and improvement of the
Series 2024 A Project, or any part thereof, and the maintenance, operation and use by the
Indemnifying Party and its tenants, lessees, licensees and other users of the Series 2024A
Project and any part thereof; (ii) any breach or default on the part of the Indemnifying Party
in the performance of any covenant, obligation or agreement of the Indemnifying Party, or
arising from any act or failure to act by the Indemnifying Party, under this Agreement, any
other Operative Document, or any contract for the construction or provision of the Series
2024A Project to which the Indemnifying Party is a party; (iii) any representation or
warranty made by the Indemnifying Party to any of the Indemnified Parties in this
Agreement or the other Operative Documents to which it is a party proving to be false or
misleading in any material respect when made or given; (iv) a breach of any warranty or
covenant made by the Indemnifying Party (or its predecessors) to the City with respect to
the title to the Series 2024A Project or the Project Site, to the extent the costs relating to
the claim for breach are not paid for by a policy of title insurance; (v) the issuance, sale,
redemption or servicing of the Series 2024 A Bonds; (vi) any action taken or omitted to be
taken by the Issuer, the District, the City or the Trustee pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement or any other Operative Document at the request of the Indemnifying Party; and
(vii) any claim, action or proceeding brought with respect to any matter set forth in clause
(1), (iD), (iii), (iv), (v), or (vi) above; provided, that for the Indemnified Party seeking
indemnification, such losses did not result solely from (x) its willful misconduct or gross
negligence of such Indemnified Party or (y) its breach of any material representation,
warranty or covenant made by it in this Agreement or in any of the Operative Documents
to which it is a party.

(b) The Indemnifying Party agrees to indemnify and hold the Indemnified

Parties harmless from and against all liabilities, and all reasonable costs and expenses,
including out-of-pocket expenses and reasonable legal fees incurred by an Indemnified

23



Party as a result of the existence on, or release from, the Project Site, of Hazardous
Substances or arising out of any claim for violation or failure to comply with
Environmental Laws in connection with the Series 2024A Project.

(©) The Indemnifying Party agrees to indemnify and hold the Trustee harmless
against its Ordinary Expenses and its Extraordinary Expenses; provided, that such fees and
expenses did not result from the willful misconduct or gross negligence of the Trustee.

(d) In case any claim or demand is at any time made, or action or proceeding,
whether legal or administrative, is brought, against or otherwise involving any Indemnified
Party in respect of which indemnity may be sought hereunder, the Indemnified Party
seeking indemnity promptly shall give notice of that action or proceeding to the
Indemnifying Party, and the Indemnifying Party, upon receipt of that notice, shall have the
obligation upon the request of the Indemnified Party to assume the defense of the action or
proceeding; provided, that failure of the Indemnified Party to give that notice shall not
relieve the Indemnifying Party from any of its obligations under this section unless, and
only to the extent, that failure prejudices the defense of the action or proceeding by the
Indemnifying Party.

(e) Nothing in this Agreement is meant to release, extinguish or otherwise alter
or interfere with any rights which the Indemnified Parties may now or hereafter have
against the Indemnifying Party or any other Person for any environmental liabilities as a
result of the Indemnifying Party’s former, present or future ownership, occupancy or use
of or interest in, any real property included in or in the vicinity of the Series 2024A Project.

® The indemnification set forth in this Section 5.2 is intended to and shall
include the indemnification of the Indemnified Party and each Indemnified Party’s
successors and permitted assigns. That indemnification is intended to and shall be
enforceable thereby to the full extent permitted by law and shall survive the termination of
this Agreement and repayment of the Series 2024 A Bonds.

Section 5.3.  Litigation Notice. Each of the Cooperative Parties shall give to the others
prompt notice of any action, suit or proceeding, whether legal or administrative, by or against any
of the Cooperative Parties at law or in equity, or before any governmental instrumentality or
agency, or of any of the same which is threatened in writing, of which such Cooperative Party has
notice, which, if adversely determined, would materially impair the right or ability of a
Cooperative Party to carry out its obligations contemplated under the Operative Documents in
connection with the Series 2024A Project.

Section 5.4. Developer to Maintain its Existence. The Developer agrees not to sell,
transfer or otherwise dispose of all, or substantially all, of its assets, consolidate with or merge into
any other entity, or permit one or more entities to consolidate with or merge into it; provided,
however, that the foregoing notwithstanding, the Developer may, without the consent of the Issuer
or any other Cooperative Party, consolidate with or merge into another entity, or permit one or
more other entities to consolidate with or merge into it, or sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of all,
or substantially all, of its assets and thereafter dissolve (if it shall so elect) if the Developer has
delivered a written notice to the Issuer no later than 30 days prior to the date of any sale, disposal,

24



transfer, merger or consolidation notifying the Issuer of the proposed transaction and providing a
copy of an executed Assignment and Assumption of this Agreement by the appropriate entity
agreeing to assume all the obligations and liabilities of Developer under this Agreement.

(End of Article V)

25



ARTICLE VI

Provisions Relating to Trustee

Section 6.1.  Duties of Trustee. For purposes of performing its duties under this
Agreement, the Trustee agrees to perform its duties in accordance with the terms and provisions
this Agreement and the Indenture.

Section 6.2.  Trustee’s Liability. Neither the Trustee nor any of its officers, directors,
employees, attorneys, designees or agents shall be liable to any of the other Cooperative Parties
for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it unless resulting from gross negligence or willful
misconduct. Except as expressly provided for in this Agreement, the Trustee shall not be
responsible in any manner to any or all of the other Cooperative Parties for the effectiveness,
enforceability, genuineness, validity, or the due execution of any of the Operative Documents or
for any representation, warranty, document, certificate, report, opinion or statement herein or made
or furnished under or in connection therewith, or be under any obligation to any or all of the other
Cooperative Parties to ascertain or to inquire as to the performance or observance of any of the
terms, covenants, or conditions of any of the Operative Documents on the part of any party thereto.
Nothing in this Agreement is intended to derogate from or otherwise modify the duties or limits
the rights of the Trustee with respect to the Series 2024A Bonds or under the Indenture when acting
in its capacity as Trustee.

Section 6.3.  Reliance by Trustee. The Trustee and its officers, directors, employees,
attorneys, designees and agents shall be entitled to rely and shall be fully protected in relying upon
any writing, resolution, notice, consent, certificate, affidavit, letter, statement, order or other
document or conversation, believed by it or them to be genuine and correct and to have been
signed, sent, or made by the proper person, and with respect to legal matters, upon an opinion of
legal counsel selected by the Trustee, and with respect to accounting and financial matters, upon
an independent accountant or financial expert selected by the Trustee. The Trustee shall not be
obligated to risk its own funds or otherwise incur any financial liability in the performance of any
of its obligations under this Agreement and the other Operative Documents or in the exercise of
its powers, if in its reasonable judgment repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against
such risk or liability is not reasonably assured to it.

(End of Article VI)

26



ARTICLE VII

Events of Default and Remedies

Section 7.1.  Events of Default. Each of the following shall be an Event of Default:

(a) The City shall fail to pay and deliver to the Trustee any Assigned Special
Assessment when due hereunder and in accordance with this Agreement and such failure
continues for five Business Days after written notice from the Trustee.

(b) A Cooperative Party shall fail to observe and perform any agreement, term
or condition contained in this Agreement to be performed by it, and such failure continues
for a period of 30 days after notice thereof shall have been given to the defaulting
Cooperative Party by the Trustee or any of the non-defaulting Cooperative Parties, or for
such longer period as the non-defaulting Cooperative Parties may agree to in writing;
provided, that if the failure is other than the payment of money and is of such nature that it
can be corrected but not within the applicable period, that failure shall not constitute an
Event of Default so long as the defaulting Cooperative Party institutes curative action
within the applicable period and diligently pursues that action to completion and provides
a certification to such effect.

(c) The Developer shall: (i) (A) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts
generally as they become due; (B) file a petition in bankruptcy or a petition to take
advantage of any insolvency act, or (C) make an assignment for the benefit of creditors; or
(D) consent to the appointment of a receiver for itself or of the whole or any substantial
part of its property; or (ii) file a petition or answer seeking reorganization or arrangement
under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law or statute of the United States
of America or any state thereof.

(d)  Any representation or warranty made by a Cooperative Party in this
Agreement shall have been false or misleading in any material respect when made or given.

(e) The Developer shall fail to pay when due any Special Assessment and such
failure continues for five calendar days after written notice from the Trustee.

Except for any obligation to pay moneys when due hereunder, notwithstanding the

foregoing, if, by reason of Force Majeure, any Cooperative Party is unable to perform or observe
any agreement, term or condition hereof which would give rise to an Event of Default under
subsection (b) hereof, the defaulting Cooperative Party shall not be deemed in default during the
continuance of such inability. However, the defaulting Cooperative Party shall promptly give
notice to the others of the existence of an event of Force Majeure and shall use its best efforts to
remove the effects thereof; provided that the settlement of strikes or other industrial disturbances
shall be entirely within the discretion of the affected Cooperative Party.

The declaration of an Event of Default under subsection (c), above, and the exercise of

remedies upon any such declaration, shall be subject to any applicable limitations of federal

27



bankruptcy law affecting or precluding that declaration or exercise during the pendency of or
immediately following any bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization proceedings.

Section 7.2.  Remedies on Default. Whenever an Event of Default shall have happened
and be subsisting, any one or more of the following remedial steps may be taken:

(a) (i) If the Developer is the defaulting party, the other Cooperative Parties
may have access to, inspect, examine and make copies of the books, records, accounts and
financial data of the Developer pertaining to the Series 2024A Project; and (ii) if the City
is the defaulting party, the other Cooperative Parties may have access to, inspect, examine
and make copies of the books, records, accounts and financial data of the City pertaining
the Special Assessments.

(b)  Any non-defaulting Cooperative Parties may pursue all remedies now or
hereafter existing under this Agreement or at law or in equity to enforce the terms of this
Agreement and to collect all amounts then due and thereafter to become due and owed to
them hereunder.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee shall not be obligated to take any step which in
its opinion will or might cause it to expend time or money or otherwise incur liability unless and
until a satisfactory indemnity bond has been furnished to it at no cost or expense to the Trustee.

Nothing in this Agreement shall limit or restrict the access that any Cooperative Party has
to any rights, recourse and remedies available under any other Operative Document to which it is
a party and following an event of default under any such Operative Document, the non-defaulting
Cooperative Party shall have access to all rights, recourse and remedies against the defaulting
Cooperative Party available to the non-defaulting Cooperative Party under such Operative
Document. Notwithstanding the foregoing however, with respect to any and all claims arising out
of the City’s default under this Agreement or under any other Operative Document, the non-
defaulting Cooperative Parties’ and/or any Holder's sole remedy and recourse against the City shall
be limited to seeking and obtaining a writ of mandamus to compel the City’s performance of its
obligations under this Agreement and/or under the applicable Operative Document.

Section 7.3.  No Remedy Exclusive. Except as set forth hereinabove with respect to
remedies against the City, no remedy conferred upon or reserved to a non-defaulting Cooperative
Party by this Agreement or under any of the other Operative Documents is intended to be exclusive
of any other available remedy or remedies, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative
and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under this Agreement, or now or hereafter
existing at law, in equity or by statute. No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing
upon any default shall impair that right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but
any such right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed
expedient. In order to entitle a non-defaulting Cooperative Party to exercise any remedy reserved
to it in this Agreement, it shall not be necessary to give any notice, other than any notice required
by law or for which express provision is made herein.

Section 7.4.  Agreement to Pay Legal Fees and Expenses. If an Event of Default should
occur and the Issuer, the City, the District or the Trustee should incur expenses, including without

28



limitation reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, in connection with the enforcement of this
Agreement against the Developer, the Developer shall reimburse the Issuer, the District, the City,
or the Trustee, as the case may be, for the reasonable expenses so incurred within thirty (30) days
following written demand therefor. If any such expenses are not so reimbursed, the amount
thereof, together with interest thereon from the date of demand for payment at the Interest Rate for
Advances, to the extent permitted by law, shall constitute indebtedness of the Developer and in
any action brought to collect that indebtedness or to enforce this Agreement, the party to whom
the indebtedness is owed shall be entitled to seek the recovery of those expenses in such action,
except as limited by law or judicial order or decision entered in such proceedings.

Section7.5. No Waiver. No failure by a Cooperative Party to insist upon the strict
performance by another Cooperative Party of any provision of this Agreement shall constitute a
waiver of its right to strict performance and no express waiver shall be deemed to apply to any
other existing or subsequent right to remedy the failure of such Cooperative Party to observe or
comply with any provision hereof.

Section 7.6. Notice of Default. Each Cooperative Party shall notify the other
Cooperative Parties promptly if it becomes aware of the occurrence of any Event of Default
hereunder or of any fact, condition or event which, with the giving of notice or passage of time or
both, would become an Event of Default.

(End of Article VII)

29



ARTICLE VIII

Miscellaneous

Section 8.1.  Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall be and remain in full force and
effect from the date hereof until no Series 2024A Bond shall remain Outstanding (except for the
obligations imposed under Section 5.2, Section 7.2 and Section 7.4 hereof, which shall survive the
expiration or termination of this Agreement). Upon termination of this Agreement, the Cooperative
Parties will take such action as shall be required of them to release any liens on the Series 2024A
Project.

Section 8.2. Notices. All notices, certificates, requests or other communications
hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to be sufficiently given when mailed by
registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or delivered by overnight courier service, and
addressed to the appropriate Notice Address. A duplicate copy of each notice, certificate, request
or other communication given hereunder to any Cooperative Party shall also be given to the other
Cooperative Parties (other than the Trustee); provided, however, the Trustee shall only be required
to provide notices and certificates to the other Cooperative Parties that are specifically required to
be so delivered under the terms hereof. The Cooperative Parties, by notice given hereunder, may
designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates, requests or
other communications shall be sent. If, because of the suspension of delivery of certified or
registered mail or for any other reason, notice, certificates or requests or other communications are
unable to be given by the required class of mail or courier service, any notice required to be mailed
or delivered by courier service by the provisions of this Agreement shall be given in such other
manner as in the judgment of the Issuer shall most effectively approximate mailing thereof or
delivery by courier service, and the giving of that notice in that manner for all purposes of this
Agreement shall be deemed to be in compliance with the requirement for delivery under this
Section. Except as otherwise provided herein, the mailing of any notice shall be deemed complete
upon deposit of that notice in the mail and the giving of any notice by any other means of delivery
shall be deemed complete upon receipt of the notice by the delivery service.

Section 8.3.  Extent of Covenants; No Personal Liability. All covenants, obligations and
agreements of the Cooperative Parties contained in this Agreement and the other Operative
Documents shall be effective to the extent authorized and permitted by applicable law. No such
covenant, obligation or agreement shall be deemed to be a covenant, obligation or agreement of
any present or future officer, official, employee or agent of the Issuer, the District or the City or
their respective Legislative Authorities in other than its official capacity, or of the Developer, and
neither the members of any Legislative Authorities nor any official executing the Operative
Documents or any Series 2024A Bond, nor any officer, official, employee or agent of the
Developer, shall be liable personally on the Operative Documents or such Bonds or be subject to
any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance thereof or by reason of the
covenants, obligations or agreements of the Issuer, the District, the City or the Developer contained
in this Agreement or in the other Operative Documents.

Section 8.4.  Binding Effect. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be
binding in accordance with its terms upon the Cooperative Parties and their respective permitted

30



successors and assigns; provided that while any of the Series 2024A Bonds remains Outstanding,
the interests in and obligations of any party to pay, pledge or assign any of the Pledged Revenues
may not be assigned by such party (except to the extent contemplated in this Agreement). This
Agreement may be enforced only by the parties, their assignees and others who may, by law, stand
in their respective places.

Section 8.5.  Amendments and Supplements. Except as otherwise expressly provided in
this Agreement or the other Operative Documents, (a) subsequent to the issuance of the Series
2024A Bonds and while the Series 2024A Bonds remain Outstanding, no provision of this
Agreement or the other Operative Documents relating to the payment of the Assigned Special
Assessments or other security for the Series 2024A Bonds may be effectively amended, changed,
modified, altered or terminated, except in accordance with the Indenture; and (b) subsequent to the
issuance of the Series 2024A Bonds and while the Series 2024A Bonds remain Outstanding, the
Plan shall not be amended or modified in any manner that would reduce or diminish the amounts
of the Net Special Assessments. In no event shall any amendment or modification to this
Agreement be effective unless signed by all of the Cooperative Parties.

Section 8.6.  Execution Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterpart
and in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be regarded as an original and all of which
shall constitute but one and the same instrument. Signatures transmitted by facsimile or electronic
means are deemed to be original signatures.

Section 8.7.  Severability. If any provision of this Agreement, or any covenant,
obligation or agreement contained herein is determined by a court to be invalid or unenforceable,
that determination shall not affect any other provision, covenant, obligation or agreement, each of
which shall be construed and enforced as if the invalid or unenforceable portion were not contained
herein. That invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any valid and enforceable application
thereof, and each such provision, covenant, obligation or agreement shall be deemed to be
effective, operative, made, entered into or taken in the manner and to the full extent permitted by
law.

Section 8.8.  Limitation of Rights. With the exception of rights conferred expressly in
this Agreement, nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this Agreement is
intended or shall be construed to give to any Person other than the Cooperative Parties and the
Holders of the Series 2024A Bonds any legal or equitable right, remedy, power or claim under or
with respect to this Agreement or any covenants, agreements, conditions and provisions contained
herein. This Agreement and all of those covenants, agreements, conditions and provisions are
intended to be, and are, for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Cooperative Parties and the
Holders of the Series 2024 A Bonds, as provided herein.

Section 8.9. _Governing Law. This Agreement shall be deemed to be a contract made
under the laws of the State and for all purposes shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of the State. Any legal suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this
Agreement shall be instituted in a State court sitting in the County.

31



(End of Article VIII)

32



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Cooperative Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly
executed in their respective names, all as of the date first hereinbefore written.

DEVELOPMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY OF

SUMMIT COUNTY
By:
Chris Burnham, President
Approved as to form and correctness: CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO
By:
Director of Law Name:
City of Medina, Ohio Title:

CITY OF MEDINA ENERGY SPECIAL
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, INC. DBA
MEDINA COUNTY ENERGY
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

By:
Name:
Title:

LEGACY HOTEL OF MEDINA, LLC, an Ohio
limited liability company

By:
Name:
Title:

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

By:

David Schlabach, Vice President

[signature page to Cooperative Agreement]



ISSUER’S FISCAL OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, Assistant Secretary and Fiscal Officer of the Issuer, hereby certifies that
the moneys required to meet the obligations of the Issuer during the year 2024 under the foregoing
Cooperative Agreement have been lawfully appropriated by the Legislative Authority of the Issuer
for such purposes and are in the treasury of the Issuer or in the process of collection to the credit
of an appropriate fund, free from any previous encumbrances. This Certificate is given in
compliance with Sections 5705.41 and 5705.44, Ohio Revised Code.

Assistant Secretary and Fiscal Officer
Development Finance Authority of Summit County

Dated: , 2024

[Issuer’s Fiscal Officer’s Certificate]



CITY’S FISCAL OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, Director of Finance of the City, hereby certifies that no moneys are
required to meet the obligations of the City during the year 2024 under the foregoing Cooperative
Agreement. This Certificate is given in compliance with Sections 5705.41 and 5705.44, Ohio
Revised Code.

Director of Finance
City of Medina, Ohio

Dated: , 2024

[City’s Fiscal Officer’s Certificate]



SIUNOUWLY paiInbay

Vv LIdIHXH



EXHIBIT B

Petition and Plan

B-1



Ord. 106-24

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT
(ORC Sections 5721.33 and 9.482)

by and among

COUNTY TREASURER OF MEDINA COUNTY, OHIO
(“Treasurer™),

And

CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO
(“City”)’

And

CITY OF MEDINA ENERGY SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, INC. DBA MEDINA
COUNTY ENERGY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
(“District™),
And

LEGACY HOTEL OF MEDINA, LLC
(“OWner”),

And
DEVELOPMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY OF SUMMIT COUNTY
(4‘DFA’9)

Dated as of [Closing Date]



SPECIAL ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT

THIS SPECIAL ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made effective as
of [Closing Date], by and among the County Treasurer of Medina County, Ohio (the “Treasurer”),
the City of Medina, Ohio (the “City”), the City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District,
Inc. dba Medina County Energy Improvement District (“District”), Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC
(the “Owner), and the Development Finance Authority of Summit County (together with its
permitted successors and assigns, the “DFA”) (the Treasurer, the District, the City, the Owner, and
the DFA are collectively referred to herein as the “Parties™).

BACKGROUND:

WHEREAS, the District was created under Ohio Revised Code Chapters 1702 and 1710
and established pursuant to Ordinance of the City of Medina, Ohio (the “Council™); and

WHEREAS, the District is an energy special improvement district and nonprofit
corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Ohio to further the
public purpose of implementing special energy improvement projects pursuant to the authority in
Ohio Revised Code Chapter 1710 and Article VIII, Section 20 of the Ohio Constitution; and

WHEREAS, the Council of the City approved the Medina Energy Special Improvement
District Project Plan (the “Original Plan™), as a plan for public improvements or public services
for the District under Ohio Revised Code Section 1710.02(F); and

WHEREAS, the Owner has determined that it is in its best interests to cause the acquisition,
installation, equipping, and improvement of special energy efficiency improvements and related
improvements (collectively, the “Project”) on certain real property located within Medina County,
Ohio (the “County”) and the City, and as more fully described in Exhibit A to this Agreement (the
“Assessed Lands™); and

WHEREAS, the costs of the Project are being funded in part through an advance in the
amount of $[Principal Amount] (the “Project Advance”) to the Owner pursuant to a Cooperative
Agreement dated as of 1,2024 (the “Cooperative Agreement”) among the District, the DFA,
the Owner, the City and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as Trustee, as amended
or supplemented from time to time; and

WHEREAS, to secure the repayment of the principal of, and the payment of any premium,
fees, and unpaid interest on, the Project Advance used to finance the Project (the “Project Costs™),
(i) the Owner signed and delivered to the Clerk of the Council a Petition for Special Assessments
for Special Energy Improvement Projects and Affidavit (the “Petition”) for the acquisition,
installation, equipping, and improvement of the Project and evidencing Owner’s agreement to the
levy and collection of special assessments by the City (the “Special Assessments”) on the Assessed
Lands, which are located within the District, in amounts sufficient to pay the Project Costs, and
(ii) the City (a) has taken all the necessary actions required by Ohio Revised Code Chapter 727,
including, without limitation, the passage of the assessing resolution or ordinance pursuant to the

1



requirements of Ohio Revised Code Section 727.25, for the levying of the Special Assessments
and has caused or will cause the Special Assessments to be certified to the County Auditor of
Medina County, Ohio (the “County Auditor”) for collection by the Treasurer in semi-annual
installments, and (b) hereby has agreed to transfer to the DFA the payments of Special Assessments
received to pay the Project Costs.

WHEREAS, the Owner agrees that its delivery of the Petition and the requests and
agreements made in the Petition are irrevocable and that the Parties have acted and will act in
reliance on the agreements contained in the Petition; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Petition, the Special Assessments have been levied against the
Assessed Lands as described in the Petition and pursuant to this Agreement the Owner is willing
to agree to make Special Assessment payments in accordance with the Petition; and

WHEREAS, Ohio Revised Code Chapters 323 and 5721 set forth certain parameters and
timing requirements for the foreclosure of property on which taxes and assessments, including the
Special Assessments, are due and owing and remain unpaid; and

WHEREAS, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default pursuant to the Cooperative
Agreement, it may be necessary for the District to foreclose on the lien of the Special Assessments
with respect to the Assessed Lands as set forth in Section 2 of this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, in consideration of the Project Advance, the Owner is willing to consent to
an expedited foreclosure process with respect to the lien of the Special Assessments, the form of
the consent being attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Owner Consent™) and the Owner Consent
with respect to the foreclosure of the Special Assessments as soon as possible (as referenced in
Section 2 hereof) shall be a covenant running with Assessed Lands and binding upon the Owner
and upon future owners of the Assessed Lands until the Project Costs are paid in full; and

WHEREAS, based on the Owner Consent and other considerations, including, without
limitation, the right to be indemnified pursuant to this Agreement, at the request of the District
and, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default described under Section 7.1 of the Cooperative
Agreement, the Treasurer has agreed to foreclose the lien of the Special Assessments as soon as
possible as described herein upon an occurrence of an Event of Default under the Cooperative
Agreement; and

WHEREAS, if any assessments, including, without limitation, the Special Assessments,
payments in lieu of taxes, real property taxes, or other governmental charges levied on the
Assessed Lands are not paid when due and thereafter remain delinquent, the Treasurer, pursuant
to Ohio Revised Code Sections 5721.30 through 5721.41 (the “Delinquent Tax Lien Sale Act™),
specifically Ohio Revised Code Section 5721.33, may, in his discretion, but is not required to,
negotiate with one or more persons the sale of any number of tax certificates (“Tax Certificates”)
which evidence the liens (the “Tax Liens”) of the State of Ohio (the “State™) and its applicable
taxing districts for such delinquent assessments, including Special Assessments, real property



taxes, payments in lieu of taxes, governmental charges, or penalties and interest on such Assessed
Lands; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Delinquent Tax Lien Sale Act, the Treasurer, in its discretion,
may sell such Tax Certificates at a discount from the full amount of the general real estate taxes,
assessments, including the Special Assessments, penalties, and interest that have become
delinquent; and

WHEREAS, if the Treasurer were to sell such Tax Certificates at a discount (other than in
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement), the proceeds of such sale representing the
delinquent Special Assessments might be insufficient to pay the Project Costs; and

WHEREAS, the Treasurer does not desire to take any action with respect to the collection
of the Special Assessments that might adversely affect the repayment of the Project Advance
without the consent of the District or adversely affect the payment of the Project Costs without the
consent of the District; and

WHEREAS, the Treasurer has agreed to remit to the District, in the event of a default under
the Cooperative Agreement, as set forth in this Agreement, amounts collected by the Treasurer
and relating to the Special Assessments, including without limitation amounts collected by the
Treasurer as a result of foreclosure of the lien of the Special Assessments on the Assessed Lands
and including amounts received from a sale of Tax Certificates pursuant to the Delinquent Tax
Lien Sale Act;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual covenants
contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby
acknowledged, and desiring to be legally bound hereunder, the Parties hereto covenant and agree
as follows:

Section 1. Special Assessments.

1.1 The Owner, prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, signed
and delivered to the Clerk of the Council the Petition for the acquisition, installation, equipping,
and improvement of the Project and evidencing the agreement of the Owner to the levy of the
Special Assessments as security for the Project Advance. The Owner agrees that its delivery of
the Petition and the requests and agreements made therein are irrevocable and that the Parties
hereto have acted and will act in reliance on the agreements contained in that Petition. The City
shall take all necessary actions required by Ohio Revised Code Chapter 727 to levy and collect the
Special Assessments on the Assessed Lands. On , 2024 the Council passed
Ordinance No. pursuant to the requirements of Ohio Revised Code Section
727.25 for the levying of the Special Assessments (the “Assessing Ordinance”). The Clerk of the
Council certified (or caused to be certified) the Assessing Ordinance to the County Auditor as set
forth in the Petition.




1.2 The City shall cause the Special Assessments, as set forth in the Assessment
Schedule attached to the Petition, to be certified to the County Auditor on or before the last date
for the certification of special assessments to the County Auditor of each year during which the
Special Assessments are to be levied pursuant to the Assessment Schedule. The Parties
acknowledge that pursuant to such certification, the Special Assessments are expected to be
collected and paid to the City pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Chapters 319, 321, 323, and 727.

1.3 Inthe event the Project Advance is prepaid or redeemed in accordance with
the Cooperative Agreement, in whole or in part, the Parties shall, in cooperation with the Owner,
and to the extent permitted by law, cause the aggregate lien of the Special Assessments to be no
greater than the remaining principal of and interest and premium, if any, on the Project Advance
through maturity.

1.4 To the extent that the Owner prepays any of the required payments to the
DFA pursuant to the Cooperative Agreement, then the amounts of the Special Assessments shall
be reduced in accordance with the appropriate Assessment Schedule attached to the Petition.

1.5 To facilitate the repayment of the Project Advance, the City, pursuant to
Section 4.1 of the Cooperative Agreement, assigned to the DFA all of its right, title, and interest
in and to the Special Assessments, the funds of the City established to collect and hold the Special
Assessments, and any other property received or to be received from the City under the
Cooperative Agreement. The Treasurer, the City, the District, the Owner, and the DFA each
hereby acknowledges, agrees with, and consents to those assignments.

1.6  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Treasurer’s
obligations under this Agreement are not and shall not be secured by an obligation or pledge of
any moneys raised by taxation. The Treasurer’s obligations shall be limited to the moneys levied,
collected, and received in respect of the Special Assessments and any County-imposed collection
fees, charges, or penalties. The Treasurer’s obligations under this Agreement do not and shall not
represent or constitute a debt or pledge of the faith and credit or taxing power of the County.

1.7 Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the City’s
obligations under this Agreement are not and shall not be secured by an obligation or pledge of
any moneys raised by taxation. The City’s obligation under this Agreement shall be limited to any
moneys received from the County in respect of the Special Assessments and any County-imposed
collection fees, charges, or penalties. The City’s obligations under this Agreement do not and shall
not represent or constitute a debt or pledge of the faith and credit or taxing power of the City.

Section 2. Foreclosure Process.

2.1 The Treasurer, the City, the DFA, and the Owner each acknowledge that the
Special Assessments are to secure payments relating to the Project Advance, including the Project
Costs and other amounts as provided under the Cooperative Agreement. The Treasurer agrees that
so long as the Project Advance is outstanding and the Project Costs and other amounts under the
Cooperative Agreement are secured, at least in part, by the revenues derived from the Special

4



Assessments, the Treasurer will, upon receipt of written notice from the DFA or the District (with
a copy to the other of the DFA or the District, and to the Owner and the City) that an Event of
Default (solely as described under Section 7.1(a) of the Cooperative Agreement) has occurred and
is continuing and which notice requests the Treasurer to foreclose on the lien of the Special
Assessments, file and diligently prosecute a foreclosure action against the Assessed Lands
following the procedures for lien foreclosures established in Ohio Revised Code Section 323.25
and related sections, but not earlier than the sixtieth day following receipt by the Treasurer of the
delinquent land list certifying that the Special Assessments are delinquent. The foreclosure action
shall be to collect all Special Assessments then due and owing on the Assessed Lands in
accordance with the Petition. Without the prior written consent of the District and the DFA, the
Treasurer will not confirm the sale of the Assessed Lands for an amount less than 100% of the
amount of the Special Assessments and other general real estate taxes, payments in lieu of taxes,
and assessments then due and owing with respect to the Assessed Lands, as shall be certified by
the District to the Treasurer pursuant to the records of the Treasurer, except and unless the
Assessed Lands become forfeited land subject to Ohio Revised Code Chapter 5723. All fees and
expenses of the Treasurer in collecting the Special Assessments are to be included and paid for by
the Owner. All fees and expenses of the Treasurer in collecting the Special Assessments, including
other general real estate taxes, payments in lieu of taxes, and assessments then due and owing are
to be included and paid for by the Owner prior to any such amounts being paid to the City and to
other affected taxing jurisdictions and special districts. The City, DFA, and Owner understand and
agree that the failure of the Treasurer to obtain any consent under Section 2.1 shall not create a
cause for action against the Treasurer, the Medina County Board of County Commissioners, or
Medina County, nor shall it subject the Treasurer, the Medina County Board of County
Commissioners, or Medina County to liability for any difference between the foreclosure price
and the amount of the delinquent Special Assessments. Further, nothing in this Agreement shall
be construed to limit any immunity to which the Treasurer may be entitled pursuant to Chapter
2744 of the Ohio Revised Code.

2.2 The Treasurer hereby acknowledges that the City has assigned all of its
right, title, and interest in and to the Special Assessments to the DFA, and that the District has
assigned all of its right, title, and interest it may have in and to the Special Assessments to the
DFA, and the Treasurer hereby agrees that so long as the Project Advance is outstanding and the
Project Costs and other amounts under the Cooperative Agreement are secured, at least in part, by
the revenues derived from the Special Assessments, the Treasurer will not sell or negotiate the sale
of one or more Tax Certificates related to the Assessed Lands for an amount less than 100% of the

amount levied and certified for collection without the prior written consent of the District and the
DFA.

2.3 The Treasurer hereby covenants and agrees that if any of the general real
estate taxes, payments in lieu of taxes, assessments, including the Special Assessments,
governmental charges, or penalties and interest on the Assessed Lands are delinquent and the
Delinquent Tax Lien Sale Act would permit the Treasurer to negotiate the sale of Tax Certificates
with respect thereto, the Treasurer will, prior to giving any notice under the Delinquent Tax Lien
Sale Act of a sale of Tax Certificates with respect to the Assessed Lands, give written notice to the

5



District and the DFA regarding the same and state therein whether the Treasurer reasonably
anticipates receiving no less than 100% of the general real estate taxes, payments in lieu of taxes,
and assessments, including the Special Assessments, penalties and interest, originally levied and
certified for collection plus other charges, including attorney’s fees, or whether the Treasurer
reasonably expects to receive less than 100% of the general real estate taxes, payments in lieu of
taxes, and assessments, including the Special Assessments, penalties and interest, levied and
certified for collection plus other charges, including attorney’s fees, and in accordance with this
Agreement is requesting the consent of the District and the DFA for such a sale.

24 The Treasurer agrees, on behalf of the County, not to utilize the authority
contained in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 5722 to transfer any of the Assessed Lands to the county
land reutilization corporation, to sell or convey any of the Assessed Lands to any political
subdivision under the authority contained in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 5722, or to clear the liens
and encumbrances applicable to the Assessed Lands under the authority contained in Ohio Revised
Code Chapter 5722 without the express written consent of the District and the DFA.

2.5  Nothing in this Agreement shall, or shall be construed to, prevent the
Treasurer from selling one or more Tax Certificates with respect to the Assessed Lands to a third
party without the consent of the District if the price received for the Tax Certificate or Tax
Certificates equals or exceeds 100% of the delinquent general real estate taxes, assessments,
including the Special Assessments, penalties and interest on the Assessed Lands outstanding
against the Assessed Lands at the time of such sale.

2.6 The District and the DFA each hereby agrees that upon written notice from
the Treasurer pursuant to Section 2.1 of this Agreement, it, within 30 days of receipt of the
Treasurer’s notice, shall give a written response to the Treasurer indicating therein whether it
consents to the request for sale of a Tax Certificate or Tax Certificates.

2.7 Delay or failure of the District or the DFA to give a written response within
30 days of receipt of such notice shall be construed to be a consent to such request or to be a waiver
of the right to give such consent. No consent or refusal thereof by the District or the DFA in
response to a request by the Treasurer shall extend to or affect any subsequent request of the
Treasurer or shall impair the rights of the District or the DFA with respect to any such subsequent
request.

2.8 Solong as the Project Costs are outstanding, the Treasurer hereby covenants
and agrees (a) to remit to the DFA, as appropriate and as provided for herein, not more than 30
days from the date of collection by the Treasurer, any amounts collected with respect to the
Assessed Lands as payment for delinquent Special Assessments, including any amounts collected
from Tax Certificates; and (b) to the extent the Treasurer seeks and is appointed as receiver for the
Assessed Lands, as provided for in Chapter 323 of the Revised Code, after payment of reasonable
fees and expenses of the Treasurer, all amounts collected by the Treasurer, as receiver for the
Assessed Lands and collected as a result of any delinquent Special Assessments, shall be remitted
to the DFA.



Section 3. Indemnification by Owner

3.1 The Owner hereby releases the District, the City, the Treasurer, the DFA,
and their respective officers, directors, and employees (the “Indemnified Parties™), from, agrees
that the Indemnified Parties shall not be liable for, and indemnifies the Indemnified Parties against,
all liabilities, claims, costs, and expenses, including out-of-pocket and incidental expenses and
legal fees, imposed upon, incurred, or asserted against Indemnified Parties, on account of: (i) any
loss or damage to property or injury to or death of or loss by any person that may be occasioned
by any cause whatsoever pertaining to the acquisition, installation, equipping, improvement,
maintenance, operation, and use of the Project; (ii) any breach or default on the part of the Owner
in the performance of any covenant, obligation, or agreement of the Owner under the Cooperative
Agreement, or arising from any act or failure to act by the Owner, or any of the Owner’s agents,
contractors, servants, employees, or licensees; (iii) the Owner’s failure to comply with any
requirement of this Agreement; (iv) the efforts of the City and the Treasurer to collect Special
Assessments; (v) any legal costs or out-of-pocket costs incurred by the District specifically related
to additional approvals or actions that may be required by the District arising after the date of the
Cooperative Agreement (and in the case of such legal costs or out-of-pocket costs, agrees to pay
such costs directly to the District); and (vi) any claim, action or proceeding brought with respect
to any matter set forth in clause (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), or (v) above, provided, however that the Owner
shall not indemnify the Indemnified Parties as provided above to the extent that any liability, claim,
cost, or expenses arises out of or results from the gross negligence, willful misconduct, or breach
of this Agreement or the Cooperative Agreement of the Indemnified Parties.

3.2 The Owner agrees to indemnify, to pay, and to hold each of the Indemnified
Parties harmless from and against all liabilities, and all reasonable costs and expenses, including
out-of-pocket expenses and attorneys’ fees, arising out of any federal, state, or local environmental
laws, regulations, resolutions or ordinances, incurred by any of the Indemnified Parties as a result
of the existence on or release from the Assessed Lands of Hazardous Materials, which in any way
result from any act of omission or commission of the Owner or any of its agents, employees,
independent contractors, invitees, licensees, successors, assignees, or tenants.

Section 4, Additional Agreements and Covenants.

4.1  The agreements of the Parties hereafter with respect to the foreclosure
process shall be a covenant running with the Assessed Lands and, so long as Project Costs are
payable from or secured, at least in part, by the revenues derived from the Special Assessments,
such covenant shall be binding upon the Assessed Lands (except as released as provided in the
Owner Consent), the Owner and any future owner of all or any portion of the Assessed Lands.
The Owner Consent, and all other required documents and agreements, shall be recorded with the
Medina County, Ohio Recorder’s Office, so that the agreements of the Parties hereafter with
respect to the foreclosure process established pursuant to this Agreement is a covenant running
with and is enforceable against the Assessed Lands.

42  The DFA and the District hereby agree that any future legal cause of action
to enforce this Agreement against the Treasurer shall be solely limited to specific performance of

7



this Agreement as the sole remedy, and the DFA and the District agree to provide the Treasurer
with 60 days advanced written notice delivered by certified mail prior to bringing an action for
specific performance.

4.3  Ifany provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable by
any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any
other provision hereof.

4.4 This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of each of the Parties, and each of
their successors and assigns, all subject to the provisions of this Agreement. This Agreement may
be amended only by a written instrument of the Parties, and any attempt to amend or modify this
Agreement without a written instrument signed by all of the Parties to this Agreement shall be null
and void. Notices given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be effective when actually received
if delivered by hand or overnight courier, or three days after being sent by registered or certified
mail, postage prepaid, the certification receipt therefore being deemed the date of such notice, and
addressed to the Parties as follows:

If to City: City of Medina, Ohio
132 N. Elmwood Avenue
Medina, Ohio 44256
Attention: City Manager

If to Treasurer: County Treasurer
Medina County, Ohio
144 N. Broadway Street
Medina, Ohio 44256

If to the District: Medina County Energy Improvement District
Attention:

If to the Owner: Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC
Attention:

If to the DFA: Development Finance Authority of Summit County

One Cascade Plaza, Suite 1700
Akron, Ohio 44308
Attention: President



4.5  (a) The DFA shall have the unrestricted right at any time or from time to
time, and without the Treasurer, the City, the District, or the Owner’s consent, to assign all or any
portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement and may sell or assign any and all liens
received directly or indirectly from the City to any person (each, an “DFA Assignee”), and the
Owner agrees that it shall execute, or cause to be executed, such documents, including without
limitation, amendments to this Agreement and to any other documents, instruments and
agreements executed in connection with this Agreement as the DFA shall deem necessary to effect
the foregoing. Any DFA Assignee shall be a party to this Agreement and shall have all of the
rights and obligations of the DFA under this Agreement (and under any and all other guaranties,
documents, instruments and agreements executed in connection with this Agreement) to the extent
that such rights and obligations have been assigned by the DFA pursuant to the assignment
documentation between the DFA and such Assignee, and the DFA shall be released from its
obligations under this Agreement and under any and all other guaranties, documents, instruments
and agreements executed in connection with this Agreement to a corresponding extent.

(b) The DFA shall have the unrestricted right at any time and from time to time,
and without the consent of or notice of the Treasurer, the City, the District, or the Owner, to grant
to one or more persons (each, a “Participant™) participating interests in the DFA’s obligation to
make Project Advances under the Cooperative Agreement or any or all of the loans held by DFA
under the Cooperative Agreement. In the event of any such grant by the DFA of a participating
interest to a Participant, whether or not upon notice to the Treasurer, the City, the District, and the
Owner, the DFA shall remain responsible for the performance of its obligations under the
Cooperative Agreement and the Owner shall continue to deal solely and directly with the DFA in
connection with the DFA’s rights and obligations under the Cooperative Agreement.

(c) The DFA may furnish any information concerning the Owner in its possession
from time to time to prospective DFA Assignees and Participants.

4.6  This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State
of Ohio.

4.7  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which
shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

(Signature Pages Immediately Follow)



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party to this Agreement has caused this Agreement to be
executed in its respective name and capacity by its respective duly authorized officers, all as of the
day and the year first written above.

“TREASURER”
COUNTY TREASURER OF MEDINA
COUNTY, OHIO

Treasurer
County of Medina, Ohio

[Signature Page to Special Assessment Agreement]



Approved as to form and correctness: “CITY”
CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO

City Attorney By:

Name:

Title:

[Signature Page to Special Assessment Agreement]



“DISTRICT”
CITY OF MEDINA ENERGY SPECIAL

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, INC. DBA MEDINA
COUNTY ENERGY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

By:

Name:

Title:

[Signature Page to Special Assessment Agreement]



“OWNER”

LEGACY HOTEL OF MEDINA, LLC

By:

Name:

Title:

[Signature Page to Special Assessment Agreement]



GCDFA”

DEVELOPMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY OF
SUMMIT COUNTY

By:

Chris Burnham, President

[Signature Page to Special Assessment Agreement]



FISCAL OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, Director of Finance of the City of Medina, Ohio, hereby certifies that the
City will establish a special assessment fund or account, into which the Special Assessments (as
that term is defined in the foregoing Agreement) received by the City shall be deposited, free from
any previous encumbrances. The City shall use the moneys deposited in such special assessment
fund to meet its obligations under the foregoing Agreement. This Certificate is given in
compliance with Ohio Revised Code Sections 5705.41 and 5705.44

Dated: , 2024

Director of Finance
City of Medina, Ohio

[Fiscal Officer Certificate to Special Assessment Agreement]



FISCAL OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, Fiscal Officer of the Development Finance Authority of Summit County
hereby certifies that the moneys required to meet the obligations of the Port Authority during the
fiscal year 2024 under the foregoing Special Assessment Agreement have bene lawfully
appropriated by the Board of Directors of the Port Authority for such purposes and are in the
treasury of the Port Authority or in the process of collection to the credit of an appropriate fund,
free from any previous encumbrances. This Certificate is given in compliance with Sections
5705.41 and 5705.44 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Dated: , 2024

Fiscal Officer

Development Finance Authority of Summit
County

[Port Authority Fiscal Officer Certificate to Special Assessment Agreement]



EXHIBIT A

DESCRIPTION OF ASSESSED LANDS

The Assessed Lands subject to this Special Assessment Agreement and owned by Legacy
Hotel of Medina, LLC are the portion of the real property described in the following legal
description that, as of the date hereof, is assigned tax parcel identification number
in the records of the Medina County, Ohio Auditor’s Office and is more
specifically described as follows:

A-1



EXHIBIT B

OWNER CONSENT
(Affidavit of Facts Relating to Title Made Pursuant to O.R.C. §5301.252)

The undersigned, , having been duly cautioned and sworn, deposes and
states as follows:

The undersigned is the of Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC, an Ohio limited
liability company (the “Owner”).

This Owner Consent, dated as of , 2024, is given by the Owner pursuant to the
Special Assessment Agreement dated as of , 2024 (the “Agreement”) by and among

the County Treasurer of Medina County, Ohio (the “Treasurer”), the City of Medina, Ohio (the
“City”), the City of Medina Energy Special Improvement District, Inc. dba Medina County Energy
Improvement District (the “District”), the Development Finance Authority of Summit County
(together with its permitted successors and assigns under the Agreement, the “Investor”) and the
Owner. Terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the
Agreement.

The Agreement provides for an expedited foreclosure process with respect to certain
Special Assessments which have been levied on the Assessed Lands by the City in order to pay
the costs of special energy improvement projects under Ohio Revised Code Chapter 1710. The
Assessed Lands are described in Exhibit 1 to this Owner Consent, and the Special Assessments
are disclosed on Exhibit 2 to this consent.

The Agreement further provides that if an event of default occurs and is continuing with
respect to a required semi-annual payment of Special Assessments or an “Event of Default” (as
that term is defined in the Cooperative Agreement, as appropriate) under the Cooperative
Agreement occurs and is continuing, the Treasurer will pursue an expedited foreclosure of the lien
of the Special Assessments, all as provided in the Agreement. In consideration of the Project
Advance to finance the Project, the Owner hereby consents to the expedited foreclosure process
with respect to the lien of the Special Assessments then due and owing with respect to the Assessed
Lands, as provided in the Agreement.

The Owner is the owner of the Assessed Lands. The Owner covenants and agrees that so
long as the Project Advance remains outstanding, except as the covenant may be released by the
District, the City, and the DFA, as applicable, in writing, the expedited foreclosure process
established pursuant to the Agreement shall be a covenant on and running with, and shall be
binding upon, the Assessed Lands, the Owner and all future owners of the Assessed Lands. Any
release, modification or waiver of the covenant running with the land by the District, the City, or
the DFA, as applicable, shall be filed of record with the Medina County, Ohio Recorder’s Office.
The Owner agrees that this Owner Consent shall be recorded with the Medina County, Ohio
Recorder’s Office and the Owner covenants and agrees to record such documents and to take such
reasonable steps as are necessary, so that the expedited foreclosure process with respect to the lien

B-1



of the Special Assessments is a covenant on and running with the Assessed Lands and is binding
on the Owner and any and all future owners of all or any portion of the Assessed Lands.

The Special Assessments have been levied by the City and certified to the County Auditor
for placement on the tax list and duplicate and collection with and in the same manner as real
property taxes as special assessments binding against the Assessed Lands in each of the years
disclosed in the schedule of Special Assessments attached to this Owner Consent as Exhibit 2.
Unless earlier paid by the Owner or any successor in interest of the Owner to the Assessed Lands,
the Special Assessments shall be levied, billed, due and payable, and collected in each of the years
in each of the amounts disclosed on Exhibit 2.

Anything in this Owner Consent to the contrary notwithstanding, this Owner Consent shall
in no way be construed as a waiver by the Owner of its statutory right of redemption, including
the full applicable redemption period.

(Signature Page Immediately Follows)



Further affiant sayeth naught.
“OWNER”

Legacy Hotel of Medina, LL.C

By:
Name:
Title:
STATE OF OHIO )
) SS:
COUNTY OF )
The foregoing was acknowledged before me this day of , 2024, by
, the of Legacy Hotel of Medina, LLC, an Ohio limited

liability company, on behalf of such company, who acknowledged that such officer did sign the
foregoing instrument in the capacity indicated and that the same is such officer’s free act and deed
individually and in such capacity.

This is an acknowledgement clause. No oath or affirmation was administered to the signer.

Notary Public

This instrument was prepared by:

Justin P. Markey, Esq.

Roetzel & Andress, A Legal Professional Association
222 South Main Street

Akron, Ohio 44308

330-376-2700



EXHIBIT 1

DESCRIPTION OF ASSESSED LANDS

The Assessed Lands subject to this Special Assessment Agreement and owned by Legacy
Hotel of Medina, LLC are the portion of the real property described in the following legal
description that, as of the date hereof, is assigned tax parcel identification number
in the records of the Medina County, Ohio Auditor’s Office and is more
specifically described as follows:




EXHIBIT 2

SCHEDULE OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS

Special Assessment Date”

Total Semi-Annual Special
Assessment Amount””

January 31, 2026

$

July 31, 2026

January 31, 2027

July 31, 2027

January 31, 2028

July 31, 2028

January 31, 2029

July 31, 2029

January 31, 2030

July 31, 2030

January 31, 2031

July 31, 2031

January 31, 2032

July 31, 2032

January 31, 2033

July 31, 2033

January 31, 2034

July 31, 2034

January 31, 2035

July 31, 2035

January 31, 2036

July 31, 2036

January 31, 2037

July 31, 2037

January 31, 2038

July 31,2038

January 31, 2039

July 31, 2039

January 31, 2040

July 31, 2040

January 31, 2041

July 31, 2041

January 31, 2042

July 31,2042

January 31, 2043

B-2-1




! July 31,2043 | |

* Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Chapter 323, the Special Assessment Payment Dates identified in this
Exhibit B are subject to adjustment by the Medina County Auditor under certain conditions.

** Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 727.36, the Medina County Auditor may charge and collect a
fee in addition to the amounts listed in this Exhibit B.

B-2-2



SEC. 1:

SEC. 2:

SEC. 3:

SEC. 4:

RCA 24-114-5/28
ORDINANCE NO. 107-24

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 190-23,
PASSED NOVEMBER 28, 2023. (Amendments to 2024 Budget)

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MEDINA, OHIO:

That Ordinance No. 190-23, passed November 28, 2023, shall be amended by the
following additions:

Account No./Line Item Additions
104-0301-52226 9,200.00 *
107-0110-53315 5,000.00 *
140-0640-51126 150.00 *
140-0645-50111 5,300.00 *
301-0707-53322 20,000.00 *
138-0462-51121 100.00

138-0462-50111 756.74

107-0110-53315 2,085.31 *

That Ordinance No. 190-23, passed November 28, 2023, shall be amended by the
following reductions:

Account No./Line Ifem Reductions
138-0462-52211 100.00
138-0462-52214 756.74

That it is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council concerning and
relating to the passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this
Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that
resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance
with the law.

That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect at the earliest period allowed by
law.

* - new appropriation

PASSED:

ATTEST:

SIGNED:

President of Council

APPROVED:

Clerk of Council

SIGNED:

Mayor

Ord. 107-24



